# Investigating Xanthine Oxidase Toxicity Models in Cultured Cerebellar Granule Neurons

by

## Majed A AL-Gonaiah

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the University of Glasgow

> Neuroscience and Molecular Pharmacology, Division of integrated biology, Institute of Biomedical and life Sciences, University of Glasgow

> > June 2009

## Abstract

In the last few decades, evidence has been accumulating for a role for xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR)-generated toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) in a variety of pathological conditions that affect different organ systems. This enzyme in mammals exists in two inter-convertible forms: xanthine dehydrogenase (XDH) (the predominant intracellular form under physiological conditions) and xanthine oxidase (XO). A combination of XO and its oxidizable substrate xanthine (X) (or hypoxanthine (HX)) is widely used as a model to produce ROS and to study their effects in a variety of cell culture studies. However, the effect of the combination of XOR and the reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) in cell cultures is much less studied. NADH is another oxidizable substrate for XOR that binds to a different site on the enzyme from that of X binding.

The aim of this project was to investigate some aspects of the in vitro toxicity of XOR, which might provide more insights into its in vivo toxicity. The main investigation was a comparison between the well studied X / XO and the much less studied NADH / XO toxicity models. Also, secondary studies were undertaken to investigate those aspects of X / XO toxicity where there are uncertainties about them.

These studies were performed using primary cell cultures. Cell cultures are now widely used to study different diseases, and although they have their drawbacks, they have their advantages over the in vivo studies. For this project, primary cultures of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs) were used. In the beginning, some problems were encountered with CGNs. The main problem was the immediate damage induced to the neurons (including those in the control groups) at the intervention/experiments day (i.e. day 8 or 9 after plating) by manipulating the cultures (i.e. aspirating the culture medium, adding treatment and control vehicles, and adding the restoration medium).

After several months of investigation, it was serendipitously discovered that the immediate damage seen in the neurons (including those in the control groups) when they are manipulated at the experiments/intervention day was due to glutamate excitotoxicity (through activating its N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors). The source of glutamate was the fresh serum which is present at 10% V/V in the fresh

culture medium that is added to the cultures at that day. After solving this problem, it was possible to conduct reliable experiments to investigate XO toxicity models.

Regarding investigating XO toxicity, it was found that both of the X / XO and NADH / XO combinations were toxic to cultures of CGNs. However, the concentration of NADH needed to cause the toxicity was much higher than that of the other substrate, X, which is in agreement with previous cell-free experiments that showed that NADH is a much weaker substrate than X for the bovine milk XO used here. Blocking the site of X binding on XO prevented X / XO toxicity, but did not prevent NADH / XO toxicity. On the other hand, blocking the site of NADH binding prevented both X / XO and NADH /XO toxicities. Another difference between the two systems was that deactivating either superoxide or hydrogen peroxide (both are ROS) generated by XO prevented NADH / XO toxicity, whereas although deactivating hydrogen peroxide prevented X / XO toxicity, deactivating superoxide generated from this combination did not. In the NADH / XO system, an extracellular metal contaminant (likely contaminating XO powder/preparation) seemed to be involved in the toxicity. The two toxicity models were similar in the mediation of toxicity by intracellular iron ion. In X / XO toxicity, although superoxide generated extracellularly from the combination has no role in the toxicity, intracellularly produced superoxide seemed to play a role.

Conclusions:

- Culturing/experimental conditions have been optimised for viability studies in CGNs cultures.
- 2. The combination of NADH and XO induces damage to CGNs, where although blocking the NADH binding site prevents this damage, blocking the X binding site does not. It is feasible that the oxidation of NADH by some forms of XOR (other than the one used here) that are known to be very efficient in oxidizing NADH might produce in vivo toxicity.
- 3. A possibility raised by this study is that a metal (like the metal contaminant proposed to play a role in NADH / XO toxicity in this study) might contribute to XOR toxicity in vivo.
- 4. Intracellular superoxide often mediates XOR toxicity.
- 5. The results add support to many previous studies which suggested that intracellular hydroxyl radical (or a similar species) is involved in XOR toxicity.

# Contents

Abstract	2
Contents	4
List of figures	8
Acknowledgment	11
Author's declaration	12
Abbreviations	13
Publication	16
1 Introduction	17
1.1 Reactive oxygen species and disease	17
1.2 Interplay between oxidative stress and other damaging events	20
1.2.1 Mitochondrial dysfunction	21
1.2.2 Glutamate	21
1.2.3 Disruption of Ca <sup>2+</sup> homeostasis	22
1.2.4 Inflammation	22
1.2.5 Metals	23
1.3 Fate of cells damaged by ROS	24
1.4 Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR)-generated ROS	26
1.4.1 XOR structure and properties	26
1.4.2 Role of XOR-generated ROS in disease	
1.5 Cell culture technique	39
1.6 Aim/Objectives	44

2	Μ	laterials and methods	47
	2.1	Chemicals (ordered alphabetically)	47
	2.2	Equipments	48
	2.3	Treatment solutions and media	48
	2.4	Test compounds stock solutions	49
	2.5	Using 96-well plates	52
	2.6	Primary cultures of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs)	53
	2.7	Experimental design of viability studies	54
	2.8	Viability assay	55
	2.9	Cell-free assays	59
		2.9.1 Cell-free detection of superoxide production	59
		2.9.2 Cell-free detection of hydrogen peroxide production	60
	2.10	0 Statistical analysis	62
3	R	esults	64
	3.1	Culturing and experimental conditions	64
		3.1.1 Morphology of the cultures	64
		3.1.2 Effect of the position in the plate on the viability of cultures	66
		3.1.3 Toxicity of fresh culture medium	71
		3.1.3.1 Was fresh culture medium responsible for the death?	72
		3.1.3.2 Previous projects	72
		3.1.3.3 Effect of pH	73
		3.1.3.4 Effect of Ethanol and Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)	74
		3.1.3.5 NMDA receptors	76
		3.1.3.6 Kynurenic acid	79
		3.1.3.7 Glutamic-pyruvic transaminase	80

3.1.3.8 Protection by pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium
3.1.3.9 Further investigation
3.1.3.10 Externally added glutamate84
3.2 Oxidative stress experiments performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity
3.2.1 Examining the susceptibility of CGNs to oxidative stress Insults
3.2.1.1 Dose response curve of hydrogen peroxide toxicity
3.2.1.2 Toxicity of the combination of xanthine and xanthine oxidase (X / XO)
3.2.1.3 Toxicity of S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP)88
3.2.2 Effect of different antioxidants on the toxicity of oxidative stress insults
3.2.2.1 Antioxidants against hydrogen peroxide toxicity90
3.2.2.2 Antioxidants against X / XO toxicity
<ul><li>3.3 Oxidative stress experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity</li></ul>
3.3.1 Experimental check on the Alamar blue assay
3.3.2 Comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities100
3.3.2.1 Establishing the toxicities of the X / XO and NADH / XO combinations
3.3.2.2 Effects of using XO inhibitors on X / XO and NADH / XO Toxicities
3.3.2.3 Effects of SOD against X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities112
3.3.2.4 Effects of catalase against X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities122
3.3.2.5 Role of metals in X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities
3.3.2.6 Role of extracellular hydroxyl radical in NADH / XO and X / XO toxicities
3.3.3 Further investigation of X / XO toxicity144

4 Discussion152		
4.1 Culturing and experimental conditions152		
4.1.1 Neuronal morphology152		
4.1.2 Morphological examination in viability experiments		
4.1.3 Alamar blue assay154		
4.1.4 Effect of position in the plate on the viability of cultures15		
4.1.5 Fresh culture medium toxicity157		
4.2 Oxidative stress experiments performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity		
4.3 Oxidative stress experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity16		
4.3.1 Comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicity models16		
4.3.1.1 Effects of inhibiting the different sites on XO16		
4.3.1.2 Identification of ROS and metals responsible for the toxicity16		
4.3.1.3 Feasibility of in vivo toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR18		
4.3.2 Further investigation of the X / XO toxicity model		
4.3.2.1 Role of intracellular superoxide in X / XO toxicity		
4.3.2.2 Role of intracellular hydroxyl radical in X / XO toxicity189		
4.4 Future work		
5 Conclusions		
References		

List of figures	Page
Figure 1-1: Expected action of in vivo XOR.	30
Figure 2-1: A photo and a diagram of a 96-well plate.	52
Figure 2-2: Diagram shows the Alamar blue OD readings at 540 and 595 nm for one set of an actual viability experiment	58
Figure 2-3: A diagram shows the principle of detecting hydrogen peroxide	62
Figure 3-1: Morphology of the cultures immediately after plating.	64
Figure 3-2: Morphology of the cultures 24 hr after plating.	65
Figure 3-3: Morphology of the cultures after 8 days of plating.	66
Figure 3-4: Diagram of a 96-well plate showing edge, next-edge, and inside wells.	67
Figure 3-5: The effect of the position in the plate on the viability of neurons.	68
Figure 3-6: The effect of the position in the plate on the viability of neurons with the groups aligned vertically in the 96-well plate.	70
Figure 3-7: alignment of treatment groups in the viability studies that were performed after finding that next-edge group gives higher viability values than inside groups.	71
Figure 3-8: Effect of ethanol on fresh culture medium toxicity.	75
Figure 3-9: Effect of DMSO on fresh culture medium toxicity.	76
Figure 3-10: Effect of MK-801 on fresh culture medium toxicity.	77
Figure 3-11: Photos of CGNs showing protection by MK-801 against fresh culture medium toxicity.	78
Figure 3-12: Effect of kynurenic acid on fresh culture medium toxicity.	79
Figure 3-13: Effect of glutamic-pyruvic transaminase on fresh culture medium toxicity.	81
Figure 3-14: Effect of pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium on the toxicity of full amount of fresh culture medium itself.	82
Figure 3-15: Further investigation of fresh culture medium toxicity.	84
Figure 3-16: Toxicity of externally added glutamate.	85
Figure 3-17: Dose response curve of hydrogen peroxide toxicity.	87
Figure 3-18: Toxicity of X / XO combinations.	88
Figure 3-19: Dose response curve of SNAP toxicity.	89
Figure 3-20: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox.) alone on cell viability.	90
Figure 3-21: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox.) on the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide.	91
Figure 3-22: Effect of mannitol on the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide.	92

Figure 3-23: Effect of different antioxidants on X / XO toxicity.	93
Figure 3-24: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox., 1mM) on the toxicity of X (100 $\mu$ M) / XO.	94
Figure 3-25: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox., 1 mM) on the toxicity of X (30 $\mu$ M) / XO.	95
Figure 3-26: Effect of prolonged application of deferoxamine (deferox.) alone on cell viability.	96
Figure 3-27: Effect of prolonged pre-treatment (in addition to the 1 hr co-treatment) of deferoxamine (deferox., 300 $\mu$ M) on the toxicity of X (100 $\mu$ M) /	97
XO.   Figure 3-28: Effect of prolonged pre-treatment (in addition to the 1 hr co-   treatment) of defense provide (200 mM) on the territize of X (20 mM) (XO)	98
Figure 3-29: Comparison between viabilities calculated with 4 hr and 6 hr Alamar blue incubation times	100
Figure 3-30: Effect of NADH alone on cell viability when applied in MEM- HEPES-sol.	102
Figure 3-31: Dose response of NADH / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	103
Figure 3-32: Effect of allopurinol on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol.	105
Figure 3-33: Effect of allopurinol on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in HEPES-sol.	106
Figure 3-34: Effect of DPI on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol.	107
Figure 3-35: Effect of DPI on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	108
Figure 3-36: Effect of allopurinol on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	109
Figure 3-37: Effect of allopurinol on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	110
Figure 3-38: Effect of DPI on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	111
Figure 3-39: Effect of DPI on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	112
Figure 3-40: Effect of SOD-1 on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	113
Figure 3-41: Effect of Tiron on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	114
Figure 3-42: Effect of SOD-1 on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	115
Figure 3-43: Effect of SOD-1 on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	116
Figure 3-44: Effect of SOD-1 on NADH / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	117
Figure 3-45: Effect of Tiron on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	118
Figure 3-46: Cell-free detection (using Cytochrome c reduction method) of superoxide generation by the X / XO combination in the HEPES-sol.	119
Figure 3-47: Cell-free experiment showing the effect of NADH alone (without XO) on Cytochrome c (Cyt c) signal in the HEPES-sol.	120
Figure 3-48: Cell-free experiment showing the reduction of XTT by NADH alone (without XO) in HEPES-sol.	121
Figure 3-49: Effect of NADH and XTT applied alone or in combination in HEPES-sol on the cell viability.	122
Figure 3-50: Cell-free XTT reduction assay showing the time course of superoxide production by the X / XO combination in HEPES-sol.	124

Figure 3-51: Cell-free Cytochrome c reduction assay showing the time course of superoxide production by the X / XO combination in HEPES-sol.	125
Figure 3-52: Effect of catalase on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	126
Figure 3-53: Effect of catalase on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.	127
Figure 3-54: Effect of catalase on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.	128
Figure 3-55: Cell-free catalase-based assay of hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation from the NADH / XO combination.	130
Figure 3-56: Cell-free catalase-based assay of hydrogen peroxide	131
Figure 3-57: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment on $X / XO$ toxicity in	132
MEM-HEPES-sol.	152
Figure 3-58: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment (in MEM-HEPES-sol) on	134
the toxicity of X / XO combination applied in HEPES-sol.	
Figure 3-59: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment (in MEM-HEPES-sol) on	135
the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination applied in HEPES-sol.	
Figure 3-60: Effect of deferoxamine co-treatment on NADH / XO toxicity.	137
Figure 3-61: Effect of EDTA (2 $\mu$ M) co-treatment on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination.	138
Figure 3-62: Effect of EDTA (20 $\mu$ M) co-treatment on NADH / XO toxicity.	139
Figure 3-63: Effect of EDTA (20 $\mu$ M) co-treatment when it was not pre- incubated with XO on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination	140
Figure 3-64: Effect of deferoxamine co-treatment on X / XO toxicity.	141
$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} + \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} + \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}} = $	140
Figure 3-65: Effect of EDTA co-treatment on X / XO toxicity.	142
Figure 3-66: Effect of co-treatment with hydroxyl radical scavengers on NADH / XO toxicity.	143
Figure 3-67: Effect of co-treatment with hydroxyl radical scavengers on X / XO toxicity.	144
Figure 3-68: Effect of Tiron pre-treatment on the toxicity of X $(15 \ \mu\text{M}) / \text{XO}$ (0.02 Units/ml) combination.	146
Figure 3-69: Effect of Tiron pre-treatment on the toxicity of X $(10 \ \mu\text{M}) / \text{XO}$ (0.02 Units/ml) combination	147
Figure 3-70: Effect of diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC) pre-treatment on X / XO toxicity	148
Figure 3-71: Effect of POBN pre-treatment on the toxicity of X / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol.	150
Figure 3-72: Effect of POBN co-treatment on the toxicity of X / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol.	151
Figure 4-1: Diagram showing the sequence of the more likely events leading eventually to cell damage in the NADH / XO system, in the light of the available results.	181
Figure 4-2: Diagram showing the sequence of the more likely events leading eventually to cell death in the X / XO system, in the light of the available results.	188

## Acknowledgment

I thank Allah for making this project easy and completed. I would like to thank my supervisors: Prof. Trevor Stone and Prof. Robert Smith for their assistance and guidance. Also I would like to thank all my colleagues in the laboratory for their cooperation and helpful discussions. Finally, I would like to thank the government of Saudi Arabia for funding this PhD project.

# Author's declaration

I, Majed A AL-Gonaiah, declare that this thesis was composed by myself, and also that the experiments described therein were performed by myself, except where referenced.

Majed A AL-Gonaiah June 2009

Abbreviations	
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMPA	alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Calcium
Cat.	Catalase
CGNs	Cerebellar granule neurons
cm <sup>3</sup>	Cubic centimetre
CNS	Central nervous system
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
Cu,Zn-SOD	Copper,Zinc-Superoxide dismutase
Cyt c	Cytochrome c
DCF	2',7'-dichlorofluorescein
DCFDA	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DCFH	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein
DDC	Diethyldithiocarbamate
deferox.	Deferoxamine
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DPBS	Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline
DPI	Diphenyleneiodonium
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetate
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
Fe <sup>2+</sup>	Ferrous (reduced iron)
Fe <sup>3+</sup>	Ferric (oxidized iron)
Fig.	Figure
HCO <sub>3</sub> -	Bicarbonate
HEPES	N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
3-НК	3-Hydroxykynurenine
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	Hydrogen peroxide
hr	Hour

HX	Hypoxanthine
K <sup>+</sup>	Potassium
KGDHC	α-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
L-NAME	NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
MEM	Minimum Essential Medium
mg	Milligram
μg	Microgram
ml	Millilitre
μΙ	Microlitre
mm <sup>3</sup>	Cubic millimetre
μm	Micometre
mM	Millimolar
μΜ	Micromolar
mmHg	Millimetre of mercury
Mn-SOD	Manganese-Superoxide dismutase
MnTBAP	Manganese (III) Tetrakis (4-Benzoic Acid) Porphyrin chloride
Мо	Molybdenum
MPT	Mitochondrial permeability transition
MTT	3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
Na <sup>+</sup>	Sodium
NAD <sup>+</sup>	Oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
nm	Nanometre
nM	Nanomolar
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
0 <sub>2</sub>	Superoxide
OD	Optical density
OH.	Hyroxyl radical

PCD	Programmed cell death
POBN	α-(4-Pyridyl N-oxide)-N-tert-butylnitrone
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPM	Rounds per minute
S.E.M	Standard error of mean
SHR	Spontaneously hypertensive rats
SNAP	S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SOD-1	Superoxide dismutase-1 (Copper,Zinc-Superoxide dismutase)
Tiron	4,5-Dihydroxy-1,3-benzenedisulfonic acid
TRP	Transient receptor potential
V/V	Volume/Volume
Х	Xanthine
XDH	Xanthine dehydrogenase
XO	Xanthine oxidase
XOR	Xanthine oxidoreductase
XTT	2,3-Bis(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium- 5-carboxanilide inner salt

## **Publication**

# Paper

Al-Gonaiah M, Smith RA, and Stone TW. (2009). Xanthine oxidase-induced neuronal death via the oxidation of NADH: Prevention by micromolar EDTA. Brain Res., doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.05.024

## **1** Introduction

## 1.1 Reactive oxygen species and disease

Oxygen consumption by the body is safely handled to produce useful products, mainly energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Un-needed extra-products e.g. excess carbon dioxide can be detoxified. Also, the consumption of oxygen produces potentially toxic metabolites called reactive oxygen species (ROS). These ROS are kept under low levels (by naturally occurring antioxidants) in normal situations and some of these ROS do even exert physiological roles. Examples of ROS include hydrogen peroxide, superoxide, hydroxyl radical, nitric oxide, and peroxynitrite. When there is an overproduction of ROS and/or deficiency in antioxidant mechanisms, a damaging event called oxidative stress ensues [*Turrens, 2003, Halliwell, 2006, Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004, Fatokun et al., 2008a*].

ROS can be generated in vivo by many sources. Superoxide is generated in the mitochondria, at more than one site in the respiratory chain, and as a product of some other mitochondrial enzymes e.g. the enzyme complex alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase [Turrens, 2003, Starkov et al., 2004]. Other cellular sources of superoxide include cytochrome P450-dependent oxygenases [Turrens, 2003]. Another important source of superoxide is the enzyme NADPH-oxidase [Turrens, 2003], which is expressed largely in some immune system cells (e.g. macrophages), where although ROS released by these immune cells are meant to kill invading microorganisms, they may also insult nearby host tissues. Also, another important in vivo source of superoxide is the enzyme xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR) [Harrison, 2002]. Hydrogen peroxide can be produced by the dismutation of superoxide, where this dismutation can be either spontaneous or through the action of the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD) [Turrens, 2003, Starkov et al., 2004, Fridovich, 2004]. Hydrogen peroxide can also be produced directly by some enzymes e.g. XOR [Harrison, 2002, Fridovich, 1970]. Hydrogen peroxide can be converted, through interaction with a reduced metal ion e.g. iron or copper, to the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical [Fridovich, 1998, Turrens, 2003]. Nitric oxide is produced by nitric oxide synthases (NOSs), where the powerful oxidant

molecule peroxynitrite is produced by reaction of nitric oxide with superoxide [*Guzik et al., 2003, Turrens, 2003*].

Many ROS are free radicals i.e. have an unpaired electron, so they seek to attract an electron from (or donate their unpaired electron to) a non-radical biological molecule (e.g. a fatty acid, a protein, or a DNA molecule) to be chemically stable, rendering the attacked molecule with an unpaired electron (i.e. a new free radical) which can in turn attack another non-radical biological molecule and so on, which can lead to the destruction of cellular components [*Halliwell*, 2006]. Not all ROS are free radicals, and some important ROS that are not free radicals include hydrogen peroxide and peroxynitrite, which can exert their toxic effects either directly or through their conversion to free radicals.

There are numerous antioxidant mechanisms which deactivate ROS in vivo. These include antioxidant molecules (small and large) e.g. glutathione, thioredoxin, alphatocopherol (vitamin E), ascorbic acid (vitamin C), and coenzyme Q. Antioxidants also include enzymes e.g. SOD (which deactivates superoxide by converting two molecules of it into one molecule of hydrogen peroxide plus oxygen), catalase (which deactivates hydrogen peroxide by converting it into oxygen and water), and glutathione peroxidase (which also deactivates hydrogen peroxide) [*Halliwell, 2006, Fridovich, 1998, Turrens, 2003*]. Antioxidants may also include proteins e.g. albumin which can work as antioxidants in the circulation [*Roche et al., 2008*] and neuroglubin which may work as antioxidant in the brain [*Garry and Mammen, 2003, Wang et al., 2008*].

Body tissues differ in their vulnerability to oxidative stress. For example, brain is particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress. It contains an elevated amount of iron (see later the role of metals in oxidative stress), and consumes a high amount of oxygen. Also, the brain contains a high amount of unsaturated fatty acids which can be easily attacked by free radicals. The major excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, glutamate, when present in excessive amounts at the synaptic cleft, can elicit damage through stimulating postsynaptic intracellular generation of ROS [*Halliwell, 2006, Patel et al., 1996*]. Moreover, mature neurons do not divide, and hence neuronal tissues may not be able to undergo repair/regeneration when damaged by ROS.

Countless number of pre-clinical studies, both in vivo and in vitro, has shown that antioxidant interventions do attenuate the damage observed in models of some of those human diseases where signs of oxidative stress are observed in the patients affected [*Behl et al., 1994, Carney and Floyd, 1991, Cherny et al., 2001, Przedborski et al., 1992, Pong et al., 2000, Eliasson et al., 1999, Ayata et al., 1997, van der Worp et al., 1999, Hantraye et al., 1996, Moussaoui et al., 2000*] (see also the section on XOR). On the other hand, clinical trials of antioxidants in the treatment of the relevant diseases were much less successful than the pre-clinical studies [*Willcox et al., 2008, Canter et al., 2007, Halliwell, 2006*].

So, why have many clinical studies failed? We can only speculate, and only some explanations will be discussed here. There are many differences between humans and animals in the patho-physiology of the relevant diseases. However, it is unlikely that oxidative stress plays a central role in some diseases like brain or heart ischemic diseases in animals while it has no role at all in those diseases in humans, for many reasons. One reason is that not all clinical trials have failed, where many clinical trials, small and large, with antioxidants in the treatment of the relevant diseases showed positive results [Behr et al., 1997, Demedts et al., 2005, Tomioka et al., 2005, Stephens et al., 1996, Angstwurm et al., 2007, Boaz et al., 2000, Fang et al., 2002, Thies et al., 1998, Weigand et al., 2001, Cerwenka et al., 1999, Murray et al., 2008, Milman et al., 2008, Hager et al., 2007, Sanders et al., 2007, Di Prospero et al., 2007, Plantinga et al., 2007, Yamaguchi et al., 1998] (see also the section on XOR). Also, oxidative stress is not alone in the failure in clinical trials. For examples, although some other damaging events (e.g. glutamate receptor activation and disruption of calcium homeostasis) were very evidently shown to play a major role in acute ischemic brain diseases in animal models, many clinical trials directed against these damaging events have failed [Ginsberg, 2008].

Also, in animals, a closer look at (or manipulation of) oxidative stress (almost direct intervention) can be achieved e.g. in animals it is possible to knock out or over-express an antioxidant or a pro-oxidant gene, but this is not possible in humans. Also, many clinical trials have tried direct free radical scavengers, where although this is perhaps the most feasible way in the clinical situation, it is not the best way to treat oxidative stress. The reason is that a free radical is generally non selective in its reactions, and to scavenge it, a scavenger needs to be applied in a very high concentration in order to outcompete the many biological vulnerable targets (i.e. scavengers) of the free radical. For example, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), a classical hydroxyl radical scavenger, when

applied in a cell-free system at 1 mM in the presence of only one competing hydroxyl radical scavenger (mannitol, 10 mM), can scavenge only 50% of the hydroxyl radicals that it can scavenge in the absence of mannitol [*Babbs and Griffin, 1989*] (though the case with other ROS may not be as bad as the case with hydroxyl radical). A better way is to prevent the generation of ROS.

Moreover, we like to mention the possibility that some researchers tend not to publish their results if they were negative in the pre-clinical studies. Unfortunately, this in our opinion is possibly due to a less appreciated environment in the academic journals of negative results compared to positive results. We were enlightened to know that some others in the scientific community share our opinion [*Knight, 2003, Rockwell et al., 2006*]. On the other hand, in clinical trials, although there is evidence for bias against negative results [*Rockwell et al., 2006*], we believe that (we might be wrong) it is not as bad as with pre-clinical studies. A possible reason for the appreciation of negative results in clinical studies is that large trials are announced/registered from the outset of the study, and hence the results have to be announced as well. This might give too great an impression that clinical trials have failed more than pre-clinical studies. A lot is unknown about bias against negative results, which demands a systematic investigation, which has already been started in clinical studies literature, but rarely done in pre-clinical studies literature.

Finally, some authors have discussed the possibility that many previous clinical trials with antioxidants were not well designed e.g. lower than optimal dose with no dose response curve, short duration of the study (or inappropriate timing of intervention), no carful selection of the antioxidant intervention, or no careful selection of the study population [*Willcox et al., 2008, Ginsberg, 2008*]. Anyway, the future will indeed bring the true explanation(s) to the light.

# **1.2 Interplay between oxidative stress and other damaging events**

The damage observed in pathologic conditions where signs of oxidative stress are observed usually involves damage cascades, where many damaging events including oxidative stress can trigger each other. These include: energy depletion, mitochondrial dysfunction, disruption of calcium homeostasis, metal accumulation, inflammation, oxidative stress, and (in the brain) glutamate receptor-mediated excitation (see later). In this section, some examples of the toxic interplay between oxidative stress and the other damaging events will be discussed. More examples will also be encountered in the section on XOR.

### **1.2.1 Mitochondrial dysfunction**

Mitochondrial dysfunction is thought to be an early event in the damage observed in acute ischemic models of many diseases e.g. myocardial infarction and stroke, and also of many chronic neurodegenerative diseases [*Chinopoulos and Adam-Vizi, 2006, Starkov et al., 2004, Halliwell, 2006, Turrens, 2003, Keating, 2008, Moro et al., 2005, Lesnefsky et al., 2001*]. In acute ischemic disease models, the ischemic phase is thought to induce defects in the mitochondria which can lead to, upon reperfusion (i.e. re-delivery of oxygen to mitochondria), ROS generation at more than one site in the respiratory chain, and also at other sites in the mitochondria e.g. the enzyme complex:  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex (KGDHC) [*Chinopoulos and Adam-Vizi, 2006, Starkov et al., 2004, Lesnefsky et al., 2001*]. The KGDHC complex is also a vulnerable target for ROS, whose deactivation will deactivate the Krebs cycle. Interestingly, deactivated KGDHC is a common feature of many neurodegenerative diseases [*Halliwell, 2006*].

### 1.2.2 Glutamate

In the brain, the major excitatory neurotransmitter, glutamate, when present in excess amount at the synaptic cleft (as in stroke), can elicit damage through stimulating its postsynaptic receptors leading to intracellular generation of toxic ROS [*Reynolds and Hastings, 1995, Dawson et al., 1993, Araújo et al., 2004, Carriedo et al., 1998, Dawson et al., 1996, Patel et al., 1996, Lafon-Cazal et al., 1993*]. ROS can exacerbate the damage by blocking glutamate uptake into the cells (i.e. blocking its clearance from the synaptic cleft) [*Trotti et al., 1996*]. Also it was shown in neuronal cultures that glutamate, when present extracellularly ( $\geq 300 \ \mu$ M), can induce intracellular oxidative stress through a glutamate receptor-independent mechanism, which is the inhibition of the uptake of cystine, a precursor involved in the synthesis of the universal antioxidant glutathione [*Murphy et al., 1989, Murphy et al., 1990*].

### **1.2.3 Disruption of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis**

Disruption of  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis is a central player in the damage cascade observed in many pathological conditions that affect different organ systems. This disruption in  $Ca^{2+}$ homeostasis can be induced by disruption of the ATP-dependent plasma membrane Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase pump or by other mechanisms [Inserte et al., 2005]. In the brain, this can also be induced by glutamate-receptor activation. Increased intracellular levels of Ca<sup>2+</sup> can activate some ROS generating enzymes e.g. NOS. Also, ROS can activate a lethal atypical type of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and cation currents across the cell membrane called non-selective cation currents. These currents are likely mediated by a member(s) of atypical cation channels permeable to  $Ca^{2+}$  on the cell membrane called transient receptor potential (TRP) cation channels [Chinopoulos and Adam-Vizi, 2006, Aarts et al., 2003]. In a neuronal culture study that used prolonged oxygen-glucose deprivation as a toxicity model, it was shown that Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and the subsequent cell damage was not blocked by treatment with typical calcium channels blockers e.g. glutamate ionotropic receptor blockers or an L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blocker, but was blocked by treatment with either some ROS suppressors or by blocking the above mentioned atypical cation channels [Aarts et al., 2003]. Another example of the harmful augmentation between  $Ca^{2+}$  and ROS is that  $Ca^{2+}$  is shown to accumulate inside the mitochondria under an ischemic insult [*Babcock*] et al., 1997, Herrington et al., 1996, Zaidan and Sims, 1994], and participates with ROS in the opening of the so-called mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) pore, initiating many damaging events [Chinopoulos and Adam-Vizi, 2006].

### **1.2.4 Inflammation**

Toxic interplay is observed between ROS and some components of inflammation in many pathological conditions in different organ systems, including the brain. For example, A-beta (a peptide whose aggregation is observed in patients with Alzheimer's disease) stimulated the microglia (which are considered resident macrophages in the brain) in vitro to produce nitric oxide [*Ii et al., 1996*]. In the same study, the pro-inflammatory molecule, interferon-gamma, augmented A-beta in activating the microglia to produce nitric oxide, where A-beta alone or in combination with interferon-gamma, in the presence of microglia, caused toxicity to co-cultured neurons that was inhibited by a NOS inhibitor. Interestingly also in the same study, the production of nitric oxide by microglia activated by A-beta (and interferon-gamma) was inhibited by

aspirin and indomethacin (members of the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)). A-beta used at a lower concentration than that used in the above study, caused toxicity in a mixed culture of neurons and microglia that was mediated by superoxide produced by NADPH-oxidase located in the microglia [*Qin et al., 2002*]. In a cell culture model of Parkinson's disease, it was also observed that the presence of microglia in a neuronal culture, again through producing superoxide by the NADPH-oxidase located in the microglia, very significantly enhanced the observed damage to the dopaminergic neurons [*Gao et al., 2002*].

### 1.2.5 Metals

It is known that, at least in some pathological conditions, traces of reactive metals are present in vivo either free or bound (chelated) to molecules/proteins, where this binding may not prevent the reactivity of these metals (actually it may enhance their reactivity/toxicity in some situations) [Graf et al., 1984, Hallaway et al., 1989, Engelmann et al., 2003, Gutteridge, 1987, Savre et al., 1999, Ong and Halliwell, 2004, Thompson et al., 2001, Darley-Usmar and Halliwell, 1996, Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1992, Liochev, 1996, Halliwell, 2006]. In many cases, these metals exert their toxicity through some sort of a reaction with ROS. As mentioned earlier, some metals (usually iron or copper) can react with hydrogen peroxide to produce the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical. In a previous study, it was shown that hydrogen peroxide added to cultures of hepatocytes exerted an intracellular toxicity that was mediated by both intracellular iron and intracellularly generated superoxide [Starke and Farber, 1985]. Superoxide or peroxynitrite can deactivate some enzymes through interacting with their iron clusters. In this process, in addition to the deactivation of these enzymes, iron is released from the clusters in a reactive form capable of causing oxidative stress. Superoxide can also release iron in a reactive form from the storage protein ferritin. Also, peroxynitrite can release copper in a reactive form from the plasma protein caeruloplasmin. Hydrogen peroxide can degrade haem proteins, which results in the release of iron from them in a reactive form [Liochev, 1996, Darley-Usmar and Halliwell, 1996]. To mention an example of the diseases affected by ROS and metals interplay, it was discussed that a toxic interaction between some metals and some ROS might play a role in atherosclerosis [Darley-Usmar and Halliwell, 1996, Ong and Halliwell, 2004].

### 1.3 Fate of cells damaged by ROS

The fate of cells insulted by lethal amounts of ROS (or in disease models where ROS are secondarily produced) is said to be an eventual death induced through either apoptosis or necrosis. Apoptosis is a term used to describe the programmed, cascaded, controlled, active, and 'gentle' events that lead to cell death. In contrast, the acute, accidental, passive, and uncontrolled cell death with cell membrane rupture is termed necrosis [McHugh and Turina, 2006, Chandra et al., 2000, Samali et al., 1999]. The distinction between apoptosis and necrosis is vague, which is manifested in the attempts by some researchers to classify the mode of cell death into necrosis and programmed cell death (PCD), and then classifying PCD further into classical apoptosis, apoptosislike PCD, and necrosis-like PCD [Krantic et al., 2005]. Although this classification might turn out to be correct, it is also possible that there might be a spectrum of cell death signals rather than just apoptosis and necrosis (and even rather than just PCD and necrosis). So these obscurities should be considered during reading the following discussion of apoptosis and necrosis. Apoptosis is usually achieved by the activation of several protease families, with caspases being the most prominent among them [Chandra et al., 2000].

It seems that mitochondria play an important role in triggering apoptosis and even necrosis [*Bras et al., 2005*]. Toxic ROS can release Cytochrome c from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm, where it can activate caspases there. ROS can also release a protein called apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm where it can induce apoptosis through caspase-independent mechanisms (see below). Treatment of lymphocyte cultures with hydrogen peroxide resulted in the appearance of Cytochrome c in the cytoplasm within 2 hours. One hour later, caspase activation was observed [*Stridh et al., 1998*]. Matsura and co-workers (1999) found that, by using human promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells, caspase-3 (but not caspase-1) was responsible for the hydrogen peroxide-mediated apoptosis observed in their study.

In acute neuronal toxicity (e.g. in stroke), the severely insulted neurons may die through necrosis, while the other neurons that are less severely insulted may die through apoptosis [*Xu et al., 2006, Hou et al., 2008*]. Although apoptosis in the case of glutamate receptor-mediated acute excitotoxicity in neurons can be induced by caspase activation, it seems that AIF is also a major trigger of apoptosis, where in this type of toxicity some

ROS are thought to be involved in the release of AIF from the mitochondria [*Cheung et al., 2005, Dawson and Dawson, 2004*]. Regarding chronic neurodegeneration, in an in vivo model of Parkinson's disease, it was proposed that cell death proceeds through apoptosis mediated by ROS-dependent AIF release from the mitochondria [*Wang et al., 2003*]. Regarding amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), an in vivo animal study showed that the cell death proceeds through an apoptotic pathway, where nitric oxide, superoxide, and possibly peroxynitrite play a crucial role, since NOS deficient mice or over-expression of SOD resulted in the protection against the observed apoptosis [*Martin et al., 2005*].

The interaction between oxidative stress and apoptosis is complex. Logically, since ROS exert their toxicity through attacking biological molecules, there is no reason for the 'active' enzymes that induce apoptosis not to be 'inactivated' by direct attack of ROS. In cultured hepatic HepG2 cells, it was observed that treatment with menadione, a toxic compound known to exert its toxicity through producing ROS (especially superoxide and hydrogen peroxide), treated at 250 µM for 6 hr killed the cells by necrosis, and did not activate caspases. In that study, adding menadione to cells undergoing apoptosis inhibited the apoptosis (and induced necrosis), where this antiapoptotic effect of menadione was blocked by catalase (which deactivates hydrogen peroxide)! [Samali et al., 1999]. In another study that used lymphocytes it was shown that hydrogen peroxide at high concentrations was able to suppress the activation/activity of caspases possibly through oxidizing the cysteine residues on these enzymes, while at low concentrations hydrogen peroxide was able to activate caspases, suggesting that the level of ROS can determine the mode of cell death [Hampton and Orrenius, 1997]. In contrast to the above menadione study that used HepG2 cells, Sun and co-workers (1997) have shown that menadione, treated at 200  $\mu$ M for 3 hr, induced apoptosis in cultured osteoblasts, suggesting that cell type might also be a determining factor. Also, using cell cultures, nitric oxide was shown to shift cell death from apoptosis to necrosis through an effect that might have involved S-nitrosylation (and hence inhibition) of the cysteine-containing apoptotic enzymes [Melino et al., 1997]. Nitric oxide was also shown to inhibit the apoptosis of Jurkat lymphoma cells by a mechanism different from Snitrosylation of caspases, possibly involving an inhibition of mitochondrial synthesis of ATP, and hence inhibition of the energy-dependent release of apoptotic proteins from the mitochondria. Restoration of ATP levels by supplementation with glucose recovered the apoptotic ability of those cells. In that study, inhibiting the mitochondrial synthesis of ATP by rotenone, an inhibitor of complex I of the respiratory chain, mimicked the effect of nitric oxide in inhibiting apoptosis and mediating necrosis [*Leist et al., 1999*].

From the above discussion, it seems that the exact conditions under which oxidative stress causes either apoptosis or necrosis need further investigation, though the concentration of ROS and the cell type seem to be determining factors. Also, it should be considered, as mentioned, that the distinction between apoptosis and necrosis is vague, and that there is possibly a spectrum of death signals rather than just apoptosis and necrosis.

### 1.4 Xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR)-generated ROS

In the last few decades, evidence has been accumulating for a role for xanthine oxidoreductase (XOR)-generated ROS in a variety of pathological conditions that affect different organ systems. Many examples will be mentioned later, but for a thorough reference, see [Zweier et al., 1994, Brown et al., 1988, Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004, Okuda et al., 1996, Wiezorek, 1994, Phan et al., 1989, Osarogiagbon et al., 2000, Thom, 1992, Terada et al., 1992a, Weinbroum et al., 1995, Nakazono et al., 1991, Jankov et al., 2008, Widmer et al., 2007, Ohta et al., 2007, Inkster et al., 2007, Castro-Gago et al., 2006, Flaishon et al., 2006, White et al., 1996, Schröder et al., 2006, Baldus et al., 2006, Nakai et al., 2006, Minhas et al., 2002, Rieger et al., 2002, Desco et al., 2002, Saavedra et al., 2002, Kumagai et al., 2002, Matsumura et al., 1998, Beetsch et al., 1998, Suzuki et al., 1998, Lamarque and Whittle, 1995, Xia and Zweier, 1995, Terada et al., 1992b, Han et al., 2007, Pacher et al., 2006, Abramov et al., 2007].

### 1.4.1 XOR structure and properties

The enzyme in mammals exists in two inter-convertible forms: xanthine dehydrogenase (XDH) (which is the predominant intracellular form under physiological conditions) and xanthine oxidase (XO). The enzyme is a homodimer (i.e. composed of two identical subunits), where each subunit works generally independently from the other, and thus it is strange that little investigation has been undertaken to reveal the reason(s) of the presence of two instead of one subunit. Each subunit contains three distinct parts/domains: a molybdenum (Mo) containing domain (contains one Mo atom), an iron-sulphur containing domain (contains four atoms of iron and four atoms of sulphur),

and a flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) containing domain (contains one FAD molecule) [*Harrison, 2002, Hille and Nishino, 1995, Berry and Hare, 2004*].

The conceived function of XOR is the conversion of hypoxanthine (HX) to xanthine (X), and X to uric acid, the final product of purine metabolism in humans [*Harrison*, 2002]. The enzyme couples the oxidation of X (or HX) to the reduction of either primarily NAD<sup>+</sup> or secondarily oxygen in the case of XDH, or the reduction of only oxygen in the case of XO (NAD<sup>+</sup> can not oxidize (i.e. can not be reduced by) XO). If oxygen is the oxidizing substrate, hydrogen peroxide and superoxide are directly produced (the enzyme here can be either XDH or XO), whereas NADH is produced if NAD<sup>+</sup> is the oxidizing substrate (the enzyme here will be only in the form of XDH) (Fig. 1-1) [*Harrison, 2002, Hille and Nishino, 1995, Berry and Hare, 2004, Fridovich, 1970, Olson et al., 1974*].

To add more complication to the picture, XOR can also oxidize NADH, and in this case, oxygen (not NAD<sup>+</sup>) will always be the oxidizing substrate (this will generate hydrogen peroxide and superoxide directly) regardless of whether the enzyme is in the form of XDH or XO. Generation of ROS (i.e. superoxide and hydrogen peroxide) by the XDH form is strongly inhibited by NAD<sup>+</sup> (which is available in relatively high concentrations in cells) when oxidizing NADH or X. On the other hand, the generation of ROS by the form XO is less inhibited (compared to XDH) by NAD<sup>+</sup> when oxidizing NADH and even much less inhibited (compared to XDH) by NAD<sup>+</sup> when oxidizing X. The site of NADH binding, the FAD site, is different from that of X binding, the Mo site (Fig. 1-1) [*Harrison, 2002, Hille and Nishino, 1995, Berry and Hare, 2004, Gilbert, 1963, Landon and Myles, 1967, Rajagopalan and Handler, 1967, Nakamura et al., 1978, Harris and Massey, 1997, Maia et al., 2007, Sanders et al., 1977, Zhang et al., 1998*].

If the Mo site is removed/inhibited, the enzyme will of course not be able to oxidize X, but can still oxidize NADH and reduce oxygen leading to ROS generation. On the other hand, if the FAD site is removed/inhibited, the enzyme will of course not be able to oxidize NADH, but can still oxidize X (or HX) only in the presence of a suitable artificial oxidizing agent, but importantly not oxygen in this case, and hence no ROS will be generated [*Komai et al., 1969, Sanders et al., 1997, Olson et al., 1974, Nakamura, 1991, Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002*]. In other words, in vivo, the FAD site on XOR is the site of oxygen reduction (and hence ROS generation) regardless of whether

the reducing substrate binds to the Mo site (i.e. X or HX) or to the FAD site (i.e. NADH) (Fig. 1.1).

The enzyme shows a striking variation in properties/functions among the different species, and also among the different organs in one species. For example, avian XOR is present only in the XDH form and does not undergo conversion to XO [*Landon and Myles, 1967, Harrison, 2002*]. Deficiency of XOR is fatal to mice, but not to humans [*Harrison, 2002*]. Surprisingly, some reports show that some human forms of XOR exhibits a much weaker X oxidase activity than the bovine XOR, although human XOR still keeps a potent NADH oxidase activity. Human milk XOR exhibits weaker X oxidase activity than human liver XOR [*Harrison, 2002, Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998*].

The enzyme exhibits an ability to oxidize, and to a lesser extent reduce, an unusually wide range of endogenous and artificial substrates [Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004], which has left some researchers wondering if this enzyme has unknown important regularly functions, at least in some species. Relatively recently, the enzyme was shown to be able to reduce nitrate to nitrite, and nitrite to nitric oxide [Harrison, 2002, Zhang et al., 1998, Millar et al., 1998, Li et al., 2004]. The first thing that comes to the mind is that, as it was demonstrated, nitric oxide and superoxide that can be directly generated by XOR can join together to form the very reactive and oxidant molecule, peroxynitrite. Also, unlike NOS, XOR generation of nitric oxide can proceeds even under anaerobic conditions. This raises the possibility that, while NOS (which requires oxygen for its function) will fail to generate nitric oxide under pathological ischemic conditions, XOR will be able to do so, which might lead to nitric oxide-mediated beneficial or harmful effects in the vasculature and/or other tissues [Harrison, 2002, Millar et al., 1998, Zhang et al., 1998, Li et al., 2004]. The role of XOR in regulating nitric oxide system and other aspects of XOR structure and properties is now an active area of research. Although the research on XOR spans more than a century, the enzyme seems still to be hiding many unrevealed secrets.





**Figure 1-1: Expected action of in vivo XOR.** A: action of XO when X (or HX) is the available reducing substrate. XO oxidizes X (or HX) at the Mo site and couples this oxidation to the reduction of oxygen at the FAD site. This process can be only very weakly inhibited by NAD<sup>+</sup>. B: action of XDH when X (or HX) is the available reducing substrate. XDH oxidizes X (or HX) at the Mo site and couples this oxidation to the reduction of either primarily NAD<sup>+</sup> or secondarily oxygen at the FAD site. So the reduction of NAD<sup>+</sup> strongly inhibits (outcompetes) the reduction of oxygen, so ROS generation is inhibited. C: action of XO when NADH is the available reducing substrate. XO oxidizes NADH at the FAD site, and couples this oxidation to the reduction of oxygen at also the FAD site. Although XO weakly oxidizes NADH, this oxidation might be significant because NAD<sup>+</sup> only weakly inhibits this oxidation. D: action of XDH when NADH is the available reducing substrate. XDH oxidizes NADH at the FAD site, and couples this oxidation to the reducing substrate. XDH oxidizes NADH at the FAD site, and couples this oxidation might be significant because NAD<sup>+</sup> only weakly inhibits this oxidation. D: action of XDH when NADH is the available reducing substrate. XDH oxidizes NADH at the FAD site, and couples this oxidation to the reduction of oxygen at also the FAD site. Although XDH strongly oxidizes NADH, this oxidation to the reduction of oxygen at also the FAD site. Although XDH strongly oxidizes NADH, this oxidation might be insignificant because NAD<sup>+</sup> (which is present in relatively high concentrations in cell) strongly inhibits this oxidation.

The enzyme distributes unevenly throughout the body organs. It is concentrated in the liver and intestine [*Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004*]. Brain and heart, especially in humans, contain a minute amount of the enzyme based on a whole organ purification [*Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004*]. However, further investigation showed that XOR is present at high levels in sub-localizations in the brain and heart. For example, endothelial cells of the cardiac and cerebral vasculature contain a significant amount of XOR [*Betz, 1985, Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004, Zweier et al., 1994, Terada et al., 1991a*]. The enzyme is also present in the circulation in an active form (see later). Intracellularly, the enzyme is localized in the cytoplasm, and in possibly some subcellular organelles, but not in the mitochondria [*Berry and Hare, 2004*].

Since XO accepts electrons from X (or HX) and can then only transfer them to molecular oxygen producing ROS, whereas XDH can transfer the electrons to either primarily NAD<sup>+</sup> or secondarily molecular oxygen producing either primarily NADH or secondarily ROS, the in vivo intracellular conversion of XDH to XO was thought to be required for the toxicity of the enzyme [Harrison, 2002]. Xanthine dehydrogenase (XDH) was shown to be converted to XO in cells (or in tissues) under some pathological conditions [Wiezorek, 1994, Phan et al., 1989, Osarogiagbon et al., 2000, Thom, 1992, Schröder et al., 2006, Ischiropoulos et al., 1996, Park et al., 1998]. However, in many other cases, this conversion was shown to be either absent or too slow/too small to account for the observed tissue damage [Harrison, 2002, Xia and Zweier, 1995, Terada et al., 1992b, Cighetti et al., 1990, Mink et al., 1990, Marubayashi 1991, Betz et al., 1991, Frederiks and Bosch, 1996, Kooij et al., 1994, Battelli et al., 1998]. It can be argued, however, that this conversion may not be necessary for the toxicity of the enzyme for two reasons. First, if a pathological condition increases the activity/expression of the total enzyme (XDH + XO), as it was shown in some conditions, then the XO activity/expression will also increase in parallel even in the absence of a significant conversion from XDH to XO. Secondly, it was shown that XDH is also capable of producing significant amount of ROS. It should be remember that if NADH is the reducing substrate, the enzyme can only transfer the electrons to molecular oxygen (not to NAD<sup>+</sup>), and hence ROS will be generated regardless of whether the enzyme is in the form of XO or XDH. However, although XDH is indeed more efficient than XO in oxidizing NADH, its generation of ROS is strongly inhibited by NAD<sup>+</sup> (which is available in relatively high concentrations in cells) when oxidizing NADH or X. On the other hand, the generation of ROS by XO is less inhibited (compared to XDH) by NAD<sup>+</sup> when oxidizing NADH and even much less inhibited (compared to XDH) by NAD<sup>+</sup> when oxidizing X (see above in Fig. 1-1) [*Maia et al.*, 2007, Sanders et al., 1997, *Zhang et al.*, 1998, *Hille and Nishino*, 1995, *Harris et al.*, 1999, *Maia et al.*, 2005].

An important observation is that the enzyme is present in the circulation in an active form under normal conditions and gets even much increased (it can increase several hundred-fold) under some acute pathological states. In both cases the enzyme was found in the circulation to be largely in the form of XO or, under some cases of organ damage, was found to leak to the circulation largely in the form of XDH and then gets rapidly converted to XO [*Harrison, 2002, Terada et al., 1992a, White et al., 1996, Kooij et al., 1994, Friedl et al., 1990, Tan et al., 1995, McHale et al., 1979*]. From the discussion in this and the previous paragraphs, it does not seem clear which isoform of the enzyme will be more injurious under pathological conditions when oxidizing X (or HX) or especially NADH. Regardless of the isoform, and as we mentioned before (also see later), the evidence points out to the responsibility of the enzyme for many pathological conditions.

There are many fairly specific blockers of the molybdenum (Mo) site on XOR. On the other hand, to date, there are still no specific blockers of the FAD site on the enzyme. Although diphenyleneiodonium (DPI) can block the FAD site on XOR, it can also inhibit many other enzymes [Harrison, 2002, Pacher et al., 2006]. The two classical blockers of the Mo site on XOR are allopurinol and oxypurinol. They have been used clinically for decades to treat hyperuricemia-related disorders. Besides their blockade of XOR, these two compounds exhibit some other nonspecific activities e.g. scavenging hydroxyl radical and/or chelating copper ions [Pacher et al., 2006, Ko and Godin, 1990, Lapenna et al., 1997, Moorhouse et al., 1987, Malkiel et al., 1993]. From a clinical perspective, although these two compounds have fairly good tolerability, they have some unpleasant adverse effects e.g. allergy and, in patients with renal impairment, renal toxicity [Pacher et al., 2006]. Since the discovery of allopurinol and oxypurinol, there has been a quest for more selective and better XOR blockers, which resulted in the development of generations of XOR blockers. One of the newly developed and very selective blockers of the Mo site on the enzyme is febuxostat, which has already entered many clinical trials [Pacher et al., 2006].

Another elegant way to inhibit the Mo site on the enzyme that has been used frequently in in vivo animal studies is through feeding the animals with tungsten, which results with time in the incorporation of tungsten instead of molybdenum at the Mo site on the enzyme, rendering it inactive (see later). However, in cases when tungsten was the only used way to inhibit XOR, it can not be ruled out that a protective effect of tungsten treatment was due to inhibiting enzymes other than XOR that have a molybdenum atom at their active sites e.g. aldehyde oxidase and sulfite oxidase (see later).

Like many other enzymes, XOR can be deactivated/inhibited by some (if not all) of its products: uric acid, NAD<sup>+</sup>, NADH, or especially ROS [*Tan et al., 1993, Terada et al., 1991b, Sanders et al., 1997, Landon and Myles, 1967*]. This can complicate the interpretation of results of treatments that interfere with XOR. A theoretical example is that if scavenging ROS showed protection against a disease model where XOR involvement was suspected, then although these scavengers would appear to have been protective through preventing toxic effects of XOR-generated ROS, they might have actually been protective through blocking the deactivation of XOR by its produced ROS. This would result in the continuation of the concomitant production of uric acid and its mediation of an unanticipated protective effect against that disease model (uric acid is known to have some beneficial as well as harmful effects, see later).

### 1.4.2 Role of XOR-generated ROS in disease

In studies relating to cardiovascular system, Zweier and co-workers (1994) showed that subjecting cultured human aortic endothelial cells to anoxia resulted in severe damage (after reoxygenation) and intense production of free radicals that was prevented in the presence oxypurinol. Although in their study XOR level did not change during the insult, the concentrations of its substrate (HX) and its product (uric acid) increased sharply after the anoxia. This sharp rise in HX was paralleled with a sharp decrease in ATP concentration, which suggests that the source of the accumulated HX was the breakdown of ATP pathway. This can be considered as an example of toxic augmentation between energy depletion and oxidative stress. Brown and co-workers (1988), using isolated rat heart, found that inhibiting XOR by either feeding rats (before isolating the heart) with tungsten or infusing the isolated heart with allopurinol led to the attenuation of ventricular dysfunction induced by ischemia-reperfusion injury. Phan and co-workers (1989) have shown that, in cultures of rat pulmonary artery endothelial cells, the use of any of three different inhibitors of XOR (allopurinol, oxypurinol, or

lodoxamide) attenuated the damage induced by adding activated neutrophils, an example of a toxic augmentation between oxidative stress and inflammatory mediators.

In an in vivo study, Nakazono and co-workers (1991) showed that XOR has a role in increased blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR), since oxypurinol (as well as a modified form of SOD) decreased the blood pressure in those rats. Although in that study the level of XOR was the same in SHR and normal rats, the levels of plasma uric acid was higher in SHR rats, suggesting that the enzyme substrate (HX and X) concentrations were higher in the SHR rats. In that study, oxypurinol did not decrease the blood pressure of normal rats. Another in vivo study showed that XOR played a role in a mouse model of atherosclerosis [*Schröder et al., 2006*]. In that model, inhibiting XOR through feeding mice with tungsten led to the normalization of endothelial function and the decrease in free radical generation as well as the attenuation of plaque formation. However, as the authors mentioned, since oxypurinol or alloppurinol could not be used in that study, it can not be ruled out that this protective effect of tungsten treatment was due to inhibiting enzymes other than XOR that have a molybdenum atom at their active sites e.g. aldehyde oxidase and sulfite oxidase.

In a recent clinical study, oxypurinol was seen to improve myocardial contractility in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy [Baldus et al., 2006]. Another clinical study showed that allopurinol improved endothelial function in patients with chronic heart failure [George et al., 2006]. Doubling the allopurinol dose in that study resulted in more than twice the improvement in endothelial function, and based on this finding, the authors argued that allopurinol doses used in many previous clinical trials were suboptimal. The other important finding of the study of George and co-workers was that merely decreasing uric acid (which can have either detrimental or beneficial effects, see later) concentration by a means other than inhibiting XOR did not result in any improvement in endothelial function. The implication is that allopurinol was likely protective through inhibiting XOR-mediated ROS production (coupled to the oxidation of HX and X to uric acid) and not through merely decreasing the in vivo concentration of uric acid per se. However, it should be kept in mind that, as mentioned earlier, allopurinol (and oxypurinol) can exert some other beneficial actions unrelated to inhibiting XOR. Another clinical study showed that oxypurinol improved coronary endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease [Baldus et al., 2005], whilst others observed that treatment with XOR inhibitors has beneficial cardiovascular effects

in smokers and hypercholesterolemic patients [*Guthikonda et al., 2003, Cardillo et al., 1997*]. However, all these clinical studies are limited by the small sample size, demanding more validation with bigger clinical trials.

Regarding neuronal/cerebral disease, using primary cultures of rat striatum, it was found that intracellular XOR, through a non clear mechanism, exacerbated the toxicity of an endogenous neurotoxicant, 3-Hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), when this toxicant was applied externally at concentrations of 1-10  $\mu$ M. The importance of this finding is that these concentrations are comparable to 3-HK concentrations found in some neurodegenerative diseases, implying that 3-HK as well as XOR might be important players in the development of some neurodegenerative diseases [*Okuda et al., 1996*]. Using cortical neuronal cultures, Tagami and co-workers (1998) showed that allopurinol attenuated the damage induced by hypoxia-reoxygenation.

Widmer and co-workers (2007) showed that inhibiting XOR with oxypurinol attenuated lipid peroxidation as well as cellular damage in cultures of microglia cell line (microglia are considered resident macrophages in the brain) induced by anoxia-reoxygenation. It is worth mentioning that, in that study, oxypurinol was protective at a low concentration  $(10 \mu M)$  which rules out that its protection was due to directly scavenging hydroxyl radical (not inhibiting XOR), a side activity that might occur only at a high concentration of oxypurinol (or allopurinol) ( $\geq$  500 µM). Actually, since oxypurinol (and allopurinol) was shown to scavenge hydroxyl radical at such a high concentration only in cell-free experiments in the presence of only one competing detector (i.e. scavenger), even if oxypurinol (or allopurinol) was used at such a high concentration in the above toxicity study (or other toxicity studies), its protective effect in a cellular milieu is unlikely to be due to its ability to directly scavenge hydroxyl radical. The reason is that, in a cellular milieu, oxypurinol needs to compete with many biological targets (i.e. scavengers) of hydroxyl radical, and thus a much higher concentration than 500 µM of oxypurinol might be needed for it to significantly scavenge hydroxyl radical. Abramov and co-workers (2007) showed that 20 µM oxypurinol attenuated cell damage induced by oxygen-glucose deprivation in cultures of either cortical or hippocampal neurons. In other studies, XOR inhibitors attenuated the damage induced by kainate (which activates a subclass of glutamate receptors called AMPA/kainate receptors) in cortical, retinal, or cerebellar neurons [Dykens et al., 1987, Cheng and Sun, 1994, Dutrait et al., 1995].

Takuma and co-workers (1999) showed that, in primary cultures of astrocytes (which are glial cells that exert usually protective/supportive roles in the brain), allopurinol (100  $\mu$ M) attenuated the damage induced by increasing intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration. Allopurinol attenuated the damage induced by mechanical trauma in cultured brain endothelial cells [*Gidday et al., 1999*]; whilst oxypurinol was shown to attenuate the damage induced by anoxia-reoxygenation in similar brain endothelial cell cultures [*Beetsch et al., 1998, Wu et al., 1997*]. This damage to brain vascular endothelial cells is thought to be an important traumatic event in acute neurodegenerative diseases e.g. stroke, and as mentioned before, cerebral (as it is the case with the cardiac) vascular endothelial cells contain significant amount of XOR [*Betz, 1985, Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004, Zweier et al., 1994, Terada et al., 1991a*].

MacGregor and co-workers (1996) showed that oxypurinol, and to a lesser extent allopurinol, attenuated the neuronal membrane damage induced by a systemic in vivo administration of kainate in rats. Palmer and co-workers (1993), in an in vivo study, showed that a high dose of allopurinol, although administered after the period of ischemia, attenuated acute and chronic brain injuries in rats subjected to cerebral ischemia-reperfusion. Phillis (1989) showed that in vivo administration of oxypurinol attenuated hippocampal damage and the associated neurological deficits in gerbils subjected to ischemia. Thom (1992) showed that inhibiting XOR through either feeding rats with tungsten for a month or pre-treatment with allopurinol resulted in the attenuation of brain lipid peroxidation induced by carbon monoxide poisoning (followed by reoxygenation). Phillis and co-workers (1995) showed that oxypurinol restored cerebral cortical ATP content (during the early period of insult) and also improved physiological indices in rats subjected to ischemia-reperfusion injury. These authors suggested that oxypurinol may have been protective by inhibiting XOR, which would result in inhibition of ROS generation and would result also in the accumulation of HX which can in turn be converted (salvaged) to adenine nucleotides including ATP.

Peeters-Scholte and co-workers (2003) observed a protective effect of allopurinol, although given after the period of ischemia, against brain damage induced by ischemia-reperfusion in newborn piglets. In a small sample size clinical trial, allopurinol was observed to decrease free radical generation and improve cerebral hemodynamics and
electrical activity in human newborns suffering, during birth, from severe asphyxia followed by cerebral perfusion [*Van Bel et al., 1998*].

A toxic role has been also observed for XOR in many other disease models of different organs of the body (in addition to the cardiovascular and cerebral systems). In cultures of the Kupffer cells of rat liver, it was shown that allopurinol significantly attenuated the damage induced by hypoxia-reoxygenation [*Wiezorek et al., 1994*]. In cultures of mouse retinal endothelial cells, it was shown that either DPI (which can inhibit XOR through blocking the FAD site, but can also inhibit some other enzymes) or oxypurinol attenuated the damage induced by glucose/oxygen deprivation followed by restoration to normal glucose and oxygen levels [*Rieger et al., 2002*].

Terada and co-workers (1992b) showed that inducing intestinal ischemia-reperfusion resulted in injury to the lung tissue, suggesting that the damaged intestine released toxic circulating mediators that caused distal injury to the lung tissue, where inhibiting XOR by either feeding the rats with tungsten or pre-treatment with allopurinol attenuated the lung injury. These authors suggested that XOR released from the damaged intestine (in addition to XOR present in the lung tissue) played a role in the lung injury. Nielsen and co-workers (1996) showed that inducing ischemia-reperfusion of rabbit liver resulted in damage to both of the liver and the lungs, where feeding the rabbits with tungsten attenuated the damage observed in both of the organs. Ohta and co-workers (2007), in an in vivo study, showed that rat liver damage induced by D-galactosamine (a toxicity model resembles the liver damage observed in acute viral hepatitis in humans) was attenuated by allopurinol even though it was administered 6 hours after administering D-galactosamine. Zeki and co-workers (2002), using an in vivo model of chronic pancreatitis, showed that feeding the animals with tungsten resulted in the attenuation of the observed injury.

Kumagai and co-workers (2002) showed that in vivo inhibition of XOR with either BOF-4272 (a highly specific inhibitor of the Mo site on the enzyme) or allopurinol attenuated rat testicular damage induced by surgical cryptorchidism. Also, Lamarque and Whittle (1995) showed that in vivo pre-administration of allopurinol attenuated rat gastric mucosal damage induced by local intra-arterial infusion of nitric oxide donors. These authors attributed the allopurinol-inhibitable toxicity of the nitric oxide donors to the reaction between superoxide produced by XOR and nitric oxide to produce peroxynitrite, which can be very toxic.

In all disease models where inhibiting XOR-generated ROS appears to be either beneficial or non beneficial, it is difficult to know where to put uric acid (whose level will be reduced by inhibiting XOR) in the equation. This is because that uric acid seems to have both beneficial and harmful effects [*Feig et al., 2008, Dimitroula et al., 2008*]. Thus, if inhibiting XOR shows protection, a question arises: is this protective effect of XOR inhibition is due to decreasing ROS levels or due to decreasing uric acid level (here we assume that uric acid is detrimental)? On the other hand, when inhibiting XOR does not show protection, another question arises, is this lack of protection of XOR inhibition is due to the lack of a role of XOR-generated ROS, or is it due to the beneficial effects of decreasing ROS were antagonized by preventing beneficial effects of uric acid? A possible way to address these questions is through decreasing ROS levels by a means other than inhibiting XOR (e.g. direct scavenging of ROS) and/or decreasing uric acid levels by a means other than inhibiting XOR (e.g. direct scavenging of uric acid).

Because of the above mentioned evidence for a toxic role of XOR in many pathologies, and also because XOR is considered one of very few convenient tools to produce superoxide experimentally, a combination of XO and its substrate X (or other substrates that bind to the Mo site) is a widely used model to generate ROS and to study their effects in many cell culture studies [Rieger et al., 2002, Fatokun et al., 2007a, Matesanz et al., 2007, Van Grevenstein et al., 2007, Knorpp et al., 2006, Casalino-Matsuda et al., 2006, Mander et al., 2006, Wu et al., 2002, Lee et al., 2001, Atlante et al., 2000, Mitobe et al., 2000, Bellmann et al., 1995, Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Simon et al., 1981, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Ito et al., 1992, Valencia and Morán, 2004, Michikawa et al., 1994]. However, there are not many cell culture studies which have studied the effect/toxicity of the combination of XO (or XDH) and the substrate NADH (which binds to the FAD site). A possible reason for this lack of interest is that, unlike X, NADH is oxidized by many enzymes other than XO and is involved in many cellular processes, which can obscure the mechanism of action of ROS generated by applying NADH / XO combination. Another reason for this lack of interest may be that NADH is known to be a much weaker substrate than X for the most studied form of the enzyme, the bovine milk XO [Gilbert, 1963, Liochev et al., 1989, Nakamura, 1991]. However, some

other forms of the enzyme are much more potent than the bovine milk XO in oxidizing NADH. Actually, recent studies have shown that XO (and especially XDH) isolated from certain human tissues have a potent NADH oxidase and ROS generating activity, while some of these human forms have, surprisingly, a low xanthine oxidase activity [ Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998, Maia et al., 2007]. Also, as mentioned earlier, in cell-free experiments, it was shown that blocking the site of X binding on the enzyme (the Mo site) does not significantly prevent NADH oxidation and the concomitant ROS generation [Nakamura, 1991, Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002, Sanders et al., 1997, Olson et al., 1974]. This led some authors to warn against overlooking the NADH oxidase activity of XOR when interpreting results of studies that looked for a role for this enzyme in certain diseases. In particular, the failure of allopurinol (a blocker of the site of X binding, but not NADH binding) in preventing tissue damage in previous studies where XOR-mediated damage was proposed [Allen et al., 1990, Benders et al., 2006, Mosler et al., 2005, Coetzee et al., 1996] could be theoretically explained by the inability of allopurinol to prevent NADH oxidation by XOR, and hence its inability to prevent the tissue damage [Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002, Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998].

### **1.5 Cell culture technique**

Cell cultures derived from different organ systems are now widely used for different physiological, pathological, and pharmacological studies. They have several advantages over the in vivo studies: they allow for investigations on specific cell types; test compounds can be applied in defined concentrations, and a precise control of the environment around cells can be achieved [*Smith and Jiang, 1994, Freshny, 2004*]. The ability of a test compound to penetrate the membrane of the cell or the subcellular organelles can be assessed; specific extracellular, membrane, or intracellular targets/effects of the test compounds can be identified; interactions between two or more types of cells can be studied (e.g. interaction between neurons and astrocytes); availability of multi-well plates allows for testing a large number of treatments at the same time and under the same conditions, and ethical concerns about animal experimentation are avoided [*Freshny, 2004*]. A challenging aspect in studying oxidative stress is how to directly detect and measure ROS which are unstable, short lived, and present at very low levels? It is often done in vivo through indirect measurements e.g.

measuring the end products of oxidative stress attack on lipids, proteins, or DNA
measuring the alteration in the activity of the antioxidant enzymes [*Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004*]. Cell cultures, however, make it much easier to directly and indirectly measure ROS.

Cell cultures, however, have their clear limitations e.g. lack of the complex biological environment around the cells, and hence the lack of the resemblance to the actual physiological and pathological states. Regarding oxidative stress in particular, it is possible that the isolation of cells and the subsequent culturing 'stress' would force the cells, in order to survive in the new strange environment, to induce survival/protective pathways that would not be induced under normal in vivo conditions. This means that cells that survive in vitro might be more resistant to oxidative stress insults than cells in vivo. However, it can be argued for an opposite possibility, where in vivo tissues might be better equipped with protective mechanisms (e.g. they have richer antioxidant environment) to cope with insults than cells in vitro [*Halliwell, 2003*], and hence higher concentrations of toxic insults might be required to kill cells in vivo than if applied in vitro.

Another important fact that should be considered when conducting cell culture studies is that cells in cultures are usually exposed to higher oxygen levels than its levels in most in vivo tissues [Halliwell, 2003]. However, there are some details that require discussion. Physiological oxygen levels in most in vivo tissues (with some exceptions e.g. some pulmonary cells) are estimated to be around 1-60 mmHg [Halliwell, 2003, de Groot and Littauer, 1989, Taylor and Camalier, 1982], where in vivo brain interstitial oxygen levels were reported to be around 30-40 mmHg [Liu et al., 2004]. In cell cultures plated under standard conditions (5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, and 37°C), the levels of dissolved oxygen around cells (in the culture medium) were reported to be more than 100 mmHg after the first minutes/hours of plating (or renewing the medium) [Metzen et al., 1995, Wolff et al., 1993, Hanson et al., Hanson et al., 2007, Taylor and Camalier, 1982]. What happens to the dissolved oxygen level around cells after that (i.e. after the first minutes/hours of plating (or renewing the medium)) is not clear, but seems to depend on (among other factors) the oxygen consumption efficiency of the cultures when maintained in a static environment i.e. without shaking the plates [Metzen et al., 1995, Jensen, 1976, Bader et al., 1999]. For example, Metzen and co-workers (1995) showed that although in rat renal mesangial primary cultures the dissolved oxygen level around cells was more than 100

mmHg after 24 hours of renewing the medium, in some cell line cultures (renal LLC-PK1 and LLC-MK2 or hepatic HepG2 and Hep3B epithelial cells) the dissolved oxygen level around cells dropped to less than 0.2 mmHg (the detection limit) after 24 hr of renewing the medium (i.e. the cells become very hypoxic despite the fact that the air in the incubator was maintained at 95%). These authors attributed the observed hypoxia in these cell lines to a high oxygen consumption efficiency of the cells that exceeded the ability of oxygen in the incubator air to dissolve in the culture medium and diffuse to the cells attached to the bottom of the plate wells (i.e. oxygen consumption far exceeded oxygen supply). Similar findings were observed by others [Holzer and Maier, 1987]. Therefore, in cultures (under static environment and standard conditions) with high oxygen consumption efficiency the cells might be exposed to hyper-oxic conditions (initially) and then be exposed to either transient or sustained hypoxic conditions, where both cases are non-physiological. To overcome these problems, some researchers have tried culture plates with gas-permeable bottoms instead of the standard (polystyrene) culture plates (which are poorly permeable to gases) [Holzer and Maier, 1987, Wolff et al., 1993, Bader et al., 1999, Jensen, 1976, Metzen et al., 1995]. On the other hand, in cultures with low oxygen consumption efficiency (many primary cultures might be under this category) the cells might be under hyper-oxic (i.e. oxidative stress) conditions both initially and throughout their maintenance in culture, which is also non-physiological.

With these limitations in mind, however, cell culture is an indispensible technique to investigate many biological/pathological conditions including oxidative stress. Many important discoveries would have been difficult or at least delayed in the absence of the cell culture technique e.g. the demonstration that activating some glutamate receptors in cultured CNS neurons generates intracellular superoxide [*Patel et al., 1996, Lafon-Cazal et al., 1993b*].

Oxidative stress in cell cultures can be induced in different ways. ROS can be applied/generated directly e.g. applying hydrogen peroxide solution, applying XOR with its substrate, or applying nitric oxide donors. Also, oxidative stress can be induced indirectly through applying specific disease model inducers e.g. hypoxia, glucose deprivation, serum/growth factors deprivation, or (in cultures of CNS neurons) glutamate receptor activation. Also oxidative stress can be induced by inhibiting cellular antioxidant mechanisms e.g. inhibiting the activity or knocking out the gene of SOD or catalase.

To test the possible involvement of ROS in some pathological conditions in cell cultures, many detection/measurement methods have been developed. For example, 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA) is used as a probe for general intracellular oxidative stress. The principle of this assay is that DCFDA readily crosses the cell membrane and accumulates in the cytosol. Intracellularly, DCFDA is converted by esterases to a non-fluorescent species, 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein (DCFH), where many reactive species can oxidize DCFH into a fluorescent species, 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF), which can be measured [*Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004*].

A recently developed method is considered one of the most available specific intracellular detection methods of superoxide, which involves the oxidation of the probe hydroethidine by superoxide to yield a fluorescent species (2-hydroxyethidium) [*Zhao et al., 2005*]. This specific species (2-hydroxyethidium) was shown to be only produced by reaction between hydroethidine and superoxide, but not by reaction between hydroethidine and superoxide, but not by reaction between hydroxyl radical, peroxynitrite, or hypochlorous acid [*Zhao et al., 2005*]. The involvement of oxidative stress in some pathological conditions in cell cultures can also be measured indirectly e.g. measuring the stable end products of the oxidative stress attack on lipids, proteins, or DNA.

In studying oxidative stress or other damaging events in cell cultures, the overall damage to the cells is usually assessed using viability tests. One type of viability tests is measuring membrane integrity through examining the ability of the cells to uptake a dye that is normally excluded by cells e.g. trypan blue or naphthalan black, so dead cells will uptake the dye while viable cells will exclude it. This can also be done the other way around through applying a dye that is known to be excluded by dead cells while being taken up by viable cells e.g. neutral red [*Freshny, 2004*]. The membrane integrity can also be assessed through observing the leak of some intracellular components into the extracellular medium e.g. lactate dehydrogenase [*Lin and Maiese, 2001*]. Another type of viability tests is measuring the enzymatic activity of cells. For example, 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) and Alamar blue are dyes that can be reduced by some cellular enzymes, where the extent of their reduction reflects the viability status of the cultures [*Hamid et al., 2004, Fatokun et al., 2007b*]. Since cells in cultures have characteristic morphology, a very important way of assessing the culture viability is also through examining the morphological appearance

of the cells under the microscope. For example, cultured neurons have a characteristic morphology, and when damaged, clear changes in their morphology are observed e.g. degenerated axons and also shrinking or even lysed cell bodies. To know whether the morphological changes are reversible or irreversible, the morphology can be periodically checked for an extended period of time.

In this project cultured neurons were chosen to investigate the toxicity of XOR. Although this thesis attempted to answer some relatively general questions regarding XOR toxicity (and hence any other type of cells might have been applicable for this study), neurons were selected for several reasons. As mentioned earlier, brain is thought to be particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress, and hence delicate oxidative stress-related levels of toxicity/effects might be observed in neurons by applying relatively low concentrations of ROS. Also, since a toxic interplay in the CNS neurons between oxidative stress and glutamate-receptor activation was previously postulated, we were keeping in mind that we might want to do some experiments to have more analysis of this toxic interplay. Also, it was mentioned earlier that cellular XOR potentiated the toxicity of an endogenous neurotoxicant, 3-hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), in cultured neurons through a non clear mechanism. So, we were also keeping in mind that we might want to do some experiments of this interesting toxic augmentation.

Using neuronal cultures derived from the brain of adult animals is preferable to younger ones, since the oxidative stress-related neurondegenrative diseases (e.g. stroke and Parkinson's disease) are age related. At each stage of body development, neurons and cells in general have characteristic genetic, structural, metabolic, and redox status e.g. the expression pattern of neuropeptide Y in the guinea-pig sympathetic neurons differs significantly between embryos and adults [*Matsumoto, 1993*]. Also neurons may switch their dependency from one growth factor to another at different stages of development.

However, neuronal cultures derived from adult animal brain are difficult to produce and sustain. The reasons for this difficulty might include that neurons in the adult brain tissue are embedded in a network of adhesive macromolecules that physically retard the neurons from dissociating from the tissue during the isolation procedure [*Brewer*, 1997]. Also, some molecules in the adult tissue were shown to specifically inhibit the attachment of neurons to the surface of culture plates e.g. phosphacan and neurocan are

large proteoglycans present in the extracellular matrix in the nervous system which have been shown to impair the neurite outgrowth and the attachment to the culture plate of adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurons in a dose dependent manner [*Sango et al., 2003*]. Also, with increased age, there is an impairment of the fundamental properties of the cell membrane such as fluidity and elasticity [*Horie et al., 1990*].

Some researchers have tried different approaches/techniques to improve culturing conditions in order to produce and sustain a good yield of adult neuronal cultures e.g. using specialised media, adding specific growth factors, and/or using techniques such as density gradient fractionation technique [*Brewer*, *1997*]. However, these approaches are relatively expensive and complex for a routine use. So, neuronal cultures derived from younger animals, embryos or neonates, are widely used instead in research. Among the different types of brain-derived cultures, the primary cultures of neonatal cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs) have a particular attraction [*Contestabile*, *2002*, *Smith et al.*, *2008*, *Fatokun et al.*, *2007b*]. They contain a very homogeneous population of neurons. The cerebellum is anatomically distinct and easy to dissect. Also, these cultures seem to be very vulnerable to at least some types of oxidative stress e.g. it was observed that treatment with hydrogen peroxide (100  $\mu$ M) for just 15 minutes killed 75% of CGNs, while it was observed in another study that the same percent of death in cultured brain cortical neurons required 24 hours application of the same concentration of hydrogen peroxide [*Klein and Ackerman*, *2003*].

#### 1.6 Aim/Objectives

The aim of this project was to investigate some aspects of the in vitro toxicity of XOR, which might provide more insights into its in vivo toxicity. So we were interested to know the answer of the following questions:

#### A:

Since there are not many cell culture studies which have investigated the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination (see before), what are the differences and similarities between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities? In particular:

- 1- What are the concentrations of NADH and X that produce the same toxicity level?
- 2- What is the effect of blocking the different sites on XO on the two toxicity systems?

**3-** What is the effect of deactivating superoxide or hydrogen peroxide on the two toxicity systems?

4- What is the effect of adding metal chelators on the two toxicity systems?

5- What is the effect of adding hydroxyl radical scavengers on the two toxicity systems?

#### **B:**

We were also interested to clarify some secondary issues regarding X / XO toxicity. In particular:

1- Since many previous studies (one of them was conducted previously in this laboratory using CGNs [*Fatokun et al*, 2007*a*]) showed that catalase was protective against X / XO toxicity, while SOD had no effect, what is the reason for the lack of effect of SOD? Is it because superoxide generated from this combination was not involved in the toxicity?

2- Since some previous studies, that used some tissues other than CGNs, showed that intracellularly generated superoxide mediated the X / XO toxicity (or similar models, where extracellular hydrogen peroxide was a main product) [*Ito et al., 1992, Kyle et al., 1988, Hiraishi et al., 1994*], is this also the case with CGNs i.e. does intracellularly generated superoxide mediate X / XO toxicity in CGNs? And if so, is the lack of protection of SOD, observed in CGNs and other tissues, due to its inability to cross the cell membrane? And also if intracellular superoxide is involved, does the lack of protection by SOD mean that superoxide generated extracellularly from X / XO combination was unable to cross the cell membrane?

**3-** Since some previous studies showed that some commercial preparations of XO are contaminated with iron [*Britigan et al., 1990*], is this also the case with our preparation of XO? And if so, is this iron active and does it contribute to the effects that we observe in X / XO toxicity?

**4-** Since many previous studies suggested that intracellular hydroxyl radical is involved in X / XO toxicity [*Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler et al., 1985*], can this also be demonstrated here? If so, can directly scavenging hydroxyl radical intracellularly provide protection?

## C:

Since in the start of this project we found some difficulties with CGNs cultures, one aim was to establish the optimal culturing conditions required in order to successfully perform our experiments with XO. In particular, we wanted to know why the neurons (including those in the control group) die at the experiments day by manipulating the cultures (i.e. aspirating the culture medium, adding treatment and control vehicles, and adding the restoration medium).

## 2 Materials and methods

## 2.1 Chemicals (ordered alphabetically)

- AlamarBlue®; Invitrogen (DAL1100)
- Albumin; Sigma (A2153)
- Allopurinol; Sigma (A8003)
- Catalase; Sigma (C1345)
- Cytochrome c; Sigma (C7752)
- Cytosine  $\beta$ -D-arabinofuranoside (Cytosine arabinoside); Sigma (C1768)
- Deferoxamine mesylate salt; Sigma (D9533)
- Diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC); Sigma (228680)
- Diphenyleneiodonium (DPI); Sigma (D2926)
- DNAse I ; Sigma (AMPD1)
- Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline (DPBS); Invitrogen (14190)
- Ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA); Sigma (D2SS)
- Fetal bovine serum (FBS); Sigma-Aldrich (F9665)
- Glutamic acid (glutamate); Acros Organics (156212500)
- Glutamic-Pyruvic Transaminase; Sigma (G8255)
- Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) solution; Sigma (H1009)
- Manganese-superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD); Sigma (S5639)
- Minimum Essential Medium (MEM); Invitrogen (32360-034)
- (+)-MK-801; Sigma (M107)
- NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME); Sigma (N5751)
- Poly-D-lysine hydrobromide ; Sigma (P0899)
- α-(4-Pyridyl N-oxide)-N-tert-butylnitrone (POBN); Sigma (215430)
- Reduced β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH); Sigma-Aldrich (N4505)
- S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP); Sigma (N3398)
- Superoxide dismutase-1 (SOD-1) (Copper,Zinc-superoxide dismutase); Sigma-Aldrich (S5395).
- Tiron (4,5-Dihydroxy-1,3-benzenedisulfonic acid) disodium salt; Sigma (33724)
- Trypsin; Sigma (T-4799)
- Trypsin inhibitor; sigma (T6414)

- Xanthine; Sigma (X4002)
- Xanthine oxidase (from bovine milk); Sigma-Aldrich (X4376)
- XTT (2,3-Bis(2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium-5-carboxanilide inner salt); Sigma (X4626)

## 2.2 Equipments

- Laminar flow hood.
- Different sizes of automatic pipettes.
- 96-well plates.
- Inverted contrast-field microscope (Olympus IX50) with Olympus DP50 software for image processing.
- Centrifuge (MSe; Harrier 18/80).
- CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.
- Water bath.
- Plate reader (DYNEX TECHNOLOGIES; Opsys MR).

## 2.3 Treatment solutions and media

**HEPES-sol:** Contains (in distilled water): Sodium chloride (140 mM), potassium chloride (5 mM), calcium chloride (2mM), N-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid) (HEPES) (for buffering) (20 mM), magnesium chloride (0.8 mM), and glucose (3 mM). pH= 7.2-7.6. When this solution was used, the cultures were moved to an incubator that contains zero% CO2.

This solution was used as a vehicle for the test compounds in many viability studies that were performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity. This solution was also used in all cell-free experiments (except one cell-free experiment that will be indicated later on).

**MEM-HEPES-sol:** MEM medium (Invitrogen (32360)), which already contains: HEPES (for buffering) (25 mM) and sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) (also for buffering) (2.2 mg/ml). This solution was modified to contain: glutamine (2 mM), gentamicin (50  $\mu$ g/ml), and potassium chloride (25 mM) as final concentrations. When this solution was used, the cultures were maintained under 5% CO2.

This solution was used as a vehicle for the test compounds in many viability studies that were performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity.

**Fresh culture medium:** the same as MEM-HEPES-sol but also contains 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS).

This was the solution that was used in the isolation and plating process of neurons at day zero. So, the neurons were maintained in this solution for 8-9 days until the time of experiments. A fresh culture medium was also used as a vehicle for the test compounds in all of the experiments that were performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity. This solution was also the solution to which the neurons were restored after the treatment period in all of the experiments that were performed before solving the problem of fresh solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity.

**Conditioned medium:** This was the culture medium collected from plates that contained neurons grown for 6-7 days. This medium will not contain significant (toxic) amount of glutamate (that is already present in the fresh culture medium), because glutamate gets taken up/degraded by neurons during the 6-7 days of plating [*Aronica et al., 1993*]. So, this solution was the solution to which the neurons were restored at the end of treatment period in all of the experiments that were performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity.

### **2.4 Test compounds stock solutions**

-Bovine milk XO powder was dissolved in 0.001 M sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (prepared in normal saline) to a concentration of 0.5 Units/ml. Aliquots of this stock solution were stored at -20°C until use (notice that the NaOH presence and freezing the enzyme might cause damage to the enzyme, and thus these should be avoided in future experiments. A better way is to dissolve the enzyme in a neutral buffer and then use it immediately).

-SOD-1 powder was dissolved in normal saline to a concentration of 10000 Units/ml. Aliquots of this stock solution were stored at -20°C until use (notice that freezing the enzyme might cause damage to the enzyme, and thus this should be avoided in future experiments. A better way is to dissolve the enzyme in a neutral buffer and then use it immediately).

-Catalase (Cat.) powder was dissolved in phosphate buffer (pH=7.4) to a concentration of 10000 Units/ml. This stock solution was stored at 4-8 C and used in the same day.

- NADH powder (100 mg) was dissolved in 1 ml of 0.01 M NaOH to generate a solution of 134.8 mM NADH, and this solution was then diluted by adding 5.74 ml of normal saline to make 6.74 ml of 20 mM NADH stock solution. Aliquots of this solution (pH = 10-11) were protected from light and stored at – 40 °C until use (notice that the high pH might cause damage to NADH, and thus should be avoided in future. A better way is to dissolve NADH in a neutral buffer and then use it immediately without freezing).

-POBN powder was dissolved in normal saline to a concentration of 100 mM. Aliquots of this solution were protected from light and stored at -20°C until use.

-Deferoxamine powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 76 mM. Aliquots of this solution were stored at -20°C until use.

-Cytochrome c powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 2 mM. Aliquots of this solution were protected from light and stored at -20°C until use (notice that freezing the protein might cause damage to it, and thus this should be avoided in future experiments. A better way is to dissolve the protein in a neutral buffer and then use it immediately).

-XTT powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 2 mM. Aliquots of this solution were protected from light and stored at -20°C until use.

-Allopurinol powder was dissolved in 1 M NaOH to a concentration of 100 mM. Aliquots of this solution were stored at -20°C until use.

-Xanthine powder was dissolved in 0.1 M NaOH to a concentration of 10 mM. Aliquots of this solution were stored at -20°C until use.

-EDTA powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 50 mM. Aliquots of this solution were stored at -20°C until use.

- Tiron powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 200 mM. Aliquots of this solution were stored at -20°C until use.

-To prepare a stock solution of diphenyleneiodonium (DPI), an initial concentrated solution of 15.9 mM was prepared, and some of this solution was diluted in distilled water to 0.1 mM. Aliquots of this 0.1 mM solution were stored at -20°C until use.

**Notice:** It was missed to record the identity of the solvent that was used to prepare the initial concentrated solution (i.e. 15.9 mM) of DPI. Tracing our memory back could not reveal the identity of this solvent. However, it is very likely that this solvent was DMSO, for two reasons. First, we usually follow the supplier instructions to dissolve our compounds, and in this case, Sigma mentioned that although DPI can be dissolved in water or ethanol to generate low concentrations of stock solutions, the only solvent they mentioned that can dissolve DPI to generate concentrations of stock solutions as high as the one prepared here (i.e. 15.9 mM) was DMSO. Second, when we thawed this concentrated solution of DPI (15.9 mM) (which we were still keeping it) it gave the distinctive odour of DMSO. Assuming this was DMSO, this means that in the viability experiments where DPI was tried (it was always tried at 100 nM) the DMSO concentration present in the treatment solution applied to cells was in the micromolar range. This is unlikely to have an effect, since DMSO used at 20 mM against the same toxicity insults that DPI was protective against them had no effect (Results section; Fig. 3-66 and Fig. 3-67).

Also, in a pilot experiment, new DPI powder was obtained from Sigma, and distilled water was used to dissolve it. In agreement to the supplier instructions, it was not possible to generate 15.9 mM, and a DPI stock solution of only 0.636 mM in distilled water was prepared. Using DPI diluted from this 0.636 mM stock solution in a pilot viability experiment at 100 nM produced substantial protection (in the morphological examination) against NADH / XO toxicity i.e. produced the same effect against NADH / XO toxicity as DPI (100 nM) derived from the 15.9 mM concentrated solution. This substantial protection (observed in the morphological examination) in this pilot study was also observed when the experiment was repeated in the subsequent day (this is not n = 2, since n = 2 in the viability experiments in this project represents experiments repeated in two separate weeks) (no Alamar blue viability assay was performed for this pilot study).

**Notice:** In viability experiments where NaOH was used in preparing the stock solutions of the test compounds, the levels of NaOH added to cultures (by adding the treatment solutions) do not exceed few hundreds micromolar concentrations in the majority of experiments. In few experiments, the level of NaOH added can be around 1 mM. In rare

cases (only in two experiments: Fig. 3-23 (the fourth treatment group) and Fig. 3-36 (column C)) there will be around 2 mM NaOH added in the treatment solutions. However, adding MEM-HEPES-sol containing 2 mM NaOH to the cultures did not have any effect on the viability (data not shown).

## 2.5 Using 96-well plates

96-well plates allow for testing many treatment groups at the same time and under the same conditions (Fig. 2-1 shows a photo and a diagram of a 96-well plate). These plates were used for both of viability (cell-containing) and cell-free experiments.



**Figure 2-1: A photo and a diagram of a 96-well plate. A:** A photo of a 96-well plate with its cover. **B:** A diagram of a 96-well plate. This diagram will be shown later in this thesis for many purposes. Notice that the surface of the wells is not square as it appears in the diagram, but it is actually round as it appears in the shown photo, but will be shown as square in the subsequent diagrams only for convenience.

# 2.6 Primary cultures of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs)

Every set of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs) cultures was prepared as follows:

- Cerebella were isolated from 7- to 8-day old Sprague-Dawley rats (6-9 cerebella were used), cleared from meninges and blood vessels using forceps, chopped thoroughly by a blade to small pieces.
- 2- The chopped pieces were transferred to trypsin solution: 0.25 mg/ml in 20 ml of DPBS buffer solution (this buffer is a DPBS with the following added: albumin (3 mg/ml), glucose (2.5 mg/ml), and magnesium sulphate (0.382 mg/ml)), and incubated for 20 minutes at 37°C.
- 3- To the same tube, an equal volume (20 ml) of a weak trypsin inhibitor solution (contains in the DPBS buffer solution: trypsin inhibitor (8 μg/ml) and DNAse I (8 Units/ml)) was added and the tube was centrifuged at 1200 RPM for two minutes.
- 4- The supernatant was discarded and 2 ml of a concentrated trypsin inhibitor solution (DPBS buffer solution containing trypsin inhibitor (50 µg/ml) and DNAse I (50 Units/ml)) was added to the cell pellet. The cell suspension was triturated with three Pasteur glass pipettes with a decreasing pore size, 10 times each.
- 5- The DPBS buffer solution was then added up to 20 ml, and the tube was centrifuged again at 1200 RPM for two minutes.
- 6- The supernatant was discarded and 2 ml of fresh culture medium was added, and the same steps of trituration with Pasteur glass pipettes were repeated.
- 7- Fresh culture medium was then added up to 20 ml. This dilution of cell suspension eases cell counting.
- 8- The cells in this suspension were counted under the microscope as follows: one drop of the suspension was added to a chamber of a haematocytometer slide and the slide was placed under the microscope. A 10x objective was selected, and the slide was moved so that the field seen is the central area of the grid. A large square will appear filling the field. This square contains 25 smaller squares, and each one of these 25 squares is bounded by three parallel lines. The number of cells was counted in 5 of these 25 squares. The number obtained was multiplied

by 5 (to get the approximate number in the 25 squares). The number obtained is number of cells in a volume of  $0.1 \text{ mm}^3$ . This number was multiplied by 10000 to give the number of cells in one cm<sup>3</sup> i.e. the number of cells in one ml.

- 9- The cell density in the cell suspension was adjusted (diluted) with fresh culture medium to give a cell density of 1 million cells / ml.
- 10- This adjusted cell suspension (which contains a density of 1 million cells / ml) was plated into 96-well plates (pre-coated with poly-D-lysine hydrobromide (50 μg/ml)), where 100 μl of this cell suspension was added to each well (so each well contained 0.1 million cells).
- 11- The cultures were incubated at 37°C and maintained in a humidified atmosphere under 5%  $CO_2/95\%$  air.
- 12- After 24 hours of plating,  $10 \ \mu M$  of cytosine arabinoside was added to inhibit the growth of non-neuronal cells.
- 13- Viability experiments were performed at day 8 or 9 after plating.

## 2.7 Experimental design of viability studies

## 1- Experimental design of viability studies performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity

The exact experimental protocol will be stated for each experiment in the figures of the Results section. In general the design is as follows:



## 2- Experimental design of viability studies performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity

The exact experimental protocol will be stated for each experiment in the figures of the Results section. In general the design is as follows:



## 2.8 Viability assay

In each experiment, at the end of the treatment period, the cultures were restored to a culture medium and left for 16-24 hours. The viability status of the cultures was then assessed by measuring the reduction of the Alamar blue dye, added as 10 % V/V in the medium and left for 4 hr before taking the optical density (OD) reading on a plate reader. The principle is that the more reduction of the dye is, the more viable the neurons are. The assay was performed according the instructions of the manufacturer. We will show here the steps of calculating the viability of the control and treatment groups. The steps will be shown using data obtained in a real experiment that will be shown later in the Results section (the experiment shown in Fig. 3-68 in the Results section):

1- The optical density readings for the culture plate wells were taken at two wavelengths, 540 and 595 nm. All included wells contained cells with Alamar

blue added to them as 10% V/V in the culture medium, with the exception of two wells. One of these two wells contained only culture medium but did not contain either Alamar blue or cells (a blank well), and the other well contained culture medium that contained Alamar blue as 10% V/V but did not contain cells (see Fig. 2-2).

- 2- The reading taken at 540 nm of the well that contained only 10% Alamar blue (did not contain cells) was divided by the reading taken at 595 nm of the same well. The obtained number was called the factor. From Fig. 2-2, this factor was: 0.191 / 0.479 = 0.399.
- 3- The following calculations were performed: the OD readings taken at 595 nm of the wells in the groups were averaged. From figure 2-2, the averaged OD readings at 595 were: Control group =  $(0.285 + 0.276 + 0.267 + 0.273) \div 4 = 0.275$ ; First treatment group =  $(0.439 + 0.414 + 0.408 + 0.425) \div 4 = 0.422$ ; Second treatment group =  $(0.353 + 0.356 + 0.338 + 0.362) \div 4 = 0.352$ . The average was also taken for OD readings taken at 540 nm for the wells in the groups. So, from Fig. 2-2, the averaged OD readings at 540 were: Control group =  $(0.342 + 0.338 + 0.34 + 0.347) \div 4 = 0.342$ ; First treatment group =  $(0.294 + 0.282 + 0.282 + 0.282 + 0.297) \div 4 = 0.289$ .
- 4- To obtain what is called the adjusted OD value for each group, the averaged OD reading taken at 595 nm for a group was multiplied by the factor obtained in step 2. The obtained number was subtracted from the averaged OD reading taken at 540 nm for the same group. The obtained number is the adjusted OD value for that group. So, the adjusted OD values for the groups were: Control group =  $0.342 (0.275 \times 0.399) = 0.232$ ; First treatment group =  $0.245 (0.422 \times 0.399) = 0.0766$ ; Second treatment group =  $0.289 (0.352 \times 0.399) = 0.149$ .
- 5- By obtaining the adjusted OD values, the groups can now be compared with each other. Because we wanted to express the viability of each group as % of the control group, we considered the adjusted OD value of the control group to be 100%, and we divided the adjusted OD of each treatment group by the adjusted OD value of the control group and then multiplied by 100 to get the viability value expressed as % of the control. Therefore, the viabilities of the groups were: Control = 100%, First treatment group =  $(0.0766 / 0.232) \times 100 = 33\%$ , Second treatment group =  $(0.149 / 0.232) \times 100 = 64\%$ .

6- The viability percents obtained in step 5 were those viabilities obtained in only one set of cultures (one week). Since we repeat each experiment using many sets of cultures (prepared in different weeks), we calculate the mean ± the standard error of mean (S.E.M) for the viabilities obtained in the different sets of cultures (i.e. obtained in the different weeks). In the case of the experiment shown in the Figure 3-68 in the Results section, the legend of that figure indicated that n=5, which means that that experiment was repeated in 5 different weeks. The means ± S.E.M of the viabilities obtained in the 5 different weeks for that experiment were: Control group = (100% + 100% + 100% + 100% + 100%) ÷ 5 = 100% ± zero; First treatment group = (33% + 21% + 15% + 54% + 27%) ÷ 5 = 30% ± 6.7; Second treatment group = (64% + 40% + 40% + 89% + 44%) ÷ 5 = 55.4% ± 9.5. Notice that the means ± S.E.M. obtained in this step are those shown in Figure 3-68 in the Results section.

In addition to the Alamar blue assay, the viability status of the cultures was checked by observing the morphology of the neurons under the microscope (see the Results and Discussion sections for comments on the Alamar blue assay and references therein).



**Figure 2-2: Diagram shows the Alamar blue OD readings at 540 and 595 nm for one set of an actual viability experiment.** This is the reading in one of the 5 weeks in which we repeated the experiment shown in Figure 3-68 (see the Results section). The upper diagram of the plate shows the reading at 540 nm. The lower diagram is for the same plate but with the reading taken at 595 nm.

#### **2.9 Cell-free assays**

#### **2.9.1** Cell-free detection of superoxide production

Since superoxide is known to be directly produced by the X / XO and NADH / XO combinations (see Introduction), it was of interest to confirm this in cell-free experiments. These cell-free experiments of detecting superoxide production also helped us answer many questions we faced during the progress of this project (please see the Results and Discussion sections). Two different cell-free detection methods of superoxide production were performed:

#### **1-** Cytochrome c reduction

The principle of this assay is that superoxide reduces the oxidized Cytochrome c in a SOD-inhibitable manner, where this reduction can be detected calorimetrically through observing the increase of Cytochrome c absorbance at 550 nm [*McCord and Fridovich, 1969*]. Since hydrogen peroxide (which will be directly generated from XO and will also be produced by the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide) interferes with this method, catalase has to be present in the reaction mixture. Also, EDTA is usually added in the reaction mixture to prevent the interference of metals that might be present as contaminants. In this assay, the blank was the assay solution (HEPES-sol) free of reagents.

Experiments in Fig. 3-46 and Fig. 3-47 were performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the indicated treatment groups in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that, the optical density at 550 nm was recorded on a plate reader. Experiment in Fig. 3-51 was was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the indicated treatment groups and the optical density at 550 nm was recorded on a plate reader at the indicated time points.

#### 2-XTT reduction

This is similar to Cytochrome c reduction method. Superoxide reduces XTT in a SODinhibitable manner, where this reduction results in the release of an orange product (water soluble formazan) that can be detected calorimetrically through observing the increase of its absorbance at 450 nm (maximum absorption at 570 nm) [*Ukeda et al., 1997, Benov and Fridovich, 2002*]. The advantage of this method is that, since hydrogen peroxide is unlikely to interfere with this method, catalase does not need to be added to the reaction mixture. In this assay, the blank was the reaction solution (HEPES-sol) free of reagents.

Experiment in Fig. 3-48 was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the indicated treatment groups in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that, the optical density at 450 nm was recorded on a plate reader. Experiment in Fig. 3-50 was was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the indicated treatment groups and the optical density at 450 nm was recorded on a plate reader at the indicated time points.

#### 2.9.2 Cell-free detection of hydrogen peroxide production

Since hydrogen peroxide is known to be directly produced by the X / XO and NADH / XO combinations, and will also be produced by the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide (see Introduction), we were interested to confirm that in cell-free experiments. These cell-free experiments of detecting hydrogen peroxide production also helped us answer important questions we faced during the progress of this project (please see the Results and Discussion sections).

It is observed that assay for hydrogen peroxide is difficult in systems that contain NADH, because NADH interferes with some components of some commonly used assays for hydrogen peroxide [*Rapoport et al., 1994, Votyakova and Reynolds, 2004*]. Therefore, we used one of the few suitable detection methods [*Rapoport et al., 1994*], which is principled as follows:

Catalase converts hydrogen peroxide to water, where catalase is converted in this process to the so-called compound-1. Compound-1 can convert another molecule of hydrogen peroxide intro water plus oxygen, and compound-1 in this process is converted back to catalase. Alternatively, in the presence of a suitable substrate e.g. methanol, compound-1 can convert (oxidize) methanol to formaldehyde, and compound-1 in this process is also converted back to catalase. So, catalase can work as

a peroxidase i.e. uses hydrogen peroxide to oxidize some molecules e.g. methanol. Hence, the production of formaldehyde from methanol is dependent on the presence of hydrogen peroxide. Formaldehyde can by detected calorimetrically by reacting it with Nash's reagent [*Nash*, 1953], producing a yellow product that can be detected by observing the increase of its absorbance over a wide spectrum range (400-450 nm) (we

used 405 nm) (Fig. 2-3 shows a diagram for the principle of this assay). In this assay, the blank was the reaction solution (HEPES-sol) free of reagents plus an equal volume of Nash's reagent.

The experiments were performed as follows: test cell-free tubes contained the indicated treatment compounds in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that methanol (to get 5% V/V) and catalase (to get 100 Units/ml) were added to each of these tubes and left for 10 minutes. After that an equal volume of Nash's reagent (which contains the following (in distilled water): ammonium acetate (150 mg/ml), acetic acid (0.3% V/V), acetyl acetone (0.2% V/V)) was added to each of these tubes and left for 40 minutes. After that, the mixture solutions in the test tubes were aliquoted into a 96-well plate with each mixture solution (i.e. treatment group) aliquoted into 4 wells, and then the optical density at 405 nm were taken on a plate reader. The readings of the 4 well for each group were averaged, and this average was considered n=1. Each experiment is repeated in 3 different days, and hence the figures legends of these experiments state that n=3.



Figure 2-3: A diagram shows the principle of detecting hydrogen peroxide using catalase.

## 2.10 Statistical analysis

- Figures in the Results section show the mean values, where the error bars represent standard error of mean (S.E.M).
- If comparing one test group to the control group, a one sample t test was performed, where the mean of the test group was compared to a hypothetical mean of either 100 or zero depending on the expression of the treatment group. So when we wanted to express the value of the test group as viability relative to group A (i.e. control) (%), then the hypothetical mean was 100. On the other hand, when expressing the value of the test group as improvement in viability relative to group A (%), then the hypothetical mean was zero.
- If comparing more than one test group to the control group, a one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnette's multiple comparisons was performed.

- To determine the differences among more than two groups including the control group, a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's comparisons was performed.
- In the one experiment where only selected pairs of treatment groups were compared (Results section, Fig. 3-29), a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's comparisons was performed.
- In all tests, the difference between two groups was considered significant at p ≤0.05.
- The n number that will be shown later in the figures of the Results section differs depending on whether the experiment is a viability (cell-containing) or a cell-free experiment. In viability experiments, the n number is the number of sets of cultures in which the experiment was repeated. Since every set of cultures is prepared in a separate week, this means that n=5 for example means that the experiment was repeated 5 times using 5 sets of cultures prepared in 5 different weeks. In cell-free experiments, the n number is the number of times in which the experiment was repeated using reagents diluted from the thawed aliquots of the stock solutions at each time. Since each experiment is performed in a different day, this means that n=3 for example is the number of the different days in which the experiment was repeated using reagents diluted from the thawed aliquots of the stock solutions at each day.

## **3** Results

## 3.1 Culturing and experimental conditions

#### **3.1.1** Morphology of the cultures

The culturing process produced viable CGNs. Immediately after plating, the cells were round with no processes (Fig. 3-1). After 24 hours of plating, the cells showed extended processes, and tended to migrate and group with each other (Fig. 3-2). Also at this time, many cells appeared to be dead, even before addition of the cytosine arabinoside. After 8 days in cultures, the cells showed the known characteristic morphology of cultured CGNs (Fig. 3-3).



Figure 3-1: Morphology of the cultures immediately after plating. The cells look round with no processes. Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ .



Figure 3-2: Morphology of the cultures 24 hr after plating. The cells began to show extend processes (white arrows), and tended to group with each other. Also, many dead cells were evident (black arrows). This photo was taken before adding cytosine arabinoside. Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ .



**Figure 3-3: Morphology of the cultures after 8 days of plating.** Black large arrows = cell bodies. White large arrows = processes. Also notice that most of those cells that died in the first 24 hours of plating (shown in Fig. 3-2) seemed to have disappeared, though some are still remaining (white dashed small arrows). Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ .

#### **3.1.2 Effect of the position in the plate on the viability of cultures**

In the initial stages of this project the neurons were plated into all wells in a 96-well plate (apart from the top left well and the well below it). After 8 days of plating, the neurons in the wells located at the edge of the plate (edge wells) (see Fig. 3-4) looked much stressed. The cultures in those wells did not look healthy and they contained a lot of debris. So, from the start of this project, the cultures in the edge wells were not included in the viability studies.



Figure 3-4: Diagram of a 96-well plate showing edge, next-edge, and inside wells. 1) edge wells dotted with red = 36 wells; 2) next-edge wells dotted with blue = 28 wells; 3) inside wells dotted with green = 32 wells.

In addition, since the cultures in the edge wells appeared much stressed, there was a possibility that the cultures in the wells located next to the edge wells (next-edge wells) (see Figures 3-4 and 3-5) were being affected by this effect, even though they did not appear to be stressed. So, an experiment was performed to compare the viability of the neurons in the next-edge wells with the viability of the neurons in the wells located inside the plate (inside wells) (see Figures 3-4 and 3-5). The result of this experiment is shown in Fig. 3-5.

From the upper diagram in Fig. 3-5 it is clear that the wells in both of group A and group F are next-edge wells, whereas the wells in groups B, C, D, and E are inside wells. This experiment was designed in a way that all treatment groups (A-F) were manipulated exactly the same way, leaving the only difference between them is their position in the plate (see Fig. 3-5 for the exact treatment procedure).

The result shows that, interestingly, although there was no statistically significant difference in the viability between group A and group F (the wells in these two groups are next-edge wells), there was statistically significant difference in the viability between any of the groups B, C, D, or E (the wells in these groups are inside wells) and group A (Fig. 3-5).



Figure 3-5: The effect of the position in the plate on the viability of neurons. The upper diagram shows the position of each group (where each group contained 4 wells) in the 96-well plate. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, culture medium was replaced by fresh culture medium and left for 1 hour (this was done to all groups)  $\rightarrow$  the neurons were restored (after aspirating the fresh culture medium) to also fresh culture medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay (this was done to all groups). So, the only difference between the groups was their position in the plate. This shows that neurons in next-edge wells (A & F) give slightly higher viability values than neurons in inside wells (B,C,D, and E). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).

Also when the groups in the plate were aligned vertically, there was a statistically significant difference in the viability between any of the inside groups and the next-edge group (Fig. 3-6). Importantly, there was no statistically significant difference when the viability of the inside groups were compared with each other (Fig. 3-6, see the note in the figure legend).

Therefore, the results in Figures 3-5 and 3-6 show that the cultures in the next-edge wells give consistently slightly (around 10-15 %) higher viability values (measured by Alamar blue assay) compared to the cultures in the inside wells. Also, it was noticed that this was reflected in the morphology of neurons seen under the microscope. However, it was not possible to rely on the morphological examination in this case i.e. it was not possible to judge that, based on the morphological examination, the neurons in the next-edge group looked undoubtedly more viable than the neurons in the inside groups. The reason is that, as noticed throughout this project, the morphological examination can be very helpful, and also very objective, only if the difference in the Alamar blue viability readings between two groups is high ( $\geq 20$  %), in which case there will be observed in correlation a clear difference in the morphology of the neurons. On the other hand, if the difference in the Alamar blue readings is small (as in this experiment) there will be no completely clear (although it can be noticed) difference in the morphology, and the examination under the microscope may result in a subjective judgment. So, in this case, it was not possible to decisively confirm the Alamar blue viability readings by the morphological examination.

It should be noticed that this experiment was conducted before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, and since fresh culture medium was used in this experiment, the neurons were likely affected by glutamate (already present in the fresh culture medium) excitotoxicity (see Discussion for the implication of this fact).

Since the difference in the viability reading between the next-edge group and any of the inside groups was statistically significant, and also since the difference in the viability of the inside groups (aligned vertically) when compared with each other was not statistically significant (Fig. 3-6), it was decided not to include cultures in the next-edge wells in the experiments conducted in the rest of this project, and only cultures in inside wells were included. Therefore, in the experiments conducted afterwards, the neurons were plated into only the inside wells, and a cell-free medium was added to both of the

edge wells and next-edge wells. Also in the experiments conducted afterwards, it was decided to align the treatment groups vertically, where each group contained 4 wells, which means that it was possible to use maximum of 8 treatment groups with each group containing 4 wells (Fig. 3-7).



Figure 3-6: The effect of the position in the plate on the viability of neurons with the groups aligned vertically in the 96-well plate. The upper diagram shows the position of each group (where each group contained 4 wells) in the 96-well plate. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by fresh culture medium and left for 1 hour (this was done to all groups)  $\rightarrow$  the neurons were restored (after aspirating the fresh culture medium) to also fresh culture medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay (this was done to all groups). So, the only difference between the groups was their position in the plate. Note: there was no statistically significant difference when the viabilities of the inside groups (i.e. B, C, D, and E) were compared with each other. \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).



Figure 3-7: alignment of treatment groups in the viability studies that were performed after finding that next-edge group gives higher viability values than inside groups. So, in the experiments conducted afterwards, the neurons were being plated into only the inside wells (dotted in green), and cell-free medium was being added to both of the edge wells and next-edge wells (dotted in red). Also the treatment groups were being aligned vertically, as shown, where each group contained 4 wells. Notice that both of the well at the left upper corner of the plate and the well below it were always left empty at the plating day (i.e. day zero) because they were needed for the viability assay at day 9 or 10 (see Materials and Methods).

#### 3.1.3 Toxicity of fresh culture medium

The biggest problem encountered with CGNs cultures in the early stage of this project was the severe and immediate damage to the neurons (including those in the control groups) induced, during the experimental day i.e. day 8 or 9, by manipulating the cultures (i.e. aspirating the culture medium, adding treatment and control vehicles, and adding restoration medium). Several months were spent before solving this problem, and it turned out that it was due to glutamate excitotoxicity (through activating its Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors). The source of glutamate was the fresh serum (which we were unaware of its content of glutamate) which is present at 10% V/V in the fresh culture medium that is added to the cultures at that day. Fresh culture medium addition occurred at the experimental day for two purposes; (i) as a vehicle that contains (treatment) or does not contain (control) the test compounds, and (ii) after that it is used as the restoration medium following treatment. Immediately after performing the experiment in which we discovered the role of NMDA receptors, we found an early report in the literature which showed that an NMDA receptor-mediated action, likely through the activation of these receptors by glutamate already present in the fresh serum, is responsible for fresh serum toxicity in CGNs cultures [Schramm et al., 1990]. We had, therefore, reached the same conclusion independently. In this section, there

will be shown some of the observations/experiments that either led eventually to discovering the reason of fresh culture medium toxicity or were explained only after discovering that reason. After that, there will be shown another set of experiments that were conducted in order to add more proof to the conclusion that we and others reached. Notice that the experiments whose results are shown in this section (i.e. Section **3.1.3**) were performed after finding that the neurons in next-edge wells give consistently higher viability reading than neurons in inside wells, so in these experiments only inside wells were used, which gives more validity to their results.

#### 3.1.3.1 Was fresh culture medium responsible for the death?

The culture medium did not seem to kill the neurons when they were maintained in it before the intervention day. Although there were many cells that died in the first 24 hr of plating, fresh culture medium used to plate the cultures at day zero was not suspected to cause this death for two reasons. Firstly, this culture medium is universally used to culture many types of cells including neurons, and there was no reason to suspect that it might be toxic. Secondly, it indeed did not kill the viable neurons when they were maintained in it from day 1 until the intervention day.

This was the reason that in the beginning a toxic effect of the added fresh culture medium was not suspected to cause the damage observed at the intervention day, where alternative explanations were explored at that time. One of the explanations explored was that, from day zero to the experiments day, the neurons release growth factors that in turn maintain their viability, where the neurons become dependent on those factors, and when the medium that the neurons are maintained in is aspirated at the experiments day, the neurons die due to growth factor withdrawal. However, it was not feasible to test this explanation in the context of this project.

#### 3.1.3.2 Previous projects

A strange observation was that the damage induced to the cultures at the experiments/intervention day was severe in this project but not severe in two previous projects undertaken in this laboratory [*Fatokun, 2006, Smith, 2008*]. This turned out to be related to the cell density obtained after plating at day zero (higher in this project than in these previous two projects, see Discussion).
#### **3.1.3.3 Effect of pH**

A reason for suspecting the fresh culture medium added at the experimental day as the reason for the seen cell death was the consistent observation that the damage tends to be more severe if this fresh culture medium was looking more pinkish i.e. more alkaline. The reason for the fresh culture medium getting alkaline is that this medium bottle was being opened many times (to take out the needed amount at each time), which was likely causing release of  $CO_2$  from the medium, and since bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub>-) does not get released like  $CO_2$ , this will result in the presence of more bicarbonate that is not balanced by  $CO_2$ , which will result in the increase of the medium pH.

To overcome this problem, a modification was performed by keeping the fresh culture medium in a vented cap flask i.e. permeable to gases (not a closed cap bottle as before) and keeping it in the incubator (not in the water bath as before). This meant that any  $CO_2$  that is released from medium by taking the flask out of the incubator (and opening the flask cap to take out the needed amount of medium) gets quickly replenished when the flask is returned to the incubator. This was evident by the observation that the medium colour (i.e. Phenol red colour) was kept constant all the time under this modification. This resulted in considerable improvement in the viability of cultures and made it possible to conduct reproducible experiments.

Despite the considerable improvement in the viability by the close adjustment of pH, the problem of the fresh culture medium toxicity added at the experimental day remained, and the damage was still severe. Also, there was an observation that was not possible to explain, which was that when a plate containing the cultures was placed outside the incubator for more than an hour, although this made the culture medium that the neurons were maintained in very pinkish (i.e. very alkaline) and although this also likely reduced the temperature of the cultures to the room temperature, this did not damage the neurons (at least there was no immediate damage observed). So, it seemed that although the increase in the pH per se (at day 8 or 9) of the culture medium that the neurons are maintained in does not kill the neurons, the increase in pH of the fresh culture medium added at that day potentiates its toxicity.

#### **3.1.3.4 Effect of Ethanol and Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)**

In parallel to the efforts to know the reason of cell death induced at the experimental day, there were also some experiments set out to study oxidative stress models that involved addition of different test compounds. Ethanol and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) were used at some stage as hydroxyl radical scavengers, but it was necessary to check the effect of applying them alone to CGNs before testing them against any hydroxyl radical-producing insult. So the following experiments with ethanol and DMSO were not intentionally designed to investigate fresh culture medium toxicity. Surprisingly, instead of decreasing the viability of the neurons or having no effects, increasing concentrations of ethanol or DMSO tried alone (both added as V/V in fresh culture medium) resulted in increased improvement in cell viability i.e. these compounds attenuated the toxicity of the fresh culture medium.

Ethanol at 1.5 % V/V attenuated the toxicity of fresh culture medium (Fig. 3-8). Notice that in this figure (and some other subsequent figures), the y axis is not the viability relative to group A (%), but is rather the improvement in viability relative to group A (%). Since there will be no improvement in viability of group A relative to itself, column A gives zero value, as shown (so, zero does not mean that the cultures in group A are completely dead). Although DMSO at 0.1 or 1% V/V had no effect on the toxicity of fresh culture medium (data not shown), DMSO at 5 or 10% V/V greatly attenuated the toxicity of fresh culture medium (Fig. 3-9).

It is very likely that the attenuation of fresh culture medium toxicity by these two compounds was real and was not due to an artefact in the Alamar blue viability assay, for many reasons. The attenuation of the toxicity by these two compounds was undoubtedly clear in the morphological examination e.g. when Alamar blue assay indicated that ethanol protected at 1.5% V/V more than at 0.3% V/V, it was observed in correlation under the microscope that there was undoubtedly very little damage in the 1.5% V/V group compared to the 0.3% V/V group, and that there was less damage in the 0.3% V/V group compared to the group where no ethanol was added (i.e. group A). Also, it is unlikely that Alamar blue was reacting with these compounds, since at the end of treatment period, the treatment medium that contained these compounds was aspirated and the neurons were restored to fresh culture medium for at least 16 hr of

restoration period before adding Alamar blue. It is even unlikely that Alamar blue was interfering indirectly with these compounds through interfering with their delayed effects since the neuronal damage/morphology seen under the microscope stabilized within 8 hr of the restoration period (and cells did not deteriorate or recover after that) i.e. the damage/morphology stabilized at least 8 hr before adding the Alamar blue.



Figure 3-8: Effect of ethanol on fresh culture medium toxicity. It shows that ethanol, probably through blocking NMDA receptors, protects against fresh culture medium toxicity in a dose dependent manner. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).



**Figure 3-9: Effect of DMSO on fresh culture medium toxicity.** It shows that DMSO, probably through blocking NMDA receptors, protects substantially against fresh culture medium toxicity. \*\*p<0.01. (n=3).

#### 3.1.3.5 NMDA receptors

Because it was very likely that the serendipitously discovered protection of ethanol and DMSO against fresh culture medium toxicity was real and not due to an artefact in the Alamar blue assay, it was expected that if the reason(s) of their protective effect is revealed, this may lead to identifying and solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity. After searching out the literature, it was found that ethanol can block NMDA receptors in CGNs and some other types of neurons [*Lin et al., 2003, Dildy and Leslie, 1989, Lovinger et al., 1989, Cebere and Liljequist, 2003*]. This effect of ethanol was shown

to inhibit the toxicity of NMDA [*Danysz et al., 1992, Cebere and Liljequist, 2003*]. It was also found in the literature that DMSO prevents both the action and excitotoxicity of glutamate in hippocampal neuronal cultures in a dose dependent manner [*Lu and Mattson, 2001*]. Therefore, a specific NMDA receptor blocker, MK-801 (20  $\mu$ M), was tried and found to provide substantial protection against fresh culture medium toxicity (Fig. 3-10), which was also reflected in the morphological examination (Fig. 3-11). Also MK-801 at a very low concentration (20 nM) provided large and statistically significant protection (improvement in viability relative to the viability in the absence of MK-801 was 59.4% ±10.1, p<0.05, n = 4).



**Figure 3-10: Effect of MK-801 on fresh culture medium toxicity.** It shows that MK-801, a specific NMDA receptor blocker, blocks fresh culture medium toxicity. \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).



**Figure 3-11: Photos of CGNs showing protection by MK-801 against fresh culture medium toxicity. A:** CGNs culture not subjected to any intervention (i.e. were not touched). All areas in wells in this group were as healthy as the shown area. **B:** CGNs cultures exposed to fresh culture medium at day 8 after plating: severe damage to the cell bodies and processes is evident. Notice that there were still some viable cell bodies. There were some areas in the wells (not shown) (around 20-30 % of the areas) in this group that were healthy (not damaged like the shown area). **C:** CGNs cultures exposed to fresh culture medium at day 8 after plating but with MK-801 (20  $\mu$ M) added. All areas in wells in this group were as healthy as the shown area. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. For the experimental design, see Fig. 3-10.

As mentioned at the beginning of this section, this role of NMDA receptors was discovered before finding that Schramm and co-workers (1990) reached a similar conclusion. In the following series of experiments, more proof is added.

# 3.1.3.6 Kynurenic acid

In addition to MK-801, another blocker of NMDA receptors, kynurenic acid, was tried. Kynurenic acid is an endogenous metabolite known to block NMDA receptors [*Perkins and Stone, 1982, Fatokun et al., 2008b*], and although this effect is relatively weak in cell cultures [*Hilmas et al., 2001*], the mechanism of blocking NMDA receptors by kynurenic acid is somewhat different from that of MK-801 [*Fatokun et al., 2008b*]. Thus it was useful to try it to see if protection against fresh culture medium toxicity can be provided by two different ways of blocking NMDA receptors. When tried, it provided protection in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 3-12).



**Figure 3-12: Effect of kynurenic acid (KA) on fresh culture medium toxicity**. It shows that KA, a blocker of the NMDA receptors, protects against fresh culture medium toxicity in a dose dependent manner. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=4).

# 3.1.3.7 Glutamic-pyruvic transaminase

It was thought that if glutamate already present in the fresh culture medium was responsible for its toxicity, then degrading glutamate should prevent the toxicity. When tried, a glutamate degrading enzyme, glutamic-pyruvic transaminase [Matthews et al., 2000], provided substantial protection (Fig. 3-13). Likely because this enzyme requires its other substrate, pyruvate, the enzyme alone (or pyruvate alone) was not protective, and the protection was provided only in the presence of both of the enzyme and pyruvate (Fig. 3-13). In this experiment, the treatment period (24 hr) was immediately followed by the viability assay i.e. there was no restoration period. This was done to avoid, after degrading glutamate, exposing the neurons before the viability assay to fresh culture medium (which contains glutamate). Since Alamar blue is always added to the medium around neurons, this experimental design (it does not apply to the other experiments) means that Alamar blue was present together with the test compounds (the enzyme and pyruvate). However, it is unlikely that the protection by this enzyme was due to an artefact due to interaction between Alamar blue and the enzyme (or pyruvate), for two reasons. First, the substantial protection by the enzyme was undoubtedly reflected in the morphological examination of the neurons (long before adding Alamar blue). Secondly, the enzyme alone or pyruvate alone did not show significant difference in the Alamar blue reading compared to its reading in their absence (Fig. 3-13).



Figure 3-13: Effect of glutamic-pyruvic transaminase on fresh culture medium toxicity. It shows that degrading glutamate by this enzyme substantially protects against fresh culture medium toxicity. It also shows that pyruvate is a required co-substrate for the enzyme to degrade glutamate. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).

# 3.1.3.8 Protection by pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium

Since acute pre-treatment (minutes/hours) with a subtoxic concentration of glutamate in CGNs is known to protect against a subsequent lethal exposure to glutamate itself [*Marini and Paul, 1992*] (acute preconditioning effect), and since the fresh culture medium used here contains glutamate, it was sought to see if pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium protects against a subsequent exposure to a lethal amount (full amount) of fresh culture medium itself, which can add more proof to the



Figure 3-14: Effect of pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium on the toxicity of a full amount of fresh culture medium itself. It shows that as the amount of fresh culture medium added as pre-treatment is reduced more and more, the protection against a subsequent lethal (full) mount of fresh culture medium increases. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).

# **3.1.3.9** Further investigation

The experiment shown below in Fig. 3-15 shows many things at once (notice that the y axis in this figure shows the viability relative to group A (%) (and not the improvement in viability relative to group A (%)). It shows that physical intervention (through aspirating and replacing solutions) per se does not kill the neurons, evident by that groups B and C which were subjected to physical interventions (but did not contain fresh culture medium) gave the same viability values as group A which was not subjected to any physical intervention (i.e. was not touched). Therefore, fresh culture medium (in particular glutamate already present in it) seems to be required for the neurons to die (group D). This figure also shows that 1 hr as an exposure time is enough for the fresh culture medium to cause significant toxicity (group D, notice that after 1 hr exposure, the fresh culture medium was replaced by conditioned medium). Also, it is clear from groups B and C that restoring the neurons to conditioned medium (see Materials and Methods) does not cause toxicity. This was an important finding, and in all the subsequent viability experiments in this project, the neurons were restored to conditioned medium at the end of the treatment period.



**Figure 3-15: Further investigation of fresh culture medium toxicity.** See explanation in the text. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).

#### 3.1.3.10 Externally added glutamate

Taking together, all the above experiments (in section **3.1.3**) build strong evidence that glutamate already present in fresh culture medium was responsible, through activating NMDA receptors, for this medium toxicity at the intervention day. The last experiment performed in order to add more proof to this conclusion was externally applying glutamate to the neurons, which was also a necessary experiment to show that these CGNs are indeed susceptible to glutamate excitotoxicity. When glutamate (300  $\mu$ M) was applied in a glutamate-free solution (MEM-HEPES-sol) for only 1 hr, it caused significant toxicity to the neurons (Fig. 3-16). Notice that MEM-HEPES-sol does not contain serum, which means that glutamate does not require co-application of serum for



Figure 3-16: Toxicity of externally added glutamate. It shows that glutamate when applied in glutamate-free and serum-free medium for only 1 hr can cause significant toxicity to CGNs. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

# **3.2** Oxidative stress experiments performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity

The experiments that will be shown in this section were performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, which means that the cultures (including those in the control groups) were under the influence of glutamate excitotoxicity. Also, some of these experiments were performed before finding that the neurons in next-edge wells give consistently slightly higher viability readings than the neurons in inside wells, so some of the treatment groups in these experiments contained next-edge wells. For these two reasons, it will be hard to interpret the results of these experiments. However, it was appropriate to show some of those experiments (performed in that period) that were consistent and provided some valuable information.

# 3.2.1 Examining the susceptibility of CGNs to oxidative stress insults

In the beginning it was appropriate to examine the susceptibility of CGNs to different types of oxidative stress insults.

# 3.2.1.1 Dose response curve of hydrogen peroxide toxicity

When externally applied to CGNs, hydrogen peroxide showed a dose dependent toxicity (Figure 3-17).



Figure 3-17: Dose response curve of hydrogen peroxide toxicity. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by fresh culture medium that does not contain (control) or contains hydrogen peroxide at the indicated concentrations, and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to fresh culture medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay. Notice: all treatment groups showed statistically significant difference when compared to the control group. (n=5).

# 3.2.1.2 Toxicity of the combination of xanthine and xanthine oxidase (X / XO)

The X / XO combination is known to directly generate superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, and this type of insult is known to cause damage to many types of cells (see Introduction). An experiment was performed to determine the best combination of X and XO that gives consistent and significant toxicity levels, which can be used in subsequent experiments that use X / XO as a toxicity model. It was found that a combination of X (100  $\mu$ M) and XO (0.02 Units/ml) was the best (Fig. 3-18).



**Figure 3-18: Toxicity of X / XO combinations.** The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by fresh culture medium that does not contain (control) or contains X / XO combinations at the indicated concentrations, and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to fresh culture medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay. \*p<0.05 compared to control, \*\*p<0.01 compared to control. (n=4).

#### 3.2.1.3 Toxicity of S-Nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine (SNAP)

Nitric oxide is a free radical that can exert damaging effects under some conditions. Therefore, in this experiment a nitric oxide donor, SNAP, was tried to see if CGNs are susceptible to this type of oxidative stress insult. SNAP treated for 24 hr showed a dose dependent toxicity (Fig. 3-19). However, it may be that this effect of SNAP was not due to providing nitric oxide. The reason is that the SNAP powder was dissolved in distilled water and the aliquots of the solution kept in a freezer until the experiment day. If SNAP in solution instantly generates nitric oxide (as expected), this raises the possibility that the nitric oxide, which is a short lived free radical, generated would have been long degraded before the experiment day. A better way would have been to dissolve SNAP powder and then add it to the cultures instantly (see Discussion for possible explanations for the toxicity observed with SNAP).



Figure 3-19: Dose response curve of SNAP toxicity. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=3).

# **3.2.2** Effect of different antioxidants on the toxicity of oxidative stress insults

After establishing the susceptibility of the CGNs culture to different types of oxidative stress insults, it was appropriate to examine the effect of different antioxidants on these insults.

#### 3.2.2.1 Antioxidants against hydrogen peroxide

Since hydrogen peroxide can exert its toxicity through its conversion to the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical, and since this conversion can be mediated by a metal (usually iron or copper) (see Introduction), the effect of an iron chelator on hydrogen peroxide toxicity was examined. Deferoxamine (deferox.) (also called desferrioxamine) is an iron chelator with high affinity for the oxidized form of iron i.e. Fe<sup>3+</sup> [*Keberle, 1964*]. Deferoxamine alone had no statistically significant effect on cell viability (Fig. 3-20), but showed substantial protection against hydrogen peroxide toxicity (Fig. 3-21). In this experiment, deferoxamine was present one hour before and also during the one hour treatment with hydrogen peroxide.



**Figure 3-20: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox.) alone on cell viability.** It shows that this iron chelator added alone has no significant effect on the neuronal viability. ns: not significant. (n=3).



Figure 3-21: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox.) on the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide. It shows that this iron chelator substantially protects against hydrogen peroxide toxicity. Notice that deferoxamine was present 1 hr before and also during the 1 hr application of hydrogen peroxide. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

This result of deferoxamine suggests that, without excluding other possibilities, the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide was due to its interaction with an iron ion to produce the toxic hydroxyl radical. To test the possibility of hydroxyl radical involvement, one of its known scavengers, mannitol [*Babbs and Griffin, 1989*], was tried. Although mannitol alone at 1 and 10 mM has no effect on cell viability, mannitol alone at 100 mM showed slight but statistically significant toxicity to CGNs cultures (data not shown). When mannitol was tried at 1 or 10 mM, it did not protect against hydrogen peroxide toxicity (Fig. 3-22). Although the failure of mannitol to protect can be explained by the lack of a role of hydroxyl radical in hydrogen peroxide toxicity, there are many alternative explanations (see Discussion).



**Figure 3-22: Effect of mannitol on the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide.** It shows that this hydroxyl radical scavenger could not protect against hydrogen peroxide toxicity. ns: not significant. (n=3).

# 3.2.2.2 Antioxidants against X / XO toxicity

Since, as mentioned earlier, X / XO can directly generate hydrogen peroxide and superoxide, catalase (Cat.) and SOD-1 were tried against this type of toxicity. Catalase showed almost complete protection, but SOD-1 failed to show statistically significant protection. Also, since as mentioned in the Introduction that blocking either the site of X binding or the site of NADH binding on XO prevents the oxidation of X by XO, allopurinol (a blocker of the X binding site, the Mo site) and DPI (a blocker of the NADH binding site, the FAD site) were tried against X / XO toxicity, but they failed to show statistically significant protection. The effects of catalase, SOD, allopurinol, and DPI against X / XO toxicity are shown in Fig. 3-23. Catalase, SOD, allopurinol, and

DPI had no effect on cell viability when tested alone at the used concentrations and time interval (data not shown).



**Figure 3-23: Effect of different antioxidants on X** / **XO toxicity.** It shows that catalase, likely through deactivating hydrogen peroxide, protects almost completely against X / XO toxicity. Although SOD-1 (deactivator of superoxide), allopurinol (blocker of the Mo site on XO), and DPI (blocker of the FAD site on XO) seemed to protect against this toxicity, their effects were not statistically significant. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by fresh culture medium that does not contain (control) or contains the indicated test compounds, and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to fresh culture medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay. \*\*\*p<0.001, ns: not significant. (n=5).

Since catalase showed almost complete protection, this suggests that hydrogen peroxide is a main toxic molecule responsible for X / XO toxicity, which makes this toxicity model somehow similar to the toxicity model of externally applying hydrogen peroxide. Since deferoxamine was protective against externally applied hydrogen peroxide, it was tried against X / XO toxicity. Deferoxamine at the concentration (and incubation time) that was very protective against externally applied hydrogen peroxide did not show protection against X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-24). However, when X was used at 30  $\mu$ M instead of 100  $\mu$ M, deferoxamine showed a statistically significant protection against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-25), suggesting that deferoxamine did not protect in the experiment shown in Fig. 3-24 because the toxic insult was too severe for it to provide significant protection.



Figure 3-24: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox., 1mM) on the toxicity of X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO. It shows that deferoxamine, at the concentration and incubation time that was very protective against externally applied hydrogen peroxide, could not protect against this toxicity level of X / XO combination. ns: not significant. (n=5).



Figure 3-25: Effect of deferoxamine (deferox., 1 mM) on the toxicity of X (30  $\mu$ M) / XO. It shows that when the toxicity level of X / XO (that was shown in Fig. 3-24) was reduced i.e. X was used at 30 instead of 100  $\mu$ M, deferoxamine was able to protect against this toxicity. \*p<0.05. (n=5).

Because deferoxamine is thought to be slow in getting inside the cells [*Porter et al., 1988*], the time of its pre-treatment (that was 1 hr in the experiments shown in Figures 3-24 and 3-25) was increased to see if more protection can be obtained with prolonged pre-treatment. A side experiment showed that although deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M applied alone to the neurons for 6 hr had no effect on the neurons, deferoxamine at 1 mM applied the same way showed slight but statistically significant toxicity to CGNs cultures (Fig. 3-26). Therefore, it was decided not to try prolonged pre-treatment with 1 mM deferoxamine against X / XO toxicity, and a prolonged pre-treatment with 300  $\mu$ M deferoxamine against this toxicity was tried instead. With 6 hr pre-treatment (in addition to the 1 hr co-treatment), deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M protected against X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO

(0.02 Units/ml) toxicity (Fig. 3-27). Notice that with only 1 hr pre-treatment (in addition to 1 hr co-treatment), deferoxamine at even 1 mM could not protect significantly against X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) toxicity (see again Fig. 3-24). This suggests that prolonged pre-treatment may bring more protection with deferoxamine, and this also suggests that the site of deferoxamine action is intracellular. Moreover, with 6 hr pre-treatment (in addition to 1 hr co-treatment), deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M protected even more against X / XO toxicity when the toxic insult concentration was reduced i.e. when X concentration was reduced from 100  $\mu$ M to 30  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3-28).



**Figure 3-26: Effect of prolonged application of deferoxamine (deferox.) alone on cell viability.** \*p<0.05, ns: not significant. (n=3).



Figure 3-27: Effect of prolonged pre-treatment (in addition to the 1 hr co-treatment) of deferoxamine (deferox., 300  $\mu$ M) on the toxicity of X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO. It shows that by increasing its pre-treatment time up to 6 hr, deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M was able to attenuate a toxicity level of X / XO that was not significantly attenuated by only 1 hr pre-treatment with deferoxamine at even 1 mM (see again Fig. 3-24). \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).



Figure 3-28: Effect of prolonged pre-treatment (in addition to the 1 hr co-treatment) of deferoxamine (300  $\mu$ M) on the toxicity of X (30  $\mu$ M) / XO. It shows that with both increasing the pre-treatment time up to 6 hr and reducing the toxic insult from X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO to X (30  $\mu$ M) / XO, deferoxamine brings even more and more protection. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

# **3.3 Oxidative stress experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity**

After solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, it was possible to conduct reliable experiments. In this stage of the project, it was possible to answer many of the questions stated earlier in the section on the Aim/Objectives in the Introduction. This section is divided into two main sections, the first is a comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities, and the second is a further investigation of X / XO toxicity.

In this stage, the solution used as a vehicle to add the compounds is (instead of fresh culture medium) a serum-free solution: either HEPES-sol or MEM-HEPES-sol., in order to avoid the excitotoxicity of fresh culture medium. There were two main reasons for trying two rather than only one serum-free solution as the treatment solution. First, obtaining the same effect of a compound by using two different treatment solutions adds more validity to the result (there were some cases where this was necessary, see Discussion). Second, since NADH alone at 2 mM was toxic in MEM-HEPES-sol (see later), this solution was not suitable for experiments in which there was investigation of the toxicity of XO / NADH (2 mM) combination. On the other hand, HEPES-sol was suitable for such experiments, since NADH alone at 2 mM was not toxic in this solution (see later).

Notice also that in this stage of the project, the medium to which the neurons were restored at the end of the treatment period was conditioned medium and not fresh culture medium, and this was also done to avoid the excitotoxicity of the latter.

# **3.3.1 Experimental check on the Alamar blue assay**

As mentioned earlier, there was good correlation between the Alamar blue viability assay readings and the morphological examination under the microscope. Actually, this good correlation was the reason for believing that the protection of ethanol and DMSO against fresh culture medium toxicity was real and not due to an artefact in the Alamar blue viability assay, which led eventually to discovering the reason of fresh culture medium toxicity. Alamar blue was used previously in CGNs with an incubation time between 4-6 hr, where the viability results based on this incubation time were expected to accurately reflect the viability of the cells [*White et al., 1996, Fatokun, 2006, Fatokun et al., 2007b*]. To add more validity to the assay, 4 and 6 hr incubation times were compared, to see if there is a difference between them, and if so, which one is more suitable to be used. In this experiment, there were three groups: control group, insult group, and insult with a protective compound group. The result shows that there was no statistically significant difference between the viabilities calculated at 4 hr and 6 hr Alamar blue incubation times (Fig. 3-29).



Figure 3-29: Comparison between viabilities calculated with 4 hr and 6 hr Alamar blue incubation times. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by HEPES-sol that does not contain (control) or contains the test compounds (either an insult compound or an insult compound with a protective compound), and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to conditioned medium and left for 16-24 hours  $\rightarrow$  Alamar blue was added at 10% (V/V) and left for 4 hr  $\rightarrow$  The Alamar blue readings were taken on a plate reader and the cultures were immediately returned to the incubator and left for additional two hours  $\rightarrow$  The Alamar blue readings were taken again on the plate reader. ns: not significant. (n=3).

# 3.3.2 Comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities

Since, as mentioned in the Introduction, NADH / XO toxicity has rarely been investigated previously compared to X / XO toxicity, a series of experiments were conducted to compare these two toxicity models.

### 3.3.2.1 Establishing the toxicities of the X / XO and NADH / XO combinations

X was not toxic when tried alone in MEM-HEPES-sol at 30 or 100  $\mu$ M, and it was also not toxic when tried alone in HEPES-sol at 15 or 30  $\mu$ M (data not shown). NADH alone was not toxic when tried alone at 2 mM in HEPES-sol (see later on in Fig. 3-49). When tried in MEM-HEPES-sol, NADH alone was not toxic at 1 mM but was toxic at 2 mM (Fig. 3-30). XO was not toxic when tried alone at 0.02 Units/ml either in HEPES-sol (data not shown) or MEM-HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-31).

The Combination of XO and NADH tried in MEM-HEPES-sol was toxic only when the concentration of NADH was raised up to 1 mM (Fig. 3-31). Also, when tried in HEPES-sol, the combination of XO and NADH was toxic when NADH was used at 1 mM (see for example Fig. 3-33), 1.5 mM (see later on in Fig. 3-62), or 2 mM (see later on in Fig. 3-43 and Fig. 3-54). It is noticed that the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination tends to be more severe in HEPES-sol compared to MEM-HEPES-sol, though (as mentioned) NADH alone at 2 mM was toxic in MEM-HEPES-sol but was not toxic in HEPES-sol.



**Figure 3-30: Effect of NADH alone on cell viability when applied in MEM-HEPES-sol.** \*p<0.05, ns: not significant. (n=5).

In MEM-HEPES-sol, the combinations of XO and X were toxic at X concentrations much lower than NADH, which is in agreement with previous cell-free experiments that showed that NADH is a much weaker substrate than X for bovine milk XO [*Gilbert, 1963, Liochev et al., 1989, Nakamura, 1991*]. The X / XO combinations were toxic when X was used at either 30 or 100  $\mu$ M. Although these results were consistent throughout the months, there were some variations. For example, in some cases the toxicity of X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) gave a lower toxicity level (see for example Fig. 3-36) than the toxicity level of X (30  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) combination (see for example Fig. 3-42) despite the fact that all treatment conditions (apart from the lower X concentration in the latter) were the same in the two experiments. However, this observed variation was usually between experiments, not within them, so it should not

affect the validity of the comparisons between groups within an experiment. Also this observed variation between experiments was usually between those experiments where one experiment was conducted several months after completing the other (i.e. separated by wide intervals during the year).

On the other hand, when tried in HEPES-sol, two things were noticed about the toxicities of X / XO combinations. First, these toxicities were more consistent than the toxicities of X / XO combinations tried in MEM-HEPES-sol e.g. in HEPES-sol, a combination of X (15  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) always produced a consistent toxicity level between 50 and 75% cell damage (see all figures where this combination was used at this concentration in HEPES-sol). Second, the toxicity of these combinations tended always to be more severe than when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol e.g. as mentioned above, the cell damage induced by only X (15  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) combination in HEPES-sol was never less than 50%.



Figure 3-31: Dose response of NADH / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by MEM-HEPES-sol that does not contain (control) or contains the indicated test compounds, and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to conditioned medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay. \*\*p<0.01, ns: not significant. (n=5).

# 3.3.2.2 Effects of using XO inhibitors on X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities

There are two blockable sites on XO, the X binding site (the Mo site) and the NADH binding site (the FAD site) (see Introduction). The main point behind trying XO inhibitors was, using viability studies, to reproduce previous cell-free experiments that showed that blocking the Mo site does not prevent NADH oxidation, which may have important implications in interpreting the results of studies that sought a role of XOR in some diseases. The other point behind using the enzyme inhibitors was to prove that the toxicity of X / XO and NADH / XO combinations was indeed due to the enzymatic oxidation of the substrates and not merely due to non-specific interactions between the substrates and the enzyme.

Allopurinol (100  $\mu$ M), a blocker of the Mo site on XO, when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol, failed to prevent NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-32). This failure of allopurinol was also obtained when the experiment was repeated using HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-33). Allopurinol alone was not toxic either in MEM-HEPES-sol or HEPES-sol (data not shown).



Figure 3-32: Effect of allopurinol on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in MEM-HEPESsol. It shows that blocking the Mo site on XO does not prevent NADH / XO toxicity. ns: not significant. (n=5).



Figure 3-33: Effect of allopurinol on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in HEPES-sol. It shows that also when the experiment was carried out in HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, allopurinol could not protect against NADH / XO toxicity. ns: not significant. (n=5).

On the other hand, DPI (100 nM), a blocker of the FAD site on XO, when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol, prevented the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination (Fig. 3-34), which is expected since blocking this site does indeed prevent NADH oxidation by XO (see Introduction). This protective effect of DPI was also obtained when the experiment was repeated using HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-35). DPI alone was not toxic either in MEM-HEPES-sol or HEPES-sol (data not shown).



**Figure 3-34: Effect of DPI on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol.** It shows that blocking the FAD site on XO with DPI prevents NADH / XO toxicity. \*p<0.05. (n=5).



**Figure 3-35: Effect of DPI on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol.** It shows that also when the experiment was carried out in HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, DPI protected against NADH / XO toxicity. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

The failure of allopurinol to prevent NADH / XO toxicity was not due to the failure of this compound to block the Mo site, since it was able to prevent the toxicity of the X / XO combination applied in either MEM-HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-36) or HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-37).

DPI when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol, failed to show statistically significant protection against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-38). However, when the experiment was repeated using HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, DPI showed clear, substantial, and statistically significant protection against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-39).


**Figure 3-36: Effect of allopurinol on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.** It shows that blocking the Mo site on XO with allopurinol prevents X / XO toxicity. (n=5).



Figure 3-37: Effect of allopurinol on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. It shows that also when the experiment was carried out in HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, allopurinol prevented X / XO toxicity. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).



Figure 3-38: Effect of DPI on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol. It shows that blocking the FAD site on XO with DPI, although tended to produce protection against the toxicity of X / XO combination applied in this treatment solution, could not produce statistically significant protection. ns: not significant. (n=5).



Figure 3-39: Effect of DPI on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. It shows that when the experiment was performed in HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, DPI produced substantial and statistically significant protection against X / XO toxicity. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

# 3.3.2.3 Effects of SOD against X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities

Since superoxide is known to be directly generated from X / XO and NADH / XO combinations (see Introduction), these two systems of toxicity were compared in their responses to treatment with SOD-1 (Copper,Zinc-SOD) (which deactivates superoxide by converting two molecules of it into one molecule of hydrogen peroxide plus oxygen). SOD-1 alone at 300 Units/ml was not toxic either in HEPES-sol or MEM-HEPES-sol (data not shown).

When tried in HEPES-sol, SOD-1 (300 Units/ml) failed to protect against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-40). Also, when tried in HEPES-sol, Tiron, a known superoxide scavenger [*Greenstock and Miller, 1975, Hassan et al., 1980*], failed to protect against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-41). Tiron alone was not toxic (data not shown). The failure of SOD-1 was also obtained when the experiment was performed in MEM-HEPES-sol instead of HEPES-sol (Fig. 3-42).



Figure 3-40: Effect of SOD-1 on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. ns: not significant. (n=5).



Figure 3-41: Effect of Tiron on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. It shows that like SOD-1, the superoxide scavenger, Tiron, has no effect on X / XO toxicity. ns: not significant. (n=3).



Figure 3-42: Effect of SOD-1 on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol. It shows that also when the experiment was performed in MEM-HEPES-sol instead of HEPES-sol, SOD-1 had no effect on X / XO toxicity. ns: not significant. (n=5).

When tried in HEPES-sol, SOD-1 at either 300 (data not shown) or only 3 Units/ml (Fig. 3-43) was substantially protective against NADH / XO toxicity. This was interesting because, as mentioned above, most previous cell cultures studies found no protection with SOD-1 co-treatment against X / XO toxicity. Also when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol instead of HEPES-sol, SOD-1 at 300 Units/ml (it was not tried at 3 Units/ml in this solution) was protective against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-44).



Figure 3-43: Effect of SOD-1 on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. It shows that, although failed to protect against X / XO toxicity, SOD-1 substantially protected against NADH / XO toxicity. \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).



**Figure 3-44: Effect of SOD-1 on NADH / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.** It shows that also when the experiment was performed in MEM-HEPES-sol instead of HEPES-sol, SOD-1 protected against NADH / XO toxicity. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

To make sure that the protection with SOD-1 against NADH / XO toxicity was due to its elimination (dismutation) of superoxide and not due to any of the known non-specific actions of SOD-1 (see Discussion), two additional experiments were conducted. In the first experiment, Mn-SOD, which is known to be free of at least some of the known non-specific actions of SOD-1 [*Sankarapandi and Zweier, 1999, Liochev and Fridovich, 2000*], was tried at 3 Units/ml against NADH / XO toxicity, where it was as protective as SOD-1 (data not shown). In the second experiment, Tiron, which is (as mentioned above) a known superoxide scavenger, was tried in HEPES-sol, and showed substantial protection against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-45) (though Tiron is also known to be (among other actions) an effective chelator of some metals including iron

and molybdenum [*Fridovich and Handler, 1962*], an activity that can not be ruled out as the reason for its protection).



Figure 3-45: Effect of Tiron on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. It shows that like SOD-1, although failed to protect against X / XO toxicity, Tiron substantially protected against NADH / XO toxicity. \*\*p<0.01. (n=3).

The failure of SOD-1 and Tiron to protect against X / XO toxicity is unlikely to be because superoxide was not generated from the X / XO combination, since (as mentioned before) this radical is known to be directly generated from the X / XO combination. Also, in a cell-free experiment where Cytochrome c was used as a detection molecule (see Materials and Methods), X / XO combination generated superoxide, whereas this radical was barely detected in the presence of SOD-1 (Fig. 346) (also see later on in Fig. 3-50 and Fig. 3-51 where the time course of superoxide generation is shown).



Figure 3-46: Cell-free detection (using Cytochrome c reduction method) of superoxide generation by the X / XO combination in the HEPES-sol. It shows that, as expected, the X / XO combination generates superoxide. The experiment was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the treatment groups in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that, the optical density at 550 nm was recorded on a plate reader. Deferoxamine and EDTA were included in the mixture to suppress any unwanted reactions of possibly contaminating traces of metals. Catalase is included because hydrogen peroxide, which will be produced in the system, interferes with the assay. The signal observed in the first group (the mixture only group) is expected, since oxidized Cytochrome c should give such a signal. (n=3).

The protection of SOD-1, Mn-SOD, and Tiron against NADH / XO toxicity suggests that superoxide generated from this combination plays a role in the toxicity. Superoxide, as mentioned above, does indeed get generated directly from the NADH / XO combination. Unfortunately, it was not possible to confirm this generation in cell-free experiments, because NADH added alone interfered with the two cell-free detection assays of superoxide that were tried here. So, NADH added alone (without XO) caused increase in Cytochrome c signal. This reduction of Cytochrome c was partially inhibited by SOD-1 (Fig. 3-47). This suggests either that superoxide was generated spontaneously from NADH in the HEPES-sol and was then detected by Cytochrome c or that

Cytochrome c was interacting with NADH where superoxide was generated from such interaction, which was then detected by Cytochrome c.



**Figure 3-47: Cell-free experiment showing the effect of NADH alone (without XO) on Cytochrome c (Cyt c) signal in the HEPES-sol.** The experiment was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the treatment groups in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that, the optical density at 550 nm was recorded on a plate reader. (n=3).

Also, when another cell-free detection method of superoxide was tried, the reduction of XTT (see Materials and Methods), NADH added alone (without XO) caused substantial reduction of XTT. This reduction of XTT was completely prevented in the presence of SOD-1 (Fig. 3-48). Again, this suggests either that superoxide was generated spontaneously from NADH in the HEPES-sol and was then detected by XTT or that XTT was interacting with NADH where superoxide was generated from such interaction, which was then detected by XTT. One way to test for that was to see the effect of adding XTT and NADH to cells. In a viability experiment, it was clear that XTT was not acting as just an innocent detector of superoxide, but rather was interacting with NADH to cause substantial damage, likely through generating ROS, to the neurons (Fig. 3-49) (notice that in this viability experiment, XTT or NADH were

not toxic when added alone, but when added together, they caused severe damage to the neurons).



**Figure 3-48: Cell-free experiment showing the reduction of XTT by NADH alone (without XO) in HEPES-sol.** The experiment was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the treatment groups in HEPES-sol and left for 1 hr. After that, the optical density at 450 nm was recorded on a plate reader. (n=3).



**Figure 3-49: Effect of NADH and XTT applied alone or in combination in HEPES-sol on the cell viability.** It shows that the superoxide detector, XTT, interacts with NADH to cause, probably through generating ROS, severe damage to the neurons. \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).

# 3.3.2.4 Effects of catalase against X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities

Since hydrogen peroxide is known to be directly generated from X / XO and NADH / XO combinations (see Introduction), these two systems of toxicity were compared in their responses to treatment with catalase (which deactivates hydrogen peroxide by converting it into water and oxygen). Catalase alone at 300 Units/ml was not toxic to neurons either in HEPES-sol or MEM-HEPES-sol (data not shown).

In the early viability experiments with catalase, it was used at 300 Units/ml. however, some reports in the literature showed that some commercial preparations of catalase are

contaminated with significant amount of SOD [Halliwell, 1973, Liochev and Fridovich, 1989], so it was necessary to check if the preparation of catalase used here is also contaminated with SOD activity. Using the cell-free XTT reduction as a detection method of superoxide generation in X / XO system, catalase at 3 Units/ml did not seem to contain significant contamination of SOD activity. However, catalase at 300 or 1000 Units/ml seemed to contain significant contamination of SOD activity was also confirmed by the other detection method of superoxide, the Cytochrome c reduction method (Fig. 3-51) (notice that contamination of catalase at 300 Units/ml by SOD activity could not be verified in this Cytochrome c experiment because catalase at 300 Units/ml was an essential component of the reaction mixture used to prevent interference of hydrogen peroxide with the assay (see Materials and Methods)). Therefore, only those viability experiments where catalase was used at no more than 3 Units/ml will be presented in this section.



Figure 3-50: Cell-free XTT reduction assay showing the time course of superoxide production by the X / XO combination in HEPES-sol. It shows the contamination of catalase with some SOD activity. The experiment was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the treatment groups and the optical density was recorded on a plate reader at the indicated time points. Notice that by 10 minutes after starting the reactions, superoxide generation ceased. The readings are the averages of two repeats of the experiment (every repeat conducted in a different day), where both of the repeats gave very similar readings. Notice that (unfortunately) the first readings were taken after 7 minutes of starting the reaction, by which the superoxide production was approaching its completion. This delay was due to the time required (after starting the reactions in test tubes) for aliqouting the mixture solutions into a 96-well plate, and then taking the readings on the plate reader. To observe the initial enzyme kinetics, the groups can be measured individually in a spectrophotometer with a single cuvette.



**Figure 3-51: Cell-free Cytochrome c reduction assay showing the time course of superoxide production by the X / XO combination in HEPES-sol.** It shows the contamination of catalase (1000 Units/ml) with some SOD activity. The experiment was performed as follows: test cell-free wells contained the treatment groups and the optical density was recorded on a plate reader at the indicated time points. The signal at trace 1 is expected, since oxidized Cytochrome c should give such a signal. Notice that by 10 minutes after starting the reactions, as it was the case in the XTT reduction assay shown in Fig. 3-50, superoxide generation ceased. The readings are the averages of two repeats of the experiment (every repeat conducted in a different day), where both of the repeats gave very similar readings. For the explanation for why the first readings were not taken until 7 minuters of starting the reactions, please see Fig. 3-50.

In viability experiments, when tried in HEPES-sol, catalase (3 Units/ml) offered complete protection against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-52). Also, when tried in MEM-HEPES-sol, catalase (up to 3 Units/ml) showed protection against X / XO toxicity in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 3-53). When tried in HEPES-sol, catalase (3 Units/ml) offered complete protection against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-54) (catalase was not tried in MEM-HEPES-sol against NADH / XO toxicity).



Figure 3-52: Effect of catalase on X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. \*\*\*p<0.01. (n=4).



Figure 3-53: Effect of catalase on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol. The experiment was performed as follows: at day 8 or 9 after plating, the culture medium was replaced by MEM-HEPES-sol that does not contain (control) or contains the indicated test compounds, and left for 1 hour  $\rightarrow$  the neurons in all groups (including control) were restored to conditioned medium and left for 16-24 hours until the viability assay. \*\*\*p<0.001, ns: not significant. (n=5).



Figure 3-54: Effect of catalase on NADH / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=3).

As seen, the viability experiments with catalase show its ability to offer complete protection against both of the toxicity systems i.e. X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities. This suggests that hydrogen peroxide plays a central role in both of the toxicity systems. Hydrogen peroxide does indeed get generated directly from X / XO and NADH / XO combinations, and should also be produced from the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide which is directly generated from these combinations (see Introduction).

To confirm the production of hydrogen peroxide, some cell-free experiments were conducted. There was also another reason for measuring hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the systems. In the case of NADH / XO toxicity, since

catalase, likely through deactivating hydrogen peroxide, provided complete protection against the toxicity, it was expected that SOD-1 and Mn-SOD (which convert superoxide to hydrogen peroxide) should potentiate the toxicity (or at least have no effect) rather than preventing it as observed. A possible explanation for this paradox is that the NADH / XO toxicity was due to a superoxide-dependent hydrogen peroxideaccumulating free radical chain reaction where adding SOD to such a reaction can, although by converting superoxide to hydrogen peroxide, block the hydrogen peroxideaccumulating chain reaction from the start, and hence prevent much larger and toxic production/accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the system (see Discussion). In a cellfree experiment conducted to detect hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the NADH / XO system, adding SOD-1 (3 Units/ml) seemed to potently inhibit hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the system (Fig. 3-55), which gives support to the proposed explanation for the above mentioned paradox. Using the same assay, SOD-1 at either 3 or 300 Units/ml did not seem to influence hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in X / XO system, whereas allopurinol (used to confirm the enzymatic oxidation of X) potently inhibited this production/accumulation (Fig. 3-56). degree of inhibition Almost exactly the same of hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the NADH / XO system by SOD-1 was also observed when the reaction was carried out in a HEPES-free solution (Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline (DPBS)) instead of HEPES-sol (data not shown).



**Figure 3-55: Cell-free catalase-based assay of hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation from the NADH / XO combination.** It shows that SOD-1 decreases hydrogen peroxide accumulation in NADH / XO system. The reactions were carried in HEPES-sol. (n=3).



Figure 3-56: Cell-free catalase-based assay of hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation from the X / XO combination. It shows that SOD-1 does not influence hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in X / XO system, whereas allopurinol (used to confirm the enzymatic oxidation of X) potently inhibited this production/accumulation of hydrogen peroxide. The reactions were carried in HEPES-sol. (n=3).

### 3.3.2.5 Role of metals in X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities

Since the viability experiments indicated the involvement of hydrogen peroxide in X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities and indicated the involvement of superoxide in NADH / XO toxicity, and since hydrogen peroxide and superoxide can exert their toxic effects through interacting with some metals (see Introduction), a series of experiments were conducted in order to investigate the involvement of metals in the studied toxicity systems.

Deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M was not toxic to CGNs when applied alone in MEM-HEPESsol as a 3 hr pre-treatment (data not shown). In MEM-HEPES-sol, when deferoxamine was applied to CGNs as pre-treatment for 3 hr, removed, and replaced by X / XO combination, it provided protection against the toxicity of this combination (Fig. 3-57). When the experiment was repeated but with only 15 minutes deferoxamine pretreatment instead of 3 hr, it failed to protect (data not shown). This suggests that deferoxamine was exerting its protective effect intracellularly and also suggests that this chelator, as expected, needs relatively long pre-treatment time to get inside the cells.



**Figure 3-57: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment on X / XO toxicity in MEM-HEPES-sol.** Notice that deferoxamine was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

Although the above experiment with deferoxamine involved pre-treating neurons for 3 hr and then treating for 1 hr in a serum-free medium, it is unlikely that withdrawing the serum from the neurons for 4 hr per se was causing damage because the neurons in the control group were looking healthy. Also, in a separate experiment, serum withdrawal for 4 hr did not cause statistically significant damage to the neurons (the viability of neurons withdrawn from serum for 4 hr was  $93.5\% \pm 3$  of the control neurons (i.e. not withdrawn from serum), p>0.05, n = 4). When serum was withdrawn for 24 hr, there was a small but statistically significant damage to the neurons (the viability of neurons withdrawn from serum for 24 hr was  $84.4\% \pm 4.3$  of the control neurons (i.e. not withdrawn from serum), p<0.05, n = 5).

When the experiment with deferoxamine pre-treatment for 3 hr was repeated but with the toxic insult applied in HEPES-sol instead of MEM-HEPES-sol, deferoxamine also protected against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-58). Notice that in this experiment, deferoxamine was applied in MEM-HEPES-sol as pre-treatment before removing it and replacing it by the toxic insult applied in HEPES-sol. The reason for using MEM-HEPES-sol as the pre-treatment solution is that HEPES-sol contains low potassium concentration, and low potassium solutions might cause damage to the cells if applied to them for a relatively prolonged time as for the pre-treatment time in this experiment. MEM-HEPES-sol was therefore preferred as the pre-treatment solution in this and other experiments.

When the neurons were pre-treated for 3 hr with deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M, it failed to protect against NADH / XO toxicity (data not shown). However, when the neurons were pre-treated for 3 hr with deferoxamine at 1 mM, it protected against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-59).



Figure 3-58: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment (in MEM-HEPES-sol) on the toxicity of X / XO combination applied in HEPES-sol. Notice that deferoxamine was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).

The foregoing results show that deferoxamine, if applied as pre-treatment at the appropriate concentration and time interval, can protect against X / XO toxicity and also against NADH / XO toxicity, which suggests that intracellular iron ion plays a role in the damage observed in these two systems. Alternatively, deferoxamine pre-treatment may have been protective by blocking intracellular peroxynitrite-mediated effects [*Bartesaghi et al., 2004*], where peroxynitrite can be produced from reaction between superoxide (produced by XO or other sources) and nitric oxide produced by endogenous nitric oxide synthase. To test this possibility, L-NAME (1 mM), a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor [*Patel et al., 1996, Gunasekar et al., 1995*], was used as pre-treatment for 1 hr to inhibit intracellular nitric oxide-mediated peroxynitrite production, but it failed to offer

protection against either NADH / XO or X / XO toxicities. So, in NADH / XO toxicity, the viability of neurons insulted by NADH (1 mM) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) was 39.7%  $\pm$  3.8 of the control neurons, and the viability of neurons pre-treated with L-NAME (1 mM) before applying the insult was 41%  $\pm$  1.2 of the control neurons; the P value for the difference between the insult and the insult with L-NAME pre-treatment was > 0.05; n = 3. In X / XO toxicity, the viability of neurons insulted by X (15  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) was 36.3%  $\pm$  9.3 of the control neurons, and the viability of neurons pre-treated with L-NAME (1 mM) before applying the insult was 32.3%  $\pm$  6.1 of the control neurons; the P value for the difference between the insult and the insult and the insult was 32.3%  $\pm$  6.1 of the control neurons; the P value for the difference between the insult and the insult and the insult with L-NAME pre-treatment was > 0.05; n = 3. L-NAME alone was not toxic (data not shown). Therefore, the failure of L-NAME pre-treatment to protect against either NADH / XO or X / XO toxicities argues against the blockade of peroxynitrite-mediated effects as the mechanism of protection by deferoxamine pre-treatment.



**Figure 3-59: Effect of deferoxamine pre-treatment (in MEM-HEPES-sol) on the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination applied in HEPES-sol.** Notice that deferoxamine was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*\*p<0.01. (n=5).

It is commonly observed that traces of metals do often contaminate solutions used in cell culture studies. Also, some commercial preparations of XO are known to be contaminated with iron ion (which is different from iron that is an integral part of XO) [*Britigan et al., 1990, Vile and Winterbourn, 1986*]. Thus, a series of experiments were conducted in order to investigate the involvement of metal contaminants in the extracellular solutions (or contaminating XO) in the toxicity of X / XO and NADH / XO combinations. In the case of NADH / XO toxicity in particular, there was another reason for suspecting the involvement of an extracellular metal contaminant in the toxicity, which was the observed protection by SOD. Since SOD-1 and Mn-SOD were likely producing their protective effects through an extracellular action, and since superoxide can exert its toxicity through some sort of a reaction with metals (see Introduction), an extracellular toxic interaction between superoxide (generated extracellularly from NADH / XO combination) and an extracellular metal contaminant was suspected. Two metal chelators were tried, ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA, a non specific cation chelator [*Hutcheson et al., 2004*]) and deferoxamine.

Deferoxamine (300  $\mu$ M) was pre-incubated with XO for 3 hr in HEPES-sol in a test tube (this pre-incubation time was without any contact with CGNs). After the 3 hr, NADH was added to the solution in the test tube (to start the reaction) and the whole mixture (which contains NADH, XO, and deferoxamine) was applied to CGNs. Deferoxamine, when tried this way, failed to protect against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-60) (notice that the volume of HEPES-sol containing deferoxamine and XO before adding NADH was 95% of its volume after adding NADH).

When the experiment was repeated exactly but with using EDTA (at 2  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3-61), 20  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3-62), or 200  $\mu$ M (data not shown)) instead of deferoxamine, it protected against NADH / XO toxicity. Interestingly, EDTA lost its protective effect when XO was omitted from the solution that was pre-incubated for 3 hr with EDTA. In other words, EDTA (20  $\mu$ M) was pre-incubated for 3 hr in HEPES-sol (without XO) in a test tube (again, this pre-incubation time was without any contact with CGNs). After the 3 hr, both XO and NADH were added to the solution in the test tube (to start the reaction) and the whole mixture (which contains NADH, XO, and EDTA) was applied to CGNs. With this protocol, EDTA no longer protected against NADH / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-63) (notice that the volume of the EDTA-containing HEPES-sol before adding XO and NADH was more than 90% of its volume after adding XO and NADH).



**Figure 3-60: Effect of deferoxamine co-treatment on NADH / XO toxicity. Notice:** in column C, HEPES-sol including XO was pre-incubated with deferoxamine for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then NADH was added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including deferoxamine, NADH, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure (notice that the volume of HEPES-sol containing deferoxamine and XO before adding NADH was 95% of its volume after adding NADH). The same was done to column B but without deferoxamine, and the same was done to column A but without either deferoxamine or the toxic insult. ns: not significant. (n=5).



**Figure 3-61: Effect of EDTA (2 \muM) co-treatment on NADH / XO toxicity. Notice:** in column C, HEPES-sol including XO was pre-incubated with EDTA for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then NADH was added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including EDTA, NADH, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure. The same was done to column B but without EDTA, and the same was done to column A but without either EDTA or the toxic insult. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).



**Figure 3-62: Effect of EDTA (20 \muM) co-treatment on NADH / XO toxicity.** NADH was used here at 1.5 mM just to show that even at higher toxicity level EDTA is still able to provide substantial protection against NADH / XO toxicity. **Notice:** in column C, HEPES-sol including XO was pre-incubated with EDTA for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then NADH was added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including EDTA, NADH, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure. The same was done to column B but without EDTA, and the same was done to column A but without either EDTA or the toxic insult. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).



Figure 3-63: Effect of EDTA (20  $\mu$ M) co-treatment when it was not pre-incubated with XO on the toxicity of NADH / XO combination. Notice: in column C, HEPES-sol (not including XO) was pre-incubated with EDTA for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then both XO and NADH were added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including EDTA, NADH, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure (notice that the volume of the EDTA-containing HEPES-sol before adding XO and NADH was more than 90% of its volume after adding XO and NADH). The same was done to column B but without EDTA, and the same was done to column A but without either EDTA or the toxic insult. ns: not significant. (n=5).

The effects of deferoxamine and EDTA co-treatments were also investigated against the toxicity of the X / XO combination. Deferoxamine at 300  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3-64) or EDTA at 2, 20, or 200  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3-65) was pre-incubated with XO for 3 hr in HEPES-sol in a test tube (again, this pre-incubation time was without any contact with CGNs). After the 3 hr, X was added to the solution in the test tube (to start the reaction) and the whole mixture (which contains X, XO, and the chelating agent) was applied to CGNs. Neither deferoxamine nor EDTA, when tried this way, was able to protect against X / XO

toxicity. Notice that neither deferoxamine (300  $\mu$ M) nor EDTA (200  $\mu$ M), when tried alone this way, was toxic to CGNs (data not shown).



Figure 3-64: Effect of deferoxamine co-treatment on X / XO toxicity. Notice: in column C, HEPES-sol including XO was pre-incubated with deferoxamine for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then X was added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including deferoxamine, X, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure. The same was done to column B but without deferoxamine, and the same was done to column A but without either deferoxamine or the toxic insult. ns: not significant. (n=5).



**Figure 3-65:** Effect of EDTA co-treatment on X / XO toxicity. X was used here at 10 instead of 15  $\mu$ M just to show that even at lower toxicity level EDTA was not able to provide any protection against X / XO toxicity (also when X was used at 15  $\mu$ M, EDTA (200  $\mu$ M) could not protect (data not shown)) . Notice: in columns E, D, and C, HEPES-sol including XO was pre-incubated with EDTA at the shown concentrations for 3 hr (notice that this 3 hr pre-incubation was in a test tube without any contact with the CGNs cultures) and then X was added to the solution (to initiate the reaction), and then the mixture (including EDTA, X, and XO) was applied to the neurons as shown in the figure. The same was done to column B but without EDTA, and the same was done to column A but without either EDTA or the toxic insult. ns: not significant. (n=5).

#### 3.3.2.6 Role of extracellular hydroxyl radical in NADH / XO and X / XO toxicities

Since SOD-1 (and Mn-SOD), catalase, and EDTA co-treatments protected against NADH / XO toxicity, there is a possibility that the toxicity was due to a Fenton reaction where hydrogen peroxide generated extracellularly was interacting with an extracellular contaminating metal (where this reaction can be mediated by superoxide) to produce the

very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical. However, the treatment solutions used i.e. HEPES-sol and MEM-HEPES-sol contain at least two hydroxyl radical scavengers: HEPES (at 20 mM in HEPES-sol and 25 mM in MEM-HEPES-sol) and glucose (at 3 mM in HEPES-sol and 5 mM in MEM-HEPES-sol). This argues against the involvement of extracellular hydroxyl radical in the toxicity of either NADH / XO or X / XO combinations. To confirm or refute this, three additional hydroxyl radical scavengers were tried: mannitol, ethanol, and DMSO. None of these three compounds was toxic to CGNs when tried alone at 20 mM (data not shown). However, none of these three compounds was able to provide protection against NADH / XO (Fig. 3-66) or X / XO (Fig. 3-67) toxicity.



**Figure 3-66: Effect of co-treatment with hydroxyl radical scavengers on NADH / XO toxicity.** ns: not significant. (n=3).



**Figure 3-67: Effect of co-treatment with hydroxyl radical scavengers on X / XO toxicity.** ns: not significant. (n=3).

# 3.3.3 Further investigation of X / XO toxicity

In addition to investigating the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination (which was rarely investigated in previous studies) and comparing it to the well investigated toxicity of the X / XO combination, another aim of this project was to address specific questions regarding those aspects of X / XO toxicity where there is uncertainties about them (see the section on Aim/Objectives in the Introduction). Some of these questions were addressed in the previous section (e.g. the possibility that XO is contaminated with iron/metal).
Another aspect of further investigation was the role of superoxide in X / XO toxicity. It was shown in the previous section that SOD-1 and Tiron failed to protect against X / XO toxicity despite the fact that the cell-free experiments showed that superoxide does indeed get generated from X / XO combination. The complete protection found with catalase indicates that hydrogen peroxide was a main toxic molecule in X / XO toxicity. Also, intracellular superoxide was shown previously to mediate the toxicity of extracellularly generated/applied hydrogen peroxide, though this was shown in tissue cultures other than CGNs [*Ito et al., 1992, Kyle et al., 1988, Hiraishi et al., 1994*]. For these reasons, there is a possibility that intracellular superoxide is involved in the X / XO toxicity in CGNs cultures used here, and that the failure of SOD-1 and Tiron to protect was due to both the failure of SOD-1 (and Tiron at the used concentration and study design) to enter the cells and also the failure of superoxide generated from X / XO combination to enter the cells.

Tiron, although it failed to protect against X / XO toxicity when it was applied as cotreatment at 50 µM (see earlier), was tried here as pre-treatment for 3 hr at 2 mM, aiming to give it a chance to get inside the neurons in high amount. When tried alone this way, Tiron was not toxic (data not shown). When tried this way, Tiron provided protection against X (15 µM) / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-68) or X (10 µM) / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-69). This suggests that, as suspected, intracellular superoxide might be involved in the toxicity of X / XO combination. However, it is not possible to rely heavily on the Tiron result alone, because there is a possibility that this compound was producing its protective effect through a mechanism different from scavenging intracellular superoxide e.g. chelating some intracellular metals [Fridovich and Handler, 1962]. Another way to test the involvement of intracellular superoxide in X / XO toxicity was through inhibiting intracellular SOD-1, where this inhibition should potentiate the X / XO toxicity if intracellular superoxide was mediating this toxicity. Diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC) was tried, which is a known and cell permeable inhibitor of SOD-1 (but of low specificity) [Ito et al., 1992, Hiraishi et al., 1994, Blum and Fridovich, 1983, Benov and Fridovich, 1996]. DDC pre-treated alone was not toxic (data not shown). The neurons were pre-treated with DDC at 50 µM for 1 hr before removing it and replacing it with X / XO combination, but DDC failed to show statistically significant potentiation of the toxicity (Fig. 3-70).



Figure 3-68: Effect of Tiron pre-treatment on the toxicity of X (15  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) combination. Notice that Tiron was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*p<0.05. (n=5).



Figure 3-69: Effect of Tiron pre-treatment on the toxicity of X (10  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) combination. Notice that Tiron was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*p<0.05. (n=4).



**Figure 3-70: Effect of diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC) pre-treatment on X / XO toxicity.** Notice that DDC was removed before applying the toxic insult. ns: not significant. (n=3).

The results with Tiron pre-treatment, deferoxamine pre-treatment, and catalase cotreatment (and also the results of many previous studies [*Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler et al., 1985*]) suggest that the toxicity of X / XO combination was due to hydrogen peroxide generated in the extracellular space and then entering the neurons and participating in a Fenton reaction with an intracellular iron (where this reaction was likely mediated by intracellular superoxide) to produce the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical (or a similar species). The failure of co-treatment with the hydroxyl radical scavengers tried in the previous section (mannitol, ethanol, and DMSO), although might argue against the involvement of extracellular hydroxyl radical in X / XO toxicity, does not necessarily mean that intracellular hydroxyl radical was not involved. Therefore it was decided to use different hydroxyl radical scavengers (mannitol, ethanol, DMSO, and others) as pretreatment (to give them a chance to accumulate inside the cells) before applying the X / XO combination. As a start, a compound called α-(4-Pyridyl N-oxide)-N-tertbutylnitrone (POBN) was tried, which has the ability to scavenge hydroxyl radical (but also many other free radicals) [Mottley et al., 1986, Pérez and Cederbaum, 2001, Reinke et al., 1994]. POBN is a member of a large group of compounds called spin traps, which are used essentially as detectors of free radicals, where a spin trap can react with a free radical (e.g. hydroxyl radical) to produce a new species (a more stable secondary radical) that can be detected by a method called electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy [Reinke et al., 1994, Tarpey and Fridovich, 2001]. In theory (which was also shown in some viability studies), since these detect free radicals by scavenging them, they might protect tissues from insults that involve generation of toxic free radicals. When POBN was applied alone as pre-treatment, it was not toxic to CGNs (data not shown). When the neurons were pre-treated with POBN at 20 mM for 1hr before removing it and replacing it by the X / XO combination, instead of protecting, it potentiated the toxicity (Fig. 3-71). Surprisingly, when POBN was applied as cotreatment rather than pre-treatment, it produced the opposite effect, showing significant protection against X / XO toxicity (Fig. 3-72) (see Discussion for possible explanations for these opposite effects).





Figure 3-71: Effect of POBN pre-treatment on the toxicity of X / XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol. Notice that POBN was removed before applying the toxic insult. \*p<0.05. (n=5).



Figure 3-72: Effect of POBN co-treatment on the toxicity of X  $\ /$  XO combination in MEM-HEPES-sol. \*\*\*p<0.001. (n=5).

# **4** Discussion

## 4.1 Culturing and experimental conditions

Please notice that some detailed discussion of the justification of using neurons and CGNs in particular was mentioned in the Introduction (section **1.5**, pages 43 & 44).

### 4.1.1 Neuronal morphology

The culturing process produced viable CGNs. The cells appeared immediately after plating as round cells. In the first 24 hr of plating, the neurons started to grow processes, and also started to migrate and group with each other. On the other hand, many cells died in the first 24 hr of plating, even before adding the cytosine arabinoside. There is more than one possibility for this death. First, it is possible that these cells died as a result of physical damage in the isolation process i.e. the death was due to: chopping with the blade, trypsin treatment, trituration, etc. An attempt was undertaken here to assess the viability of the neurons immediately after isolation (and before plating) by using the Trypan blue exclusion test (see Introduction for the principle of this test), and it was found that most of the cells were viable (data were not shown). However, this test was not clear at all when tried. Neither the dead cells were clearly obtaining the dye, nor were the viable cells clearly excluding it. The presence of serum and/or some debris might have caused this obscurity in observing the uptake/exclusion of Trypan blue by cells. Therefore, it was not possible to prove or rule out this possibility as the reason for the neuronal death, though it might be at least partially responsible.

The second explanation for the death is that, since the fresh culture medium used in the culturing process contains glutamate, it might have been due to glutamate excitotoxicity after exposure to this medium. However, this is unlikely, since it was shown that glutamate does not cause toxicity to CGNs at this early stage [*Frandsen and Schousboe*, *1990*] (also see later). The third explanation, which might contribute (at least partially), is that the majority of dead cells may did not necessarily die immediately after dissociation from brain, but rather they may have died gradually in the first 24 hr of plating, where the cells (neurons and non-neuronal cells) that died are those ones which

could not stand the culturing shock/stress induced by placing them in a new and strange environment drastically different from their normal in vivo environment.

After 8 days in culture, the neurons exhibited a normal phenotype, and showed the known characteristic morphology of cultured CGNs [*Peng et al., 1991, Parks et al., 1991*], where most of those cells that died in the first 24 hr of plating disappeared. The cytosine arabinoside added after 24 hr of plating should have ensured that most of the cells present after 8 days in culture are neurons. Also, the neuronal nature of these CGNs cultures, as well as the absence of a significant number of glial cells, was confirmed by immunocytochemistry in a previous project undertaken in this laboratory [*Smith, 2008*].

### **4.1.2** Morphological examination in viability experiments

It was a constant observation under the microscope that, after applying a toxic insult and then restoring neurons to the restoration medium, the neurons continue to deteriorate for up to 4-8 hr with no deterioration/recovery afterwards. Therefore, the restoration period (at least 16 hr) seemed to be enough for the damage to stabilize at a certain level after which the neurons were unlikely to recover/deteriorate.

Morphological examination is a very objective way of assessing the viability of neurons. However, taking images of the neurons can be less objective. The reason is that an insult-mediated damage to the neurons observed under the microscope in a well is, in many cases, not homogenous. Therefore, choosing the area in a well to take a photo can result in contrasting photos. For example, if a toxic insult caused moderate toxicity to neurons, it is possible to take the photos for the control group (from any area in a well) and the toxic insult group (from an area in a well that is not damaged) that make the toxic compound appears as if it was not toxic. That non-homogeneity in the damage observed under the microscope in neuronal cultures can occur was noticed previously [*Leahy et al., 1994*].

If so, why it is said above that morphological examination is a very objective technique? The reason is that, to take the above example, although a well in the insult group will contain some viable areas (not damaged), it is possible to move around the well to see all of its field, which will make it possible to see that other areas in the well are indeed damaged. On the other hand, in the control group, no damage is seen whatever the area in a well is looked at. This applies to many experiments performed in this project.

There are some cases where taking photos can be as objective as observing the damage under the microscope. This happens when the toxic insult is so severe to the degree that the whole culture in wells is totally collapsed/damaged, and hence there will be severe damage observed whatever the area is chosen in a well to take a photo. This applies to some experiments performed in this project.

#### 4.1.3 Alamar blue assay

The viability assay used, the Alamar blue reduction assay, although not free of drawbacks, is a reliable and very convenient measure of cell viability. It has been validated previously on its own and against other assays (e.g. Trypan blue exclusion method, 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT-assay), or lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release) in different types of cell cultures including CGNs, and using a variety of toxicity models including oxidative stress [White et al., 1996, Nakayama et al., 1997, Back et al., 1999, O'Brien et al., 2000, Gonzalez and Tarloff, 2001, Hamid et al., 2004]. Although it is generally thought that Alamar blue is exclusively reduced by mitochondrial enzymes, other enzymes are known to reduce it also (e.g. the cytosol is as efficient as the mitochondria in reducing it) [O'Brien et al., 2000, Gonzalez and Tarloff, 2001, Hamid et al., 2004]. Regardless of the site of its action, Alamar blue is recognized to be reduced mainly by living cells: its active ingredient, resazurin, was introduced more than 70 years ago to the food industry to detect and measure the presence of contaminating living microorganisms [John, 1939, Nixon and Lamb, 1945, Straka and Stokes, 1957]. The extent of its reduction is expected to reflect the viability status of the cultures.

In this project, when the difference in viability between two groups based on Alamar blue assay results is  $\geq 20\%$ , there is found a good (but not necessarily exact) correlation between the Alamar blue viability assay results and the morphological appearance of the neurons under the microscope. There was not even a single case where the neuronal appearance under the microscope was suggesting that Alamar blue was giving misleading false results. Actually, this good correlation between Alamar blue assay and the morphological examination was the reason for believing that the protection of

ethanol and DMSO against fresh culture medium toxicity was real and not due to an artefact in the Alamar blue viability assay, which led eventually to discovering the reason of fresh culture medium toxicity.

Moreover, it is unlikely that Alamar blue was interfering with any of the treatment compounds or even interfering with their delayed effects, since the end of the treatment period (when the treatment solutions that contain the test compounds are removed) and the addition of Alamar blue are separated by at least 16 hr of restoration period and also since, as mentioned above, the cell damage/morphology seemed under the microscope to stabilize within 8 hr of the restoration period (i.e. at least 8 hr before adding Alamar blue) and the cells do not deteriorate or recover after that.

As mentioned above, the good correlation between Alamar blue viability results and the morphological examination is only seen if the difference between two groups based on Alamar blue results is  $\geq 20\%$ . As this difference decreases more and more below 20 %, although the correlation between Alamar blue results and morphological examination can be noticed, it will start to be less and less clear. It is possible that Alamar blue has the ability to detect small changes in the viability of cells, where these small changes are not large enough to cause very clear changes in the morphology.

Also as mentioned above, the Alamar blue viability assay, like any other assay, is not free of drawbacks. For example, if an experiment contains two groups, a control group and a moderate insult group, then although the Alamar blue will be reduced more by the control group, if the dye is left in the cultures for too long a period, then the moderate insult group (and the control group) may reduce the remaining Alamar blue molecules that were not reduced initially, resulting in full reduction of the Alamar blue in the two groups, and hence equal viability values in the two groups. For this reason, an optimal incubation period and optimal concentration of Alamar blue have to be applied. Previous studies have applied an incubation time between 2 and 6 hr (4-6 hr if using CGNs cultures) [*White et al., 1996, Fatokun, 2006, Fatokun et al., 2007b*], where the Alamar blue viability results based on this incubation time accurately reflect the viability status of the cultures. In an experimental check performed in this project, there was no statistically significant difference between the viability result based on 4 and 6 hr Alamar blue incubation times, which suggests that both of the incubation times are appropriate (4 hr was used throughout this project).

#### 4.1.4 Effect of position in the plate on the viability of cultures

It was observed that neurons located in the edge wells look much stressed after 8 days in culture, which was likely due to a massive evaporation of liquids from these wells. This was evident from the observation that the medium volume was much reduced in those wells and was also looking very pinkish. Therefore, neurons in these wells were never used in this project.

Importantly, the results show that neurons located in the next-edge wells give consistently slightly (10-15%) higher viability values in the Alamar blue assay than neurons located in the inside wells. May be because these differences were small, it was not possible to decisively confirm them by the morphological examination under the microscope, though they were noticeable. If these differences were real, they are somehow unexpected. It is expected that, because the neurons in the edge wells were looking much stressed under the microscope, the viability of neurons should decrease rather than increase as the location of cultures gets closer to the edge of the plate. A speculative explanation is that, because the neurons in those experiments were under the influence of fresh culture medium toxicity (i.e. glutamate excitotoxicity, see later), the neurons in the next-edge wells (being under the stress of the edge effect, although much less than the stress of the neurons in the edge wells) were able to activate compensatory mechanisms during the 8 days in culture that made them more resistant than neurons in inside wells when they were challenged at day 8 or 9 by fresh culture medium (i.e. glutamate) excitotoxicity.

Regardless of whether these relatively small differences in the viability between nextedge wells and inside wells were real or were artefacts in the Alamar blue assay, it was clear that such differences could lead to significant misleading conclusions. For example, if the real difference in viability between two treatment groups, one with a toxic insult and the other with this toxic insult plus a protective agent, was around 5% in favour of the latter group (which might not be statistically significant), placing the former group in inside wells and the latter group in next-edge wells will give a difference, in the Alamar blue assay, of around 15-20% in favour of latter group, which can be statistically significant, but misleading. For this reason, next-edge wells were never used after this finding.

### 4.1.5 Fresh culture medium toxicity

It turned out that the immediate damage seen in the neurons (including those in the control group) when they are manipulated at the experiments/intervention day (i.e. day 8 or 9) was due to glutamate excitotoxicity (through activating NMDA receptors). The source of glutamate was the fresh serum (which we were unaware of its content of glutamate) which is present at 10% V/V in the fresh culture medium that is added to the cultures at that day. The discovery in this project of the involvement of NMDA receptors in the fresh culture medium toxicity was serendipitous. This occurred when ethanol and DMSO, which were tried for another purpose (they were tried as hydroxyl radical scavengers), prevented this toxicity, and it was found in the literature that they can block NMDA receptors in neurons and can prevent glutamate toxicity [Lin et al., 2003, Dildy and Leslie, 1989, Lovinger et al., 1989, Cebere and Liljequist, 2003, Danysz et al., 1992, Wegelius and Korpi, 1995, Lu and Mattson, 2001]. When MK-801 [Fatokun et al., 2008b & c], a specific NMDA receptor blocker was tried here, it blocked the toxicity. After this finding, an early report was found [Schramm et al., 1990] that clearly demonstrated the role of NMDA receptors in fresh serum toxicity (likely through the activation of these receptors by glutamate already present in fresh serum) in CGNs cultures. Therefore, we kind of reached the same conclusion independently, which gives it more support. The very low concentration at which MK-801 was found to be protective here (20 nM) is in accord with this report of Schramm and co-workers (1990) which found a similar potency with MK-801.

A series of experiments was conducted to substantiate this conclusion. The first was using another blocker of NMDA receptors, kynurenic acid [*Perkins and Stone, 1982, Fatokun et al., 2008b*]. Since the mechanism of blocking NMDA receptors by MK-801 (blocks the ion channel in the receptor) is somewhat different from that of kynurenic acid (blocks the glycine binding site on the receptor) [*Fatokun et al., 2008b*], it was useful to try the latter to see if fresh culture medium toxicity can be prevented by two different ways of blocking NMDA receptors, which was the case. The relatively high concentration of kynurenic acid needed to block the toxicity (1 mM) is in accord with a previous study that showed that this activity is relatively weak in cell cultures [*Hilmas et al., 2001*]. Kynurenic acid possesses other known activities e.g. blocking some nicotinic receptors and blocking non-NMDA glutamate receptors [*Hilmas et al., 2001, Fatokun et al., 2008b*]. However, it is unlikely that non-NMDA glutamate receptors were involved in

fresh culture medium toxicity, since the specific NMDA receptor blocker MK-801 provided almost complete protection, and also since previous studies found that blocking non-NMDA glutamate receptors does not prevent glutamate toxicity in CGNs [*Eimerl and Schramm, 1991, Fatokun et al., 2008c, Resink et al., 1994*].

Further evidence for the role of glutamate and NMDA receptors in fresh culture medium toxicity came from an experiment in which fresh culture medium was behaving like glutamate in producing the so-called preconditioning effect. Marini and Paul (1992) have observed that acute pre-treatment (minutes/hours) with a subtoxic concentration of glutamate in CGNs can protect against a subsequent lethal exposure to glutamate itself (acute preconditioning effect). The same was found here with fresh culture medium, where acute pre-treatment with a reduced amount of fresh culture medium protected against a subsequent exposure to a lethal full amount of fresh culture medium itself. The protective mechanism of pre-treatment with subtoxic glutamate in CGNs was shown to be mediated by a subtle (subtoxic) activation of NMDA receptors [Marini and Paul, 1992]. The experiment performed here with pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium shows that as the volume of fresh culture medium applied as pretreatment is reduced, the protection increased, suggesting that with reducing the volume in the pre-treatment (assuming that glutamate concentration is reduced in parallel) the effect of fresh culture medium (i.e. glutamate) moves away from a toxic effect towards a preconditioning protective effect against a subsequent exposure to full and lethal amount of fresh culture medium (i.e. glutamate) itself.

The experiments with ethanol, DMSO, MK-801, kynurenic acid, and pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium showed that protection in these experiments against fresh culture medium toxicity was sustained even after these protective interventions were terminated and followed by addition of fresh culture medium (which contains glutamate) for 16-24 hr before the viability assay. Although it is possible that the mechanism of the sustaining of protection of ethanol, DMSO, MK-801, and kynurenic acid is similar in these experiments (since they work by blocking NMDA receptors), this may not necessarily be the same mechanism responsible for the sustaining of protection of pre-treatment with reduced amount of fresh culture medium (where this protection was likely mediated by subtle activation of NMDA receptors).

When a glutamate degrading enzyme, glutamic-pyruvic transaminase [Matthews et al., 2000], was used here it provided almost complete protection against fresh culture medium toxicity. Since glutamate is present in fresh serum-containing culture medium (like the one used here) at concentrations more than 50 µM [Aronica et al., 1993, Schramm et al., 1990], this effect of glutamic-pyruvic transminase confirms that the glutamate molecule itself (and not a similar NMDA receptor agonist) was responsible for fresh culture medium toxicity. This adds a direct proof to the study of Schramm and co-workers (1990) where they suggested glutamate to be responsible for fresh serum toxicity based on the presence of glutamate in fresh serum and based also on their finding of protection by blocking NMDA receptors. Therefore, the combined results of these two independent investigations makes it very likely that the toxicity of glutamate already present in fresh culture medium was exerted through activating NMDA receptors. This does not rule out that the toxicity of glutamate was potentiated by other factors in the fresh culture medium. It was shown previously that glutamate toxicity can be potentiated by serum, where serum albumin was likely the component responsible for this potentiation [Schramm et al., 1990, Eimerl and Schramm, 1991].

When glutamate was applied here to CGNs in a glutamate-free and a serum-free solution at concentrations of 300 or 30 µM for only one hour, it caused significant toxicity. This shows that CGNs are indeed susceptible to glutamate excitotoxicity, and also shows that serum is not required for this toxicity (although it can potentiate it). It is worth mentioning that the solution used here as a vehicle to externally add glutamate (MEM-HEPES-sol) does not contain added glycine. However, it is very likely that glycine was still required for glutamate toxicity, since it is known to be required as a cosubstrate in NMDA receptor-mediated glutamate excitotoxicity in CGNs [Beaman-Hall et al., 1998, Fatokun et al., 2008b & c]. Since the concentration of glycine needed for such an action can be quite low (in nM concentrations) this amount could easily have been provided by the cells themselves, as suggested previously [Beaman-Hall et al., 1998, Parks et al., 1991]. Also, since kynurenic acid provided substantial protection (likely through blocking the glycine binding site), this suggests that glycine was present and was activating its kynurenic acid-inhibitable binding site. Another point worth mentioning is that, although MEM-HEPES-sol contains magnesium at nearly 0.8 mM which is known to be a physiological blocker of NMDA receptors, it was shown previously that under depolarizing conditions, as applied here (25 mM potassium chloride), NMDA receptors can be activated even in the presence of magnesium [Marini and Paul, 1992, Eimerl and Schramm, 1991].

By discovering that glutamate already present in the fresh culture medium was responsible (through activating NMDA receptors) for the immediate damage induced by manipulating the neurons at the intervention day, many previously unexplained observations in this project seemed to be explainable at once. One observation was that the damage induced to the neurons at the intervention day was severe in this project but not severe in two previous projects undertaken in this laboratory [*Fatokun, 2006, Smith, 2008*]. The cell density observed under the microscope immediately after plating tended always to be much higher in this project compared to the previous two projects, which was likely due to a small difference in the culturing procedure undertaken at the plating day (i.e. day zero). It seems now that the higher cell density in this project was responsible for the severe damage observed by adding fresh culture medium (i.e. glutamate) at the intervention day, since glutamate excitotoxicity was shown previously to be highly dependent on the neurons density in CGNs cultures [*Ciotti et al., 1996*].

Another observation was that the toxicity of the added fresh culture medium tended always to be more severe if this medium was looking more pinkish (i.e. more alkaline). Although close adjustment of this fresh medium pH resulted in a considerable improvement in cell viability, the damage by adding this fresh medium was still severe. Also, when a plate containing the cultures was placed outside the incubator for more than an hour, although this made the culture medium that the neurons were maintained in very pinkish (i.e. very alkaline) and although this also likely reduced the temperature of the cultures to the room temperature, this did not damage the neurons (at least no immediate damage was observed). It seemed at that time that although increasing the pH per se (at day 8 or 9) of the culture medium that the neurons are maintained in does not kill the neurons, increasing the pH of the fresh culture medium that is added at day 8 or 9 potentiates its toxicity. The increase in damage by increasing fresh culture medium pH can now be explained by the fact that NMDA receptor-mediated glutamate toxicity in CGNs is greatly potentiated by the increase in pH [Eimerl and Schramm, 1991], which is because increasing the pH relieves a proton-mediated block of NMDA receptors [Traynelis and Cull-Candy, 1990]. However, because NMDA receptor-mediated glutamate toxicity does indeed operate at pH 7.4 [Eimerl and Schramm, 1991], this also explains the damage observed here by adding fresh culture medium (i.e. glutamate) even with close adjustment of pH (though this adjustment improved the viability). Also, the fact that NMDA receptors require the ligand (i.e. glutamate) to cause toxicity may also explain the observation that the increase in the pH per se (at day 8 or 9) of the culture medium that the neurons are maintained in (which does not contain significant amount of glutamate) does not kill the neurons.

A third observation that was not explained previously was that the culture medium does not kill the neurons when they are maintained in it before the intervention day. Although there were many neurons dying in the first 24 hr of plating, fresh culture medium was not suspected to cause this death for two reasons. Firstly, this culture medium is universally used to culture many types of cells including neurons, and there was no reason to suspect that this medium might be toxic. Secondly, if it was responsible for the death observed at the plating day (i.e. day zero), why did it not kill the viable neurons when they were maintained in it from day 1 until the intervention day? Actually this was the reason that in the beginning a toxic effect of the added fresh culture medium was not suspected as the reason for the damage observed at the intervention day, where alternative explanations were explored at that time. However, this can now be explained by the following scenario of events. In the first few days, glutamate can not cause damage to neonatal CGNs as was shown previously [Frandsen and Schousboe, 1990, Resink et al., 1994], and this is likely because the glutamate receptors subunits that can mediate the toxicity are not matured/functioning at this early stage [Frandsen and Schousboe, 1990, Resink et al., 1994, Schramm et al., 1990, Leist et al., 1997]. Since the brain quickly clears any glutamate that is present extracellularly, the glutamate present in the fresh culture medium is quickly removed by CGNs as was shown previously where glutamate concentration drops in fresh serum-containing culture medium in CGNs cultures from more than 50  $\mu$ M to only 5  $\mu$ M in the first 24 hr, and then drops further in the next two days to around 2  $\mu$ M and is maintained at this low level in the subsequent days [Aronica et al., 1993]. By the time that glutamate receptors subunits that can mediate toxicity are matured (likely after 5-6 days of plating [Resink et al., 1994)) there will be no significant amount of glutamate left in the culture medium to cause toxicity, but when fresh culture medium (which contains more than 50 µM glutamate) is added to the neurons at the intervention day (i.e. day 8 or 9), glutamate binds to the matured NMDA receptors to induce severe toxicity to the CGNs.

Schramm and co-workers (1990) have discussed the pathological relevance of the presence of glutamate in serum (i.e. circulation), and the potentiation of its toxicity by some serum components. They proposed that in some pathological conditions e.g. hemorrhagic stroke or brain trauma, circulating glutamate might contribute to cell damage. This is a valid proposal and this might be a unique mechanism of in vivo toxicity, since the exposure of neurons to circulating glutamate in such pathological conditions might initiate toxicity without the pre-request of the depolarization/damage-induced glutamate release from the neurons. The same authors also speculated that such a circulating glutamate might cause chronic toxic effects by leaking through the blood brain barrier (BBB) in elderly people where this barrier is expected to be fragile.

Given the central excitatory role played by glutamate in the brain, the wide diversity of its receptor sub-classes, its presence in the circulation, and its ability to cause neuronal damage in many situations, it is not surprising that every time a new role is postulated/discovered for the glutamate system in neuronal pathological conditions (studied in vivo or in vitro) that were not shown/suspected initially to be related to this system. Therefore, in studying neuronal pathologic conditions thought not to be related to glutamate system, it should be considered that the master, highly diverged, and widely distributed glutamate system might be interfering with the condition under investigation, and that checking for this involvement may resolve some unexplained observations.

# 4.2 Oxidative stress experiments performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity

The interpretation of the results of the experiments discussed in this section is complicated by two facts. These experiments were performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, which means that the cultures (including those in the control groups) were under the influence of glutamate excitotoxicity. Also, some of these experiments were performed before finding that the neurons in next-edge wells give consistently higher viability readings than the neurons in inside wells, so some of the treatment groups in these experiments were containing next-edge wells (which may result in misleading conclusions as discussed before). However, it was appropriate to discuss some of those experiments (performed in that period) that were consistent and provided some valuable information. Due to the uncertainties mentioned above, there will be only a brief discussion of the results in this short section, without detailed discussion on why a compound produced an unexpected effect or failed to produce an expected effect.

The idea was to test the susceptibility of CGNs to different types of oxidative stress insults, which can lay the foundation for detailed investigation of XO toxicity. Hydrogen peroxide externally applied showed toxicity to CGNs in a dose dependent manner, which is in agreement with previous studies that externally applied this toxic insult to CGNs [*Fatokun et al., 2007b, Götz et al., 1999*]. Due to the relatively modest reactivity of hydrogen peroxide, it usually exerts its toxic effects through its conversion to more reactive species, usually hydroxyl radical. This conversion to hydroxyl radical, called Fenton reaction, requires a metal, usually iron or copper (see Introduction). When deferoxamine, an iron chelator with high affinity for the oxidized form of iron (i.e. Fe<sup>3+</sup>) [*Keberle, 1964*], was tried, it provided protection, raising the possibility that hydrogen peroxide toxicity was due to Fenton reaction. To confirm this mechanism of toxicity, a hydroxyl radical scavenger, mannitol, was tried, but failed to show any protection. Although the failure of mannitol to protect can be explained by the lack of a role of Fenton reaction and hydroxyl radical in the toxicity, there are many alternative explanations (see later in section **4.3**).

Another toxic insult, the X / XO combination, was tried and it showed significant and consistent toxicity to CGNs when applied at X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml). The toxicity of this combination is expected since it is known to produce toxicity in different types of cell cultures [*Fatokun et al.*, 2007a, Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Simon et al., 1981, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler etal., 1985, Valencia and Morán, 2004]. Since this combination is known to directly produce hydrogen peroxide and superoxide (hydrogen peroxide should also be produced by the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide that is directly produced), catalase and SOD-1 were tried against the toxicity of this combination. Catalase produced complete protection, but SOD-1 failed to produce protection.. Most previous studies in cultures found that catalase protects whereas SOD does not protect against X / XO toxicity [*Fatokun et al.*, 2007a, Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Simon et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 2007a, Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Simon et al., 1981, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler etal., 1985].

164

site, the Mo site) and DPI (a blocker of the NADH binding site, the FAD site) (see Introduction). Both of allopurinol and DPI failed to provide statistically significant protection, which was unexpected since both (especially allopurinol) are known to block X oxidation by XO (but see next section **4.3** for detailed discussion of experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity where these two compounds were tried against X / XO toxicity).

Since catalase provided complete protection against X / XO toxicity, this suggests that hydrogen peroxide is a main toxic molecule, which makes this toxicity model somehow similar to the toxicity model of externally applying hydrogen peroxide. Since deferoxamine provided protection against externally applied hydrogen peroxide, it was also tried against X / XO toxicity. Although deferoxamine at the concentration (and incubation time) that was protective against externally applied hydrogen peroxide did not show protection against X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO toxicity, it was protective when the toxic insult was reduced to X (30  $\mu$ M) / XO, which suggests that it did not protect in the first experiment because the toxic insult was too severe for it to provide significant protection. Also the protection with deferoxamine against X / XO toxicity was increased when its pre-treatment time was increased, and since this chelator is expected to be slow in entering the cells [*Porter et al., 1988*], this suggests that its site of action is intracellular (see section **4.3** for more discussion on deferoxamine).

A third type of oxidative stress insults, a nitric oxide donor, SNAP, was also applied to CGNs cultures to see if they are also susceptible to this type of toxicity. Nitric oxide is a free radical that can cause damaging effects (probably indirectly) under some conditions, which was demonstrated previously in CGNs cultures [*Leist et al., 1997*]. SNAP treated here for 24 hr showed a dose dependent toxicity. However, it may be that this effect of SNAP was not due to providing nitric oxide. The reason is that the SNAP powder was dissolved and the aliquots of the solution kept in a freezer until the experiment day. If SNAP in solution instantly generates nitric oxide (as expected), this raises the possibility that the nitric oxide, which is a short lived free radical, generated would have been long degraded before the experiment day. A better way would have been to dissolve SNAP powder and then add it to the cultures instantly.

There is more than one explanation for the observed toxicity with SNAP. One possibility is that it was still due to, at least partially, nitric oxide spontaneously released by SNAP at the time of treatment. This is because, based on the published data on SNAP stability in solutions under different conditions (where SNAP  $t_{1/2}$  can be up to hours) [Megson et al., 1997, Ioannidis et al., 1996, Singh et al., 1996, Mathews and Kerr, 1993, Arnelle and Stamler 1995], there is still a possibility that the SNAP stock solution prepared under our conditions (the powder was dissolved in distilled water to a concentration of 10 mM at room temperature and ambient oxygen, aliquoted, protected from light, and then immediately kept in freezer until the experiments day) was still containing a significant amount of intact SNAP when the frozen aliquots were thawed and SNAP was applied to CGNs. A second possibility, also assuming the presence of a significant amount of intact SNAP at the time of addition to cultures, is that the toxicity was not due to nitric oxide spontaneously released by SNAP, but rather was due to other actions of SNAP itself that may or may not involve production of nitric oxide (but not spontanously released from it). This is consistent with some previous studies which showed that some biological actions of SNAP, although might be due to production of nitric oxide, are not due to nitric oxide that is spontanously released from it [Kowaluk and Fung, 1990, Singh et al., 1996, Mathews and Kerr, 1993, Arnelle and Stamler, 1995]. A

third possibility, assuming that SNAP was long degraded before the experiments time, is that the toxicity was not due to nitric oxide released spontaneously from SNAP, and was not due to other actions of intact SNAP itself, but rather was due to toxic effects of some degradation products of SNAP (generated before the time of addition to cultures) other than nitric oxide.

Overall, these experiments performed before solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity gave some helpful information. They showed that CGNs are susceptible to perhaps more than one type of oxidative stress injury. They also showed that the toxicity models of both externally applying hydrogen peroxide and externally applying the X / XO combination are similar in that both are completely (but not necessarily exclusively) mediated by hydrogen peroxide, where an iron ion was likely mediating hydrogen peroxide toxicity. These experiments leave unanswered the effect of SOD, allopurinol, or DPI on X / XO toxicity, but a detailed investigation of the effect of these compounds was carried out in the experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, which will be discussed in the next section (4.3).

# 4.3 Oxidative stress experiments performed after solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity

After solving the problem of fresh culture medium toxicity, it was possible to conduct reliable experiments. In this stage of the project, it was possible to answer many of the questions stated earlier in the section on the Aim/Objectives in the Introduction. This section is divided into two main sections, the first is a comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicities, and the second is a further investigation of X / XO toxicity.

## 4.3.1 Comparison between X / XO and NADH / XO toxicity models

Although a combination of XOR and X (or other substrates that bind to the molybdenum site) is a widely used model in cell culture studies to generate ROS and to study their effects, the toxicity/effect of the combination of XOR and NADH (which binds the FAD site) in cell cultures has not been investigated in detail previously. Some possible reasons for this lack of interest to investigate this combination were mentioned in the Introduction, and it was also mentioned in the Introduction that the in vivo effect/toxicity of the oxidation of NADH by XOR might have been underestimated previously.

The idea was to compare X / XO and NADH / XO toxicity models in their potency, their response to blocking the different sites of XO, and the type of ROS and metals responsible for toxicity. The results show that NADH / XO and X / XO combinations are toxic to cultures of CGNs. However, the concentration of NADH needed to cause the toxicity was much higher than that of the other substrate, X, which is in agreement with previous cell-free experiments that showed that NADH is a much weaker substrate than X for the bovine milk XO used here [*Gilbert, 1963, Liochev et al., 1989, Nakamura, 1991*]. However, some other forms of the enzyme (e.g. bovine milk XDH, human milk XO, human milk XDH, human liver XO, rat liver XDH, and rat liver XO) have more/much more efficiency in oxidizing NADH than the bovine milk XO used here [*Maia et al., 2007, Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998*], and even some of them oxidize NADH with similar oxidation kinetics to the oxidation of X by the bovine milk XO.

if some of these other forms were used instead. Bovine milk XO was used in this project because of the availability, and also because it is the most studied form of the enzyme.

The NADH / XO combination was applied for only one hour, where lower concentrations of NADH might have been enough to induce toxicity if applied for longer durations. However, it was not possible to apply the NADH / XO for longer durations, because a previous study in this laboratory showed that XO applied alone for 6 hr caused significant toxicity to CGNs (probably through oxidizing xanthine produced by the neurons, since allopurinol attenuated this toxicity) [*Fatokun et al., 2007a*].

In both of NADH / XO and X / XO toxicities (especially the latter), the damage tended always to be more severe and more consistent in HEPES-sol compared to MEM-HEPES-sol. There are many differences between these two treatment solutions which makes it difficult to know the reason(s) of this interesting difference in the susceptibility to toxicity without a systematic investigation. Also, this is complicated by that the opposite was observed when NADH was applied alone, where it was toxic at 2 mM (but not 1 mM) in MEM-HEPES-sol but not in HEPES-sol. This toxicity of NADH alone in only one of the treatment solutions is also difficult to explain without a systematic investigation. These observations, however, were not considered to affect the main conclusions drawn from this project. Notice that it is unlikely that any of the observed effects of NADH applied alone or in combination with XO is due to an artefact due to a direct interaction (e.g. reduction) between NADH and the Alamar blue dye used in the viability assay, since as mentioned before the test compounds (including NADH) were not present together with Alamar blue. The test compounds were removed and replaced by conditioned medium for at least 16 hr before applying Alamar blue.

#### **4.3.1.1 Effects of inhibiting the different sites on XO**

In agreement with previous cell-free experiments, it was found that blocking the site of X binding (the Mo site) with allopurinol failed to prevent the damage induced by the NADH / XO combination, although it prevented the damage induced by the X / XO combination. This result is consistent with the previous proposal that the failure of allopurinol in preventing tissue damage in some previous studies where XOR-mediated damage was suspected [*Allen et al., 1990, Benders et al., 2006, Mosler et al., 2005, Coetzee et al., 1996*] might be theoretically explained by the inability of allopurinol to prevent

NADH oxidation by XOR, and hence its inability to prevent the tissue damage [Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002, Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998].

Blocking the site of NADH binding (the FAD site) with DPI at 100 nM attenuated the damage induced by the NADH / XO combination applied in either HEPES-sol or MEM-HEPES-sol, which was expected since DPI is known to block this site. This (along with the failure of allopurinol to protect) suggests that the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination was mediated/initiated by direct enzymatic oxidation of NADH by XO and was not due to merely (or exclusively) non-specific interaction between the enzyme and the substrate. DPI also blocked the toxicity of the X / XO combination applied in HEPES-sol, but failed to show statistically significant protection against this combination when applied in MEM-HEPES-sol. In any case, the results show that DPI can prevent X / XO toxicity in HEPES-sol, which is in agreement with previous cell-free experiments that showed that the FAD site is the site of ROS generation regardless of whether the reducing substrate binds to the Mo site (i.e. X or HX) or to the FAD site (i.e. NADH) [*Komai et al.*, 1969, Sanders et al., 1997, Olson et al., 1974, Nakamura, 1991, Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002].

#### 4.3.1.2 Identification of ROS and metals responsible for the toxicity

The effects of SOD-1 and catalase on the toxicity of the X / XO and the NADH / XO combinations were investigated in this study. In the case of X / XO toxicity, although catalase provided almost complete protection, SOD-1 failed to produce any effect, implicating that although hydrogen peroxide is required for this type of toxicity, extracellularly generated superoxide is not (may be apart from its spontaneous dismutation to hydrogen peroxide). Also when the superoxide scavenger, Tiron [*Greenstock and Miller, 1975, Hassan et al., 1980*], was tried as a co-treatment, it failed to provide protection against X / XO toxicity. The lack of protection by co-treatment with SOD-1 against X / XO toxicity is in agreement with many previous culture studies which have used different types of cell/organ cultures including CGNs [*Fatokun et al., 2007a, Satoh et al., 1987, Zigler et al., 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Simon et al., 1981, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler et al., 1985*], but with at least one exception which found protection with 6 hr co-treatment with SOD-1 against X / XO toxicity in cultures of CGNs [*Valencia and Morán, 2004*]. The protection found by the study of Valencia and Morán (2004) suggests that SOD-1 co-treatment under some conditions can protect

against X / XO toxicity, although no clear difference in the experimental conditions was suspected to account for the difference in the observed effect between this and the many other studies that did not find protection with SOD co-treatment.

One may think that the observation (found here and in many previous studies) that SOD does not increase or decrease X / XO toxicity is an odd result. To put it in other words, SOD should either potentiate the toxicity if it is a hydrogen peroxide-dependent (and not superoxide-dependent) (since SOD will convert superoxide to hydrogen peroxide) or attenuate the toxicity if it is a superoxide-dependent, so the result that SOD has neither of these two effects indeed needs an explanation. That SOD does not attenuate the toxicity can be explained by the lack of a role of superoxide produced extracellularly in the toxicity (may be apart from its spontaneous dismutation to hydrogen peroxide). On the other hand, a possible explanation for the inability of SOD to potentiate the toxicity (assuming that it is a hydrogen peroxide-dependent and not superoxidedependent) is that most of ROS produced directly by X / XO (around 80%) are known to be in the form of hydrogen peroxide, while the remaining 20% will be in the form of superoxide (although this may change depending on the experimental conditions) [Fridovich, 1970]. Therefore, adding SOD, which will convert two molecules of superoxide into one molecule of hydrogen peroxide, will result in only a small increase in hydrogen peroxide production (around 10%), and so there will be no significant increase in the X / XO toxicity. An additional explanation for the inability of SOD to potentiate the toxicity (again assuming that it is a hydrogen peroxide-dependent and not superoxide-dependent) is that even in the absence of SOD, all superoxide produced by X / XO would quickly and spontaneously dismutate to hydrogen peroxide in the extracellular compartment (if given the time, which might be the case because superoxide may not be able to enter the cells, and also because superoxide production ceases long time before the end of the 1 hr treatment, see later). This means that the same result (i.e. dismutation of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide extracellularly) was going to be produced regardless of whether SOD is present or not.

The fact that superoxide can quickly and spontaneously dismutate to hydrogen peroxide does not of course mean that SOD activity is not important as an in vivo defence mechanism against oxidative stress, because it is the difference in the efficiency between the enzymatic and the non-enzymatic (spontaneous) dismutation of superoxide that matters [*Fridovich, 1983*]. Although a portion of the superoxide produced in vivo

will immediately and spontaneously dismutate to hydrogen peroxide, a remaining portion may stay active and travel relatively long distance before it eventually spontaneously dismutates, so unless the very efficient SOD is present, a superoxide-dependent effect/toxicity may occur.

There is a possibility that the way in which the X / XO mixture was added to the cells in this study may have masked a toxic role of superoxide generated from this combination. This is because whenever X and XO were added together to the treatment solution, this mixture-containing solution was warmed in the water bath for few minutes before adding to cultures. The cell-free experiments in Figures 3-50 and 3-51 clearly showed that superoxide generation by X / XO combination ceases by less than 10 minutes after starting the reaction, where after this 10 minutes most of the short-lived superoxide would have already been spontaneously dismutated to hydrogen peroxide. Therefore, by the time of adding the mixture to cells (5-10 minutes after starting the reaction), there might not be a significant amount of superoxide that would otherwise produce a specific toxicity (may be through entering the cells). A better way of conducting the viability experiments was to start the X / XO reaction in the vicinity of cells, which would give the generated superoxide time to be in contact with cells where it may produce a specific toxic effect through entering the cells or directly interacting with them. Not only this, but also catalase (to deactivate extracellular hydrogen peroxide) should be present when the reaction is started in the vicinity of cells to make sure that an observed toxicity of X / XO combination is due to superoxide entering the cells (or directly interacting with them) and not merely due to its extracellular spontaneous dismutation to hydrogen peroxide. If there is still toxicity observed with this experimental design, a role of superoxide can then be confirmed by using SOD.

A pilot study was undertaken for the experimental design detailed above (n = 1). In this one trial, the experiment was performed as follows: the reaction of X (100  $\mu$ M) / XO (0.02 Units/ml) was started in the vicinity of neurons in the presence or absence of catalase (10 Units/ml) in HEPES-sol. Even with this design, catalase provided complete protection (data were not shown). It was mentioned in the Results section that in HEPES-sol the X / XO combination always produces large and consistent toxicity at X concentration of only 15  $\mu$ M, and that it produces almost complete toxicity at X concentration of 30  $\mu$ M. Therefore, using X here at 100  $\mu$ M was expected to cause almost complete toxicity (which was the case), and importantly was also expected to

produce large amount of superoxide in the vicinity of neurons. Notice that in the viability experiments shown in section **3.3.2.4** of the Results section, catalase was tried at 3 Units/ml, but it was tried in this one trial at 10 Units/ml, and this was done to make sure that it is able to deactivate most of hydrogen peroxide generated from X / XO combination, especially since X was used at 100 µM where large amounts of hydrogen peroxide were expected to be produced. Although it was shown in the cell-free experiments in the Results section that catalase is contaminated with some SOD activity, the contamination was observed at catalase (1000 Units/ml) and was less at catalase (300 Units/ml), with no observed contamination at catalase (3 Units/ml), so it is unlikely that there was a significant contamination with SOD activity at the catalase level (10 Units/ml) used here. Therefore, the absence of any observed toxicity of superoxide generated in the vicinity of neurons (in the presence of catalase) suggests that (as suggested by the completed experiments and by many previous studies) superoxide generated extracellularly from X / XO combination has no role in the toxicity of this combination (may be apart from its extracellular dismutation to hydrogen peroxide). However, this was only a single trial experiment (n = 1), so it was not possible to confirm this observation.

In the case of the NADH / XO combination, the experiments were conducted in the same way as those with the X / XO combination i.e. NADH and XO were added to the treatment solution which was then warmed in the water bath for few minutes before adding to cultures. However, the reaction between NADH and the bovine milk XO is expected to be slow (since NADH, is relatively a very week substrate for this isoform of XO). Therefore, it is possible that most of the oxidation of NADH by XO was occurring during the one hour application to cells (not during the few minutes of warming as in the X / XO system), although this can not be confirmed.

Although NADH / XO toxicity was similar to X / XO toxicity in the complete protection afforded by catalase, the former differed in that SOD-1 provided substantial protection. It is likely that, for many reasons, this protection by the co-treatment with SOD-1 was due to its elimination (dismutation) of superoxide and not due to any of the known non-specific actions of SOD-1 that may not involve elimination of superoxide. Firstly, SOD-1 was protective at concentrations as low as 3 Units/ml (which is one of the lowest concentrations tried in previous toxicity studies), whereas the non-specific actions of SOD-1 are expected to occur at high concentrations [*Liochev and Fridovich*,

2007]. Secondly, Mn-SOD (3 Units/ml), which is known to be free of at least some of the non-specific actions of SOD-1 [*Sankarapandi and Zweier, 1999, Liochev and Fridovich,* 2000], was as protective as SOD-1. Thirdly, SOD-1 was protective in both bicarbonate/CO<sub>2</sub>-containing solution (MEM-HEPES-sol) and a solutions without added bicarbonate/CO<sub>2</sub> (HEPES-sol), which argues against a role for a peroxidase activity of SOD-1 in the observed protection, since this non-specific activity was shown to be dependent on bicarbonate/CO<sub>2</sub> [*Goldstone et al., 2006, Sankarapandi and Zweier, 1999, Liochev and Fridovich, 2004*]. Fourthly, substantial protection against NADH / XO toxicity was observed by co-treatment with the superoxide scavenger, Tiron (though Tiron is also known to be (among other actions) an effective chelator of some metals including iron and molybdenum [*Fridovich and Handler, 1962*], an activity that can not be ruled out as the reason for its protection).

It is likely that the protection by SOD-1 (and Mn-SOD) (especially since that it was used as co-treatment rather than pre-treatment, that it was protective at a low concentration (3 Units/ml), and was applied for only 1 hr) was due to an extracellular action of this enzyme. Some previous reports suggested that SOD-1 is unable to quickly/easily penetrate the cell membrane even at high concentrations. In neuronal cultures, acute co-treatment with SOD-1 (or even pre-treatment with SOD-1 for 8-24 hr) did not prevent glutamate-receptor mediated excitotoxicity, despite the fact that in those studies, intracellular production of superoxide was found to mediate the toxicity [Patel et al., 1996, Lafon-Cazal et al., 1993a & b]. Also, using a very specific detection method of intracellular superoxide, it was shown that SOD-1, although applied as a 1 hr pretreatment (which gave prolonged contact with cells) and at a much higher concentration than 3 Units/ml (up to 100 units/ml), could not scavenge intracellular superoxide in cultures of bovine aortic endothelial cells [Zhao et al., 2005]. However, uncertainty remains; since other reports showed clearly that SOD-1 can enter cells under some conditions. SOD-1 (500 Units/ml) co-treated for 1 hr was able to produce a protective effect by entering cultured hepatocytes by endocytosis [Kyle et al., 1988], where this endocytosis was also observed by another study that followed it using a different approach [Dini et al., 1995]. However, the protection by SOD-1 against a similar insult using the same cell culture type (rat hepatocytes), as well as the entrance of SOD-1 to those cells, was not observed in another study [Ito et al., 1992], which suggests that small differences in the experimental conditions may have large consequences. In neurons, there were also some studies where SOD-1 was producing effects suggestive of it being entering the neurons e.g. SOD-1 produced a protective effect in cultures of spinal cord neurons against glutamate excitotoxicity, but SOD-1 in that study was not applied as co-treatment but rather as pre-treatment for 2 hr and at a high dose [*Michikawa et al., 1994*].

Although it is more likely that SOD-1 (and Mn-SOD) was working here extracellularly rather than intracellularly to produce protection against NADH / XO toxicity, this does not answer the question of whether SOD was blocking an extracellular toxic action of superoxide or was deactivating it extracellularly before it could cross the cell membrane and exert an intracellular toxic action? This question is difficult to answer from the available results. Although superoxide (which is an anionic radical) is known to be generally very poor in crossing biological membranes [Takahashi and Asada, 1983, *Liochev and Fridovich*, 2005], there are some exceptions in which it was shown to be able to do so [Liochev and Fridovich, 2005]. Actually, even in CGNs, activating the glutamate NMDA-receptors was shown to lead to an intracellular production of superoxide that was able to exit the neurons and be detected in the extracellular compartment [Lafon-Cazal et al., 1993b, Atlante et al., 1997]. However, it is unclear if activating NMDAreceptors in those studies had led to the opening of some channels or pores (or to some defects in membrane integrity) that allowed intracellular superoxide to exit the neurons through these channels/pores that would be otherwise impermeable to superoxide. Therefore, it is unclear if superoxide generated here from the NADH / XO combination was able to enter the cells. The possibility that superoxide was not entering the neurons, and was instead producing its toxic action in the extracellular compartment, might be supported by the observed protection by co-treatment with EDTA. This general chelator of cations and metals [Hutcheson et al., 2004] is regarded as a biological membraneimpermeable compound [Gazaryan et al., 2007, Frederickson et al., 2002, Azuma et al., 2001, Abeijon and Hirschberg, 1990] (an exceptional previous study showed that EDTA was able to enter cells by endocytosis, but it was used at a very high concentration (6 mM) [West and Brownstein, 1988], whereas EDTA was protective here at concentrations as low as  $2 \mu M$ ). Also the mode of EDTA protection here suggests that is was blocking an extracellular metal-dependent toxic action (see later). Although this effect of EDTA does not necessarily mean that SOD (and Tiron) was blocking an extracellular toxic action of superoxide, it suggests so. This is because in many cases, superoxide exerts its toxicity through reacting with metals, and since both of SOD and EDTA (which were likely working extracellularly) were protective, an extracellular toxic interaction between superoxide and a metal might have been responsible for the toxicity.

If SOD was exerting its protection through blocking an extracellular toxic action of superoxide, this can be through blocking one of many candidate toxic actions of superoxide. Superoxide can mediate a metal-catalyzed toxicity (as mentioned above) e.g. through mediating the conversion of hydrogen peroxide to the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical (or a similar species) [Fong et al., 1976, Halliwell, 1978, McCord and Day, 1978]. This conversion in biological systems results from the reaction between hydrogen peroxide and a reduced metal ion, usually iron or copper (Fenton reaction). Since the extracellular metal ion that might be present in the treatment solutions as a contaminant is likely to be in the oxidized form, superoxide will be required for its reduction, making it able to react with hydrogen peroxide to produce hydroxyl radical. Even if the metal is present in the reduced state, superoxide will be required to reduce it back when it is oxidized by hydrogen peroxide, and hence to continue the reaction. The presence of NADH in the system makes this possibility more likely. This is because it was shown previously that, in the presence of reduced iron and NADH, externally added hydrogen peroxide generates much more hydroxyl radicals than it generates in the presence of only reduced iron [Rowley and Halliwell, 1982]. Interestingly in this study by Rowley and Halliwell (1982), hydroxyl radical generation was blocked by SOD, implying that superoxide was both produced and required, may be to reduce back the  $Fe^{3+}$  that was converted from  $Fe^{2+}$  upon oxidation by added hydrogen peroxide. In the case of the NADH / XO combination applied here, superoxide, in addition to its possible generation by such a reaction, is actually directly generated by the oxidation of NADH by XO, and hydrogen peroxide is also directly produced by this oxidation and will also be produced by the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide. If a contaminant metal ion is also present in the system, the requirement for extracellular production of a large amount of hydroxyl radical from the NADH / XO combination seems to be fulfilled.

To test this explanation, two metal chelators were tried, deferoxamine and EDTA. Although co-treatment with deferoxamine did not show any protection against NADH / XO toxicity, EDTA co-treatment was able to protect, as mentioned above, at concentrations as low as 2  $\mu$ M. On the other hand, neither deferoxamine (300  $\mu$ M) nor EDTA (2, 20, or 200  $\mu$ M) protected against X / XO toxicity. Therefore, the protection by the cell-impermeable EDTA seemed to be specific for NADH / XO toxicity and enforces the suspicion that the protection offered by SOD (and Tiron) against this toxicity was due to blocking a superoxide-dependent extracellular toxic interaction

between hydrogen peroxide and a metal to produce hydroxyl radical (or a similar species). The very low concentrations at which EDTA was protective argues against the chelation of  $Ca^{2+}$  (present at 2 mM) or magnesium (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) (present at 0.8 mM) in the treatment solution as the reason (or the sole reason) for the protection by EDTA. Also, EDTA was shown to efficiently chelate iron ions even in the presence of a large excess of  $Ca^{2+}$  [*Hutcheson et al., 2004*].

The failure of deferoxamine co-treatment to protect against NADH / XO toxicity, even though it will chelate contaminating iron present free in the treatment solution (since it was left with XO for 3 hr in this treatment solution (without contact with cells) before adding NADH and then applying to cells, and also since the volume of the treatment solution containing deferoxamine and XO before adding NADH was 95% of its volume after adding NADH), indicates that the NADH / XO toxicity is unlikely to involve an iron-mediated generation of hydroxyl radicals in the extracellular treatment solution. However there is a possibility that an iron contaminant was associated/bound with XO and was difficult to remove (to the degree that even 3 hr of contact between deferoxamine and XO before applying to cells was not enough for chelating this iron), which was able to mediate the toxicity. Iron is known to contaminate XO by binding loosely to it, where this iron contaminant has been shown to resist significant chelation by deferoxamine while remaining susceptible to other chelators (this contaminating iron influenced ROS generation by XO) [*Britigan et al.*, 1990].

On the other hand, EDTA co-treated the same way as deferoxamine was protective, as mentioned above, at concentrations as low as 2  $\mu$ M. Interestingly, this protective effect of EDTA seemed to be dependent on pre-incubating it with XO before starting the treatment. This is evident from that when the treatment solution (which contains EDTA, XO, and NADH) was applied to cells but without prior contact between EDTA and XO, EDTA no longer protected, despite the fact that EDTA was left alone in the treatment solution for 3 hr (without contact with cells) before adding XO and NADH and then applying to cells, and also despite the fact that the volume of the treatment solution containing EDTA before adding XO and NADH was more than 90% of its volume after adding XO and NADH. This suggests two things, firstly, that EDTA was protective by interacting directly with XO, likely chelating a contaminating metal ion associated with the enzyme, but not present free in the treatment solution and not associated with NADH. Secondly, the interaction between EDTA and XO must be slow (since prior

contact for some time (3 hr was tried) between XO and EDTA before starting the treatment was required for the protection).

The unidentified metal contaminant associated with XO could be iron, despite the fact that deferoxamine co-treatment failed to protect, and this is because of the above mentioned possibility that this iron was associated (loosely bound) with XO and was difficult to remove. Another metal ion which might have been responsible for the toxicity is molybdenum, since it has been shown to participate with superoxide and NADH in a potentially toxic reaction [Darr and Fridovich, 1984]. Molybdenum ion may have dissociated from XO as a result of freezing and thawing of the enzyme, making it available to participate with NADH and superoxide in a toxic reaction. There may be flexibility in the dissociation of molybdenum ion (which is an integral part of XO) from the enzyme, since 40% of the bovine milk XO molecules are known to be molybdenumfree [Harrison, 2002]. Contaminating copper ion associated with XO is also a candidate, especially since EDTA always inhibits copper-mediated hydroxyl radical generation [Que et al., 1980, Aruoma et al., 1991, Makrigiorgos et al., 1995, Samuni et al., 1983, Shinar et al., 1983, Cui et al., 1994, Lloyd and Phillips, 1999], while it can (depending on the experimental conditions) inhibit or stimulate iron-mediated hydroxyl radical generation [Graf et al., 1984, Hutcheson et al., 2004, Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1981, Grootveld and Halliwell, 1986, Engelmann et al., 2003, Gutteridge, 1987]. Also, it can not be ruled out that a metal contaminant-independent pharmacological action of EDTA was involved, possibly involving a slowly developing, direct inhibition of XO. However, the possibility of a metal contaminant-independent direct inhibition of XO is difficult to explain in the light of the failure of EDTA to protect against X / XO toxicity, even if it is assumed that EDTA was blocking the FAD site, since blocking this site (which is always the site of ROS generation) should block the toxicity of X / XO combination, as mentioned before. On the other hand, a metal contaminant-dependent protection by EDTA can be explained even with the failure of EDTA to protect against X / XO toxicity, since in the NADH / XO system the presence of NADH might have well led to an EDTA-inhibitable metal-mediated toxicity as mentioned before, and as will be discussed further later on.

Notice that the protective effect of EDTA was likely exerted in the extracellular compartment, for two reasons. Firstly, EDTA as mentioned before is considered a cell-impermeable chelator, so it is unlikely that it was entering the cells, especially at the

very low concentration tried, and especially that it was applied as co-treatment and was not given any time to be in contact with cells before applying the toxic insult. Secondly, it is unlikely that EDTA was producing its protective effect intracellularly, because of the observation mentioned before that XO has to be pre-incubated with EDTA in the treatment solution (before any contact with cells) for the latter to be protective.

Besides the problem of indentifying the metal responsible for mediating the production of hydroxyl radical, there is also another two problems in proposing hydroxyl radical (free in the solution) as the extracellular toxic product in NADH / XO system. First, is that hydroxyl radical is a very short-lived species, where it would degrade/disappear not far from its site of generation in the extracellular compartment. Second, is the presence of at least two hydroxyl radical scavengers in the treatment solutions, namely: HEPES (at 20 mM in HEPES-sol, and 25 mM in MEM-HEPES-sol) and glucose (at 3 mM in HEPES-sol, and 5 mM in MEM-HEPES-sol) [Grady et al., 1988, Hicks and Gebicki, 1986, Halliwell et al., 1987, Shiraishi et al., 1993, Liochev and Fridovich, 1991, Sagone et al., 1983, Luo et al., 2001]. Even NADH will be a target for hydroxyl radical. Also, when three hydroxyl radical scavengers (mannitol, ethanol, and DMSO) were tried as co-treatment, they failed to show any protection against NADH / XO toxicity (as they failed to protect against X / XO toxicity). However, it can be argued that the extracellularly generated hydroxyl radical in the NADH / XO system was scavenged by these scavengers, but the result of that was the production of secondary radicals (e.g. HEPES-radical and glucoseradical) where some of these secondary radicals are known to be toxic/reactive themselves [Liochev and Fridovich, 1991, Luo et al., 2001]. Therefore, EDTA and SOD, through blocking hydroxyl radical production, may have been protective by preventing the production of hydroxyl radical-derived secondary radicals.

If the NADH / XO toxicity was not due to an extracellular production of hydroxyl radical, an alternative possibility is that this toxicity was due to a superoxide-dependent hydrogen peroxide-accumulating free radical chain reaction which has been described in some cell-free systems that contain NADH, superoxide, and a metal (or a similar factor), where SOD (although through converting superoxide into hydrogen peroxide) paradoxically decreases (through blocking the superoxide-dependent hydrogen peroxide-accumulating chain reaction from the start) overall the production/accumulation of hydrogen peroxide. The literature abounds with reports of potentially toxic reactions that involve participation of superoxide and NADH [Liochev et al., 1989, Liochev and Fridovich, 1989, 1990, 1991, Darr and Fridovich 1984, Fridovich, 1989, Chan and Bielski, 1974, Imlay and Linn, 1988, Rowley and Halliwell, 1982]. Excess of added NADH (which is a weak substrate for the used form of XO) will not be oxidized directly by the enzyme, especially in the early phase of the reaction, and could participate with superoxide (produced by the direct oxidation of NADH by XO) to produce toxicity. However, superoxide does not interact quickly with NADH at physiological pH except in the presence of a suitable mediating agent such as a metal. In such a system, the events may proceed through a series of free radical chain reactions where superoxide and the metal participate in the oxidation of a molecule of NADH, leading to a long chain process [Liochev et al., 1989, Liochev and Fridovich, 1989, 1990, 1991, Darr and Fridovich 1984, Fridovich, 1989, Imlay and Linn, 1988], such as the following [Darr and Fridovich 1984, Fridovich, 1989]:-

- superoxide + metal $\rightarrow$ metal-superoxide complex	(1)
- metal-superoxide complex + NADH $\rightarrow$ NAD radical + metal + hydrogen peroxide	(2)
- NAD radical + oxygen $\rightarrow$ NAD <sup>+</sup> + superoxide	(3)
- superoxide + superoxide → hydrogen peroxide	(4)

The metal regenerated in (2) and superoxide in (3) can recycle via reaction (1), propagating a chain reaction. Hydrogen peroxide may accumulate in the system because it is usually the stable molecule to which superoxide will eventually be converted (equations (2) and (4)) [Darr and Fridovich 1984, Fridovich, 1989, Liochev and Fridovich, 1990, Misra and Fridovich, 1972, Marklund and Marklund, 1974, Heikkila and Cohen, 1973]. The net effect of adding SOD (which will block the hydrogen peroxide-accumulating chain reaction from the start) to such reactions would then be (although through converting superoxide into hydrogen peroxide) a decrease in the overall production/accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the system. In this situation hydrogen peroxide, not hydroxyl radical, is a major product of the interaction between superoxide, metal, and NADH (molybdenum ion is a good candidate metal for such a sequence of reactions [Darr and Fridovich 1984]). Also in this situation, EDTA protective effect would be due to blocking such an extracellular reaction (and not due to blocking extracellular production of hydroxyl radical). Also, may be due to the absence of such a NADH-dependent reaction in X / XO system, EDTA co-treatment failed to protect in that system, although the same metal contaminating XO was likely present in the X / XO system (since this is the same commercial preparation of XO).

More support for the possibility that the NADH / XO toxicity was due to a superoxidedependent extracellular accumulation of hydrogen peroxide came from the observation that, in cell-free experiments, SOD-1 largely inhibited hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the system. This effect of SOD-1 seemed to be specific for the NADH / XO system, since it did not influence hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the X / XO system in these cell-free experiments. However, these assays are catalase-based, and since superoxide is known to interact significantly with catalase (inhibits it) [Kono and Fridovich, 1982], it is not possible to rule out other confounding mechanisms (other than the proposed mechanism which is the blocking of superoxide-dependent accumulation of hydrogen peroxide) as the reason for the observed effect of SOD-1 in this assay. The lack of effect of SOD-1 on hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the X / XO system in this assay does not necessarily mean that the NADH / XO system was free of the above mentioned confounding mechanisms that might involve interaction between superoxide and catalase. This is because in the X / XO system, by the time of adding catalase to the mixture (1 hr after starting the X / XO reaction), all superoxide produced would have already been spontaneously dismutated to hydrogen peroxide (since, as mentioned earlier, the superoxide generation from X / XO combination ceases by less than 10 minutes after starting the reaction), so there will be no superoxide present to react with catalase. On the other hand, in the NADH / XO system, it possible that superoxide was still being produced in the system by the time of adding catalase (i.e. 1 hr after starting the NADH / XO reaction). In any case, if the effect of adding SOD-1 to NADH / XO system was due to blocking superoxide-dependent accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the system and not due to any other confounding mechanism, this supports the free radial chain reaction explanation for the apparently paradoxical protection by SOD against the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination. Almost exactly the same degree of inhibition of hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the NADH / XO system by SOD-1 was also observed in this assay when the reaction was carried out in a HEPESfree solution (Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS)) instead of the HEPES-sol. This rules out that HEPES, which is know to interfere with many free radical reactions [Grady et al., 1988, Hicks and Gebicki, 1986, Halliwell et al., 1987, Shiraishi et al., 1993, Liochev and Fridovich, 1991, Hodges and Ingold, 2000, Habib and Tabata, 2004, Kirsch et al., 1998], was responsible for the observed effect of SOD-1 in this cell-free assay.

Notice that the failure of SOD-1 at even 300 Units/ml to influence hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the X / XO toxicity in these cell-free experiments (as well as its failure in the viability experiments at this high concentration to attenuate X / XO toxicity) argues against the possibility of the contamination of SOD-1 (especially at 3 Units/ml) with catalase activity.

In accord with the possibility that the NADH / XO toxicity was due to a superoxidedependent extracellular accumulation of hydrogen peroxide is the observation that pretreating (but not co-treating) the neurons with deferoxamine was protective. This effect of deferoxamine suggests that hydrogen peroxide is a main toxic molecule generated extracellularly in the NADH / XO system, and that it was exerting its toxicity through crossing the cell membrane and then probably reacting with an intracellular deferoxamine-sensitive iron ion to produce intracellular toxic hydroxyl radical. Also deferoxamine might have been protective through directly scavenging intracellular hydroxyl radical and/or other radicals e.g. lipid radicals [Hoe et al., 1982, Hartley et al., 1990]. Although deferoxamine has the ability to block peroxynitrite-mediated effects [Bartesaghi et al., 2004], pre-treatment with an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase (L-NAME, 1 mM) [Patel et al., 1996, Gunasekar et al., 1995], aiming to block nitric oxidemediated peroxynitrite production, failed to protect against NADH / XO toxicity, which argues against the blockade of peroxynitrite-mediated effects as the mode of protection by the deferoxamine pre-treatment. Regardless of the mechanism of NADH / XO toxicity that was inhibitable by co-treatment with SOD, Tiron, catalase, and EDTA (and by pre-treatment with deferoxamine), this toxicity was likely initiated by superoxide produced by the direct enzymatic oxidation of NADH by XO because both of the enzyme and the substrate were required and also because, as mentioned before, DPI (which blocks the site of NADH oxidation) was protective. Fig. 4-1 shows the sequence of the more likely reactions leading eventually to the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination as suggested by the available results.


Figure 4-1: Diagram showing the sequence of the more likely events leading eventually to cell damage in the NADH / XO system, in the light of the available results. Initially, XO directly oxidizes NADH extracellularly (step 1), which can by blocked by DPI. This generates (directly) superoxide ( $O_2^{-}$ ) and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). Superoxide, unless participating in a faster reaction, can quickly and spontaneously dismutate to hydrogen peroxide (curved dashed black arrow). However, the results suggest that superoxide participates in a faster reaction, which is likely to be a free radical chain reaction involving (in addition to superoxide) both a metal contaminating XO (which can be silenced by EDTA) and NADH (which is likely available from the large excess of added NADH that is not directly oxidized by XO). This free radical chain reaction re-generates superoxide (in a much higher amount than the superoxide that initiates the chain reaction) (Step 2). The majority of superoxide radicals do not enter the cells, and hydrogen peroxide, the stable form to which all superoxide does eventually convert, accumulates in the system (Step 3). SOD, through its very efficient deactivation of superoxide can block (although through converting superoxide into hydrogen peroxide) the chain reaction from the start, and hence can prevent the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the system (which is supported by the cell-free experiments). Also, Tiron, through scavenging superoxide, can prevent it from initiating the chain reaction. Catalase, through deactivating hydrogen peroxide once produced in the system, can prevent its production/accumulation, and hence can prevent it from entering the cells. The final step in the toxicity is that hydrogen peroxide readily crosses the cell membrane, where it participates with intracellular iron ion (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) to generate the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical (OH) (Step 4), which can be blocked by pre-treatment (but not cotreatment) with deferoxamine.

Interestingly, as in the case with NADH / XO toxicity, pre-treatment (and not cotreatment) with deferoxamine was protective against X / XO toxicity. This suggests that hydrogen peroxide was a main toxic molecule produced extracellularly in the X / XO system (as in the NADH / XO system) that was crossing the cell membrane and exerting intracellular iron-mediated toxicity. However, hydrogen peroxide production in the X / XO system was likely occurring through a mechanism (mainly direct production from the combination) different from the mechanism of its production in the NADH / XO system (likely through a superoxide-, NADH-, and metal-dependent free radical chain reaction), since SOD, Tiron, and EDTA co-treatments protected against the toxicity of the latter but not the former system. In addition to the protection found by pre-treatment with deferoxamine, X / XO toxicity was similar to NADH / XO toxicity in the failure of the pre-treatment with L-NAME to provide protection, which also argues against the blocking of intracellular peroxynitrite-mediated effects as the reason for the protection of deferoxamine pre-treatment against this combination (see later for further investigation of X / XO toxicity).

#### 4.3.1.3 Feasibility of in vivo toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR

The intracellular concentrations of free NADH are reported to be in the micromolar range [*Yu and Heikal, 2009*]. However, there seems to be uncertainty regarding the concentration of intracellular free NADH, which might have been due to the difficulty in measuring this concentration [*Canelas et al., 2008*]. The uncertainty also extends to the ratio of free to bound intracellular NADH. For example, Vishwasrao and co-workers (2005) suggested that this ratio might be higher than previously estimated, and that as much as 40% of NADH might be present free intracellularly. It is feasible that the oxidation of NADH by some forms of XOR (other than the one used here) that are known to be very efficient in oxidizing this substrate might produce in vivo toxicity, as suggested previously [*Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002, Sanders et al., 1997, Zhang et al., 1998*].

In adding the NADH / XOR combination to cells in vitro (like in this study), the oxidation of NADH by XOR will likely take place in the extracellular compartment, whereas lower concentrations of NADH might cause toxicity if oxidized by intracellular XOR (because lower levels of ROS are expected to cause toxicity if produced intracellularly in the vicinity of critical targets rather than extracellularly). Also, in cell cultures, many cells die in the first hours of plating (as in this study), where these might be those cells that can not resist the culturing stress. Hence, in vivo, those cells that are less resistant to stress/toxicity (which will die immediately if plated in vitro) might be damaged by lower concentrations of an insult than if applied in vitro. Also, it is possible that many compensatory protective mechanisms that might be induced in vitro in response to the culturing stress (that allow many cells to survive) do not operate in vivo,

where cells can be killed by the oxidation (by XOR) of lower NADH concentrations than if applied in vitro. However, it can be argued for an opposite possibility, where in vivo tissues might be better equipped with protective mechanisms (e.g. they have richer antioxidant environment) to cope with insults than cells in vitro [*Halliwell, 2003*], and hence higher concentrations of toxic insults might be required to kill cells in vivo than if applied in vitro.

An important fact that might limit the significance of the oxidation of NADH by XOR in vivo is the presence of NAD<sup>+</sup> in much higher concentrations than NADH, where the free cytoplasmic NADH/NAD<sup>+</sup> ratio was reported to be very low (< 0.01) [*Canelas et al.,* 2008, Sanders et al., 1997, Park et al., 1998]. NAD<sup>+</sup>, as mentioned before, can potently inhibit NADH oxidation by the predominant intracellular isoform of XOR i.e. XDH (but notice that NAD<sup>+</sup> is weak in inhibiting XO compared to XDH). However, NAD<sup>+</sup> can not completely inhibit NADH oxidation by XDH, since a previous cell-free study has shown that XDH is still able to oxidize NADH to produce ROS even in the presence of high concentrations of NAD<sup>+</sup> [Harris and Massey, 1997].

It is possible that the toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR might occur/increase in some pathological situations where NADH levels are known to increase on the expense of the decrease of NAD<sup>+</sup> levels. For example, under severe ischemic conditions, the cytoplasmic NADH/NAD<sup>+</sup> ratio in the heart was shown to increase approximately 30-fold [*Park et al., 1998*]. In such a situation, a significant toxicity might be produced from the oxidation of NADH by the predominant intracellular isoform i.e. XDH. Also, even if NAD<sup>+</sup> concentration is so high to the degree that it can potently inhibit ROS generation by XDH, it is known that under some pathological situations the XO level increases either by the conversion from XDH or by the increase in the expression/activity of the total enzyme i.e. XOR [*Wiezorek, 1994, Phan et al., 1989, Osarogiagbon et al., 2000, Thom, 1992, Schröder et al., 2006, Ischiropoulos et al., 1996, Park et al., 1998, Berry and Hare, 2004, Harrison, 2002*]. In such a situation, XO might significantly oxidize NADH (where NAD<sup>+</sup> is relatively weak in inhibiting this oxidation) which might lead to significant toxicity.

Although there might not be a significant amount of NADH present extracellularly in vivo, NADH is used in clinical trials as a therapeutic drug to treat some chronic illnesses e.g. Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and chronic fatigue syndrome

[*Birkmayer et al., 1993, Forsyth et al., 1999, Rex et al., 2004*], where administering it will increase greatly its availability in the circulation. Since XOR is present predominantly in the XO form in the circulation, a toxic effect might arise under some circumstances from the oxidation of the administered NADH by XO (e.g. in some acute pathological situations where XO levels are reported to increase by hundreds-fold [*Harrison, 2002*]), especially since there might not be significant amount of NAD<sup>+</sup> present in the circulation to inhibit this oxidation (anyway, NAD<sup>+</sup> is a weak inhibitor of the XO form).

Although this investigation of NADH / XO toxicity suggests that it was dependent on a XO-contaminating metal ion, this does not mean that this type of toxicity is irrelevant to the in vivo situations. It is known that, at least in some pathological conditions, traces of reactive metals are present in vivo either free or bound/chelated to certain molecules/proteins, where this binding may not prevent the reactivity of these metals (actually it may enhance their reactivity/toxicity in some situations) [*Graf et al., 1984, Hutcheson et al., 2004, Engelmann et al., 2003, Gutteridge, 1987, Sayre et al., 1999, Ong and Halliwell, 2004, Thompson, 2001, Darley-Usmar and Halliwell, 1996, Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1992, Halliwell, 2006*]. Moreover, XO was shown to contain a high affinity binding site for iron, where contaminating iron (as the one proposed in this study) can bind to it, and it was shown that, as mentioned before, it is difficult to eradicate this contaminant iron if present (such a contaminant iron will be different from the iron atoms that are integral parts of XO). This has led some authors to discuss the possibility that this binding site on XO might be occupied by an exogenous iron ion in vivo, which can catalyse toxic reactions [*Vile and Winterbourn, 1986, Britigan et al., 1990*].

The results suggest that the toxicity of NADH / XO combination was initiated by superoxide generated from the direct enzymatic oxidation of NADH by XO (see before). However, the results also suggest that it is possible for an in vivo toxic interaction to occur between NADH and XOR even in the absence of direct oxidation of NADH by XOR. That is, in a situation where XOR produces superoxide through oxidizing X (or HX), a toxic effect can result from the participation of this produced superoxide, NADH, and a metal in a free radical chain reaction (or other toxic reactions) even in the absence of direct oxidation of NADH by XOR. In such a situation, low concentrations of NADH might be enough to cause the toxicity (since the weak oxidation of NADH by some forms of XO will not be a factor in the availability of superoxide, and also since the inhibition of NADH oxidation by XOR (especially XDH)

by NAD<sup>+</sup> will not be a factor in the availability of superoxide). Therefore, in vivo, NADH can react (in the presence of a suitable free or chelated metal e.g. iron, copper, etc.) with superoxide (generated by NADH, X, or HX oxidation by XOR) to cause a toxic effect.

In summary, the toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR seems to be feasible in vivo. The results in this project can not prove or disprove this feasibility. However, if the toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR does occur in vivo (which is likely to be the case), then the results in this project provide some suggestions on what might be the nature of the toxic ROS/metals that mediate this in vivo toxicity. Indeed, proving this in vivo toxicity would require in vivo studies. However, it will be difficult to prove or rule out this toxicity, since the NADH binding site on XOR (the FAD site), unlike the X binding site (the Mo site), still has no specific in vivo blockers. Although DPI can block this FAD site in vivo, this inhibitor is not specific and can inhibit many other enzymes [Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004]. Therefore, there is a need for developing in vivo specific blockers of this site, especially since, as suggested by this cell-containing and previous cell-free studies, blocking the Mo site is unlikely to block a toxicity of NADH oxidation by XOR, and also since blocking the FAD site can inhibit ROS generated by either X or NADH oxidation by XOR. Also, in investigating this toxicity in vivo, it should be considered that toxicity might result from an indirect interaction between NADH and XOR.

## **4.3.2** Further investigation of the X / XO toxicity model

In addition to investigating the toxicity of the NADH / XO combination (which was rarely investigated in previous studies) and comparing it to the well investigated toxicity of the X / XO combination, another aim of this project was to address specific questions regarding those aspects of X / XO toxicity where there are uncertainties about them (see the section on Aim/Objectives in the Introduction). Some of these questions were addressed (at least partially) in the previous section (e.g. the possibility that XO is contaminated with iron/metal).

### 4.3.2.1 Role of intracellular superoxide in X / XO toxicity

The results in this and many previous studies suggest that, as discussed, superoxide generated from the X / XO combination in the extracellular compartment has no role in the toxicity of this combination (may be apart from its extracellular spontaneous dismutation to hydrogen peroxide). However, some previous reports showed that intracellular superoxide production mediates the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide that is either produced extracellularly from the X / XO combination or applied directly, though this was demonstrated in cell culture types other than CGNs [Ito et al., 1992, Kyle et al., 1988, Hiraishi et al., 1994]. To test this possibility in CGNs, the superoxide scavenger, Tiron (which failed to protect against X / XO toxicity when applied as a co-treatment at  $50 \,\mu\text{M}$ , as mentioned before), was tried here as a pre-treatment for 3 hr at 2 mM, aiming to give it a chance to get inside the neurons in high amount. With this experimental design, Tiron was able to protect against X / XO toxicity, which suggests the involvement of intracellular superoxide, especially since the Tiron-containing treatment solution was removed before applying the toxic insult. However, Tiron is also known to be an effective chelator of some metals including iron and molybdenum [Fridovich and Handler, 1962], an activity that can not be ruled out as the reason for its intracellular protective effect.

undertaken intracellular An attempt also to inhibit SOD-1 was by diethyldithiocarbamate (DDC, a potent and cell-permeable inhibitor of intracellular SOD-1 [Ito et al., 1992, Hiraishi et al., 1994, Blum and Fridovich, 1983, Benov and Fridovich, 1996], but of low specificity), where this inhibition was expected to potentiate the toxicity of the X / XO combination if intracellular superoxide is involved. Although DDC is not very specific in inhibiting intracellular SOD-1, it is likely that its potentiation of hydrogen peroxide-dependent toxicity in at least some of previous studies was indeed due to inhibiting intracellular SOD-1, for many reasons. Firstly, Hiraishi and co-workers (1994) showed that the potentiation of hydrogen peroxide toxicity closely paralleled its ability to inhibit intracellular SOD-1. Secondly, DDC was not found to inhibit some other intracellular antioxidant enzymes e.g. catalase, glutathione peroxidase, or glutathione reductase [Ito et al., 1992, Hiraishi et al., 1994, Blum and Fridovich, 1983]. Thirdly, Hiraishi and co-workers (1994) showed that DDC did not potentiate some other types of toxicity that are not known to be dependent on hydrogen peroxide/superoxide, and only potentiated hydrogen peroxide-dependent toxicity.

Fourthly, Benov and Fridovich (1996) showed that the potentiation of the toxicity of an oxidative stress model by DDC was reversed by a cell-permeable SOD mimetic, suggesting that DDC potentiated the toxicity through inhibiting intracellular SOD-1.

There was no significant potentiation of X / XO toxicity by DDC in this study. There was no time left in this project to try higher concentrations or longer incubation times of DDC (a previous study showed that increasing the pre-treatment time of DDC from 1 to 2 hr resulted in a very significant decrease in the activity of intracellular SOD-1 [*Ito et al., 1992*]). Although the failure of DDC to potentiate X / XO toxicity might suggest that intracellular superoxide was not involved, this will be difficult to explain in the light of both the protection found by Tiron pre-treatment and the results of previous studies. DDC is known to interact with XO (it can be oxidized initially by the enzyme, but the product will inhibit the enzyme) [*Fried, 1976, Kober et al., 2003*], and although this is unlikely to influence the activity of our added XO (since DDC and XO were not present together), DDC might affect the activity of intracellular XOR. However, it is not clear if this can explain the failure of DDC to potentiate X / XO toxicity. Fig. 4-2 shows the sequence of the more likely events leading eventually to cell damage in the X / XO toxicity model based on the available results.

The possibility raised by this study (and supported by the previous studies quoted earlier) that intracellular superoxide is involved in X / XO toxicity, suggests that the failure of SOD co-treatment (and Tiron co-treatment) to protect was due to both the failure of SOD to cross the cell membrane (and hence its failure to block the toxicity mediated by intracellular superoxide) and also the failure of superoxide generated extracellularly from X / XO combination to cross the cell membrane (and hence its failure to increase the pool of intracellular superoxide that was mediating the toxicity). Therefore, in vivo, in XOR-related disorders, the oxidation of substrates by XOR, whether takes place intracellularly or extracellularly, might produce a toxicity that can be mediated by intracellular superoxide. This validates targeting superoxide in investigating/treating disorders where XOR is suspected to a play a role.



Figure 4-2: Diagram showing the sequence of the more likely events leading eventually to cell death in the X / XO system, in the light of the available results. Initially, XO directly oxidizes X extracellularly, which can be blocked by blocking the Mo site on XO with allopurinol, and also probably by blocking the FAD site with DPI. This oxidation directly produces ROS i.e. hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and superoxide  $(O_2)$  as co-products in this process. The majority of ROS produced directly will be in the form of hydrogen peroxide (80%), while the remaining will be in the form of superoxide (20%). Most of the directly produced superoxide radicals do not enter the cells, and they spontaneously dismutate to hydrogen peroxide in the extracellular compartment. Hydrogen peroxide produced directly from XO and also from the spontaneous dismutation of superoxide readily crosses the cell membrane to cause intracellular toxicity, where externally added catalase can deactivate hydrogen peroxide before it can enter the cells. Notice that although the metal contaminating XO that was playing a role in NADH / XO toxicity was likely present in this system (since this is the same commercial preparation of XO), this metal has no role in X / XO toxicity. In the intracellular space, hydrogen peroxide participates with intracellular reduced iron ion  $(Fe^{2+})$  to produce the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical (Fenton reaction), which can be blocked by pre-treatment (but not co-treatment) with deferoxamine. Intracellular superoxide mediates this intracellular toxicity of hydrogen peroxide through increasing the availability of the reduced form of iron as shown  $(\rightarrow +ve)$  (or by other mechanisms), which can be blocked by pre-treatment (but not co-treatment) with the superoxide scavenger, Tiron (though Tiron is also known to be an effective chelator of some metals including iron, which might be an alternative explanation of its protection, as shown). Intracellular SOD-1 limits this toxic action of superoxide through dismutating it to hydrogen peroxide, where this small amount of hydrogen peroxide is deactivated by the intracellular hydrogen peroxide-deactivating enzymes. Therefore, inhibiting intracellular SOD-1 may result in the potentiation of the toxicity, but although this potentiation of toxicity by inhibiting intracellular SOD-1 was demonstrated in previous studies by using DDC, this was not found here (since DDC effect failed to reach statistical significance in the viability assay).

### 4.3.2.2 Role of intracellular hydroxyl radical in X / XO toxicity

The results with Tiron pre-treatment, deferoxamine pre-treatment, and catalase cotreatment (and also the results of many previous studies [*Satoh et al., 1998, Link and Riley, 1988, Mohsen et al., 1995, Duell et al., 1995, Hiraishi et al., 1987, Zigler et al., 1985*]) suggest that the toxicity of X / XO combination was due to hydrogen peroxide generated in the extracellular space and then entering the neurons and participating in a Fenton reaction with an intracellular iron (where this reaction was likely mediated by intracellular superoxide) to produce the very reactive and toxic hydroxyl radical (or a similar species). The failure of co-treatment with the hydroxyl radical scavengers (mannitol, ethanol, and DMSO) mentioned earlier, although might argue against the involvement of extracellular hydroxyl radical in X / XO toxicity, does not necessarily mean that intracellular hydroxyl radical was not involved. Therefore, the idea was to investigate the involvement of intracellular hydroxyl radical through using different scavengers of it as pre-treatment (to give them a chance to accumulate inside the cells) before applying X / XO combination.

Initially, a compound called POBN, which has the ability to scavenge hydroxyl radical (but also many other free radicals) was tried [*Mottley et al., 1986, Pérez and Cederbaum, 2001, Reinke et al., 1994*]. POBN is a member of a large group of compounds called spin traps, which are used essentially as detectors of free radicals, where a spin trap reacts with a free radical (e.g. hydroxyl radical) to produce a new species (a more stable secondary radical) that can be detected by a method called electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy [*Reinke et al., 1994, Tarpey and Fridovich, 2001, Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004*]. In theory (which was also shown in some viability studies), since these detect free radicals by scavenging them, they might protect tissues from insults that involve generation of toxic free radicals. However, when the neurons were pre-treated here with POBN at 20 mM for 1hr, instead of providing protection, it significantly potentiated X / XO toxicity. Surprisingly, when POBN was applied as co-treatment rather than pre-treatment, it produced the opposite effect, showing significant protection against X / XO toxicity.

The opposite effects exerted by co-treatment and pre-treatment with POBN can not be easily explained. Therefore, the following discussion is mostly speculative. The potentiation of the toxicity by the POBN pre-treatment might have been due to the accumulation of POBN inside the cells (since the POBN-containing treatment solution was removed before applying the toxic insult). Although intracellular POBN was not toxic itself (since pre-treatment with POBN alone was not toxic), it was able to potentiate the toxicity of the X / XO combination applied afterwards. This intracellular toxic effect of POBN might have or have not been due to free radicals (e.g. hydroxyl radicals) spin-trapping. If it was due to spin-trapping a free radical, it is possible that a species produced from spin-trapping the free radical by POBN (likely to be a secondary radical) was more toxic than the free radical being spin-trapped itself. This can happen e.g. some secondary radicals produced from scavenging hydroxyl radical were shown/proposed to be more toxic than (or at least as toxic as) hydroxyl radical itself, may be because they have longer half lives and/or more lipid solubility [Luo et al., 2001, Liochev and Fridovich, 1991]. For such a possibility, some authors have warned against overlooking the effects of secondary radicals produced in studies that use scavengers of hydroxyl radical (or other radicals) as a therapeutic means [Liochev and Fridovich, 1991]. Another fact that suggests that trying to directly scavenge free radicals may not be a good way to treat oxidative stress-related disorders is that, as mentioned in the Introduction, a free radical (especially hydroxyl radical) is generally non selective in its reactions, so to scavenge it, a scavenger needs to be applied in a very high concentration in order to outcompete the many vulnerable biological targets (i.e. scavengers) of the free radical. A better way is to prevent the generation of free radicals (for example by using metal chelators).

If the potentiation of toxicity by intracellular POBN was not due to free radical spintrapping, an alternative possibility is that it might have been due to its known ability to reduce  $Fe^{3+}$  to  $Fe^{2+}$  [*Reinke et al., 1994*]. This possibility means that POBN in the intracellular compartment was catalysing the same or a similar reaction to that POBN was supposed to scavenge its toxic product i.e. Fenton reaction.

The opposite effect found by POBN co-treatment (i.e. protection) is also difficult to explain, even if it is assumed that it was exerted extracellularly. Since POBN applied as co-treatment (but not pre-treatment) was present together with the X / XO combination, one explanation for its protection is that it was inhibiting XO. However, this explanation is ruled out by a previous observation that POBN even at 100 mM does not significantly influence XO activity [*Britigan et al., 1991*]. Also, it is unlikely that the protection with POBN co-treatment was due to spin-trapping superoxide radicals generated

extracellularly from X / XO combination because POBN was shown to be slow in reacting with superoxide [*Britigan et al., 1991*], and also because it was shown in this and many previous studies that extracellular superoxide is not involved in X / XO toxicity. Moreover, it is unlikely that the protection by POBN co-treatment was due to scavenging hydrogen peroxide generated in the system because POBN does not interact significantly with hydrogen peroxide [*Britigan et al., 1991*]. Moreover, the hydroxyl radical scavengers (mannitol, DMSO, and ethanol) tried here as co-treatments had no effect on the toxicity, as mentioned before, arguing against spin-trapping extracellular hydroxyl radicals as the reason for protection by POBN co-treatment. Alternatively, one might assume that POBN (applied as co-treatment) was exerting its protective effect intracellularly, but this is even more difficult to explain, since POBN pre-treatment potentiated the toxicity.

If additional spin-traps (or hydroxyl radical scavengers) were used (especially as pretreatment), this would have given both an explanation for the observed effects of POBN and more verification of the proposed role for intracellular hydroxyl radical in X / XO toxicity (see later for suggestions for future studies).

In summary, although it is likely that intracellular hydroxyl radical (or a similar species) is involved in X / XO toxicity, the preliminary studies did not support or argue against trying to directly scavenge hydroxyl radicals as a possible means to prevent this toxicity. However, it seems from the preliminary studies (and from the nature of hydroxyl radical) that it is better to prevent the generations of hydroxyl radicals than to try to directly scavenger it. This might also be true for some other radicals. This might explain the failure of some direct free radicals scavengers in clinical trials, especially since in clinical trials the scavengers are usually administered after the onset of the attack (e.g. stroke) where the targeted radical might have long been produced and probably caused its toxic reactions before the drug was able to reach to the damage site. However, this might be the only feasible way to treat free radicals might not be feasible. However, it is possible that both trying to prevent the generation of certain free radicals and even trying to directly scavenge them might produce beneficial effects in human diseases where the oxidative stress damage is chronic e.g. Parkinson's disease.

## 4.4 Future work

Generalization is difficult in cell culture studies, so some of the observations found here might be different under different experimental conditions. Therefore, to obtain more generalization, more verification of the experimental conditions is suggested. In particular, since the results suggest that a metal contamination of XO was involved in NADH / XO toxicity, future studies should investigate more the likely contamination of XO by a metal, which can be achieved through pursuing two lines of investigations. The first is using many preparations of the bovine milk XO (purchased from different sources), where if EDTA protects against the toxicity of all these preparations, it will be unlikely that all were contaminated with metals, and this would suggest other alternative mechanisms for EDTA protection. The second is screening various metal chelators (in addition to EDTA) that have different selectivity for metals against NADH / XO toxicity. Pursuing these two lines of investigations will hopefully confirm or rule out a role for metal contamination of XO in this toxicity.

Also, to have more insights into the NADH / XOR toxicity, it would be very helpful if some other forms of XOR (that are known to be much more efficient in oxidizing NADH than the bovine milk XO used here) were used and compared with each other.

Another suggestion is to exclude HEPES buffer from the treatment solutions (it was present in both HEPES-sol and MEM-HEPES-sol). HEPES has the ability to interfere with many free radical reactions, as mentioned before, so it is probable that some of the reactions here might have been mediated, inhibited, or diverted by the presence of HEPES. The only experiment where the effect of HEPES was tested was the cell-free experiment that investigated the effect of SOD-1 on hydrogen peroxide production/accumulation in the NADH / XO system, where the same result was obtained in the presence and absence of HEPES (see earlier). In future viability studies, it is better to try different buffer solutions (and different media), since no one seems to be ideal.

The results of this and many previous studies suggest that intracellularly (but not extracellularly) produced superoxide is involved in X / XO toxicity. For future work, there are two suggestions. The first is to confirm the role of intracellular superoxide in X / XO toxicity in CGNs by trying cell-permeable SOD mimetics (e.g. MnTBAP [*Patel*]

*et al., 1996*]), and also by trying a better way of assessing the role of intracellular SOD-1 than using the SOD-1 inhibitor, DDC, tried here (e.g. knocking out the SOD-1 gene). The second suggestion is to investigate the probability that intracellular superoxide also mediates the toxicity of NADH / XO combination as it is the case with X / XO combination (since in both systems, extracellularly produced/accumulated hydrogen peroxide is a main toxic molecule, where intracellular superoxide was shown to mediate such a toxicity).

Since the results of this and previous studies suggest the involvement of intracellular hydroxyl radical (or a similar species) in the X / XO toxicity, there are two suggestions for future studies. First, since the preliminary experiments in this study did not show that the X / XO toxicity can be prevented by directly scavenging hydroxyl radical, this can be investigated by using many spin-traps and hydroxyl radical scavengers, especially as pre-treatment. Second, this investigation can be extended to the NADH / XO toxicity, since intracellular hydroxyl radical is likely to be involved in the toxicity of that system as well.

Investigating the effects of uric acid (which is produced from the oxidation of X by XO) on X / XO toxicity might produce interesting results, which could also have significant in vivo implications. Uric acid is known to produce both protective and detrimental effects [*Feig et al., 2008, Dimitroula et al., 2008*]. One way to do that is through comparing the toxicity of the X / XO combination with the toxicity of the acetaldehyde / XO combination, since although the substrate oxidation in the two systems takes place at the Mo site [*Simon et al., 1981*] which leads to ROS production at the FAD site, the oxidation of acetaldehyde by XO will not produce uric acid. Substrates other than acetaldehyde that can bind to the Mo site but their oxidation does not yield uric acid can also be tried.

Finally, broader avenues of research that can be followed include investigating the interplay of XOR toxicity with other toxic pathways. There are two interesting examples. First, it was mentioned in the Introduction that intracellular XOR, through a non clear mechanism, augmented the toxicity of the endogenous toxic metabolite, 3-Hydroxykynurenine (3-HK), when the latter was applied to neuronal cultures. Therefore, it will be interesting to characterize the mechanism of this toxic augmentation. Also, since 3-HK is just one of many products of a large metabolic

pathway, the kynurenine pathway, it will be interesting to investigate the interplay of XOR with this pathway, especially since this pathway is known to be intimately connected to oxidative stress [*Stone and Darlington, 2002*]. Second, since an augmentative interplay in neurons between glutamate receptor-dependent excitotoxicity and some oxidative stress components was demonstrated previously, as mentioned in the Introduction, and also since blocking the glutamate NMDA-receptors was shown to inhibit X / XO toxicity [*Satoh et al., 1998*], it will be interesting to further characterize the interplay between X / XOR (and NADH / XOR) toxicity and the glutamate system in CGNs.

# **5** Conclusions

## A: Conclusions regarding culturing/experimental conditions

Some culturing/experimental optimizations were found to both improve the status of the cultures and increase the reliability of the viability experiments in CGNs cultures. These include: 1) either a serum-free medium or a conditioned medium (i.e. glutamatefree serum-containing medium), but not fresh serum-containing medium (which will contain glutamate), should be used as the vehicle to add test compounds. This is because glutamate already present in the fresh serum-containing medium can cause severe toxicity to CGNs; 2) for the same reason, conditioned medium can be used as the medium to which the neurons are restored at the end of the treatment period. In this regard, conditioned medium is preferred to serum-free medium, since although the latter has the advantage of being free of glutamate it might cause damage to the neurons if they are left in it withdrawn from serum (which might be necessary for the viability of cells) for a prolonged restoration period (like the 16-24 hr applied here); 3) the edge wells in a 96-well plate should not be included in viability experiments in CGNs cultures, since these will likely be affected by the edge effect; 4) if Alamar blue assay is being used to assess the viability of CGNs, in addition to the edge wells, also the nextedge wells should not be included in the experiments, and only inside wells should be used. This is because it was found here that the neurons in next-edge wells give consistently slightly higher viability readings in the Alamar blue assay than the neurons in the inside wells, where although these differences are relatively small, they might lead to misleading conclusions. In this regard, edge wells and next-edge wells should not be left blank, but a cell-free medium can be added to them; 5) if a treatment medium uses bicarbonate/CO<sub>2</sub> as a buffering system, a harmful rise in the pH can easily occur (due to the release of  $CO_2$ ), and to overcome this problem, such a medium can be placed in a vented-cap flask (i.e. permeable to gases) and placed in a CO<sub>2</sub>-incubator, and retuned to this incubator immediately after each usage.

# **B:** Conclusions regarding investigating XO toxicity

**1-** The combination of NADH and the bovine milk XO induces damage to CGNs. It is feasible that the oxidation of NADH by some forms of XOR (other than the one used here) that are known to be very efficient in oxidizing NADH might produce in vivo toxicity. However, it will be difficult to prove or rule out this toxicity, since the NADH binding site on XOR (the FAD site), unlike the X binding site (the Mo site), still has no specific in vivo blockers. Although DPI can block the FAD site in vivo, this inhibitor is not specific and can inhibit many other enzymes [*Harrison, 2002, Berry and Hare, 2004*]. Also, blocking the Mo site with allopurinol did not prevent NADH / XO toxicity in this study, which is in agreement with previous cell-free studies, which might have therapeutic implications. Therefore, there is a need for developing in vivo specific blockers of the FAD site, especially since, as suggested by this cell-containing and previous cell-free studies, blocking the FAD site (i.e. NADH) or to the Mo site (i.e. X or HX).

**2-** A possibility raised by this study is that a metal (like the one proposed to contaminate XO used in this study) might contribute to XOR toxicity in vivo, where such a metal might either potentiate a toxicity induced by XOR directly oxidizing the substrate or mediate an indirect interaction between XOR and the substrate. For example, in vivo, in cases where superoxide is generated by a direct oxidation of X (or HX) by XOR, a toxic effect can result from the participation of this produced superoxide, NADH, and a metal in a free radical chain reaction (or other toxic reactions) even in the absence of a direct oxidation of NADH by XOR.

**3-** Superoxide often mediates XOR toxicity, and the failure of SOD to prevent X / XO toxicity in cell cultures does not necessarily rule out a role for superoxide. This is because in many cases in cell culture studies, SOD might not be able to enter the cells, where intracellularly generated superoxide (it does not need to be generated from intracellular XOR) can mediate the toxicity of hydrogen peroxide generated extracellularly from the X / XO combination. This means that in vivo, superoxide can mediate the toxicity of XOR when oxidizing substrates either extracellularly or intracellularly.

**4-** The results add support to many previous studies which suggested that intracellular hydroxyl radical (or a similar species) is involved in XOR toxicity. However, the preliminary experiments did not support or argue against directly scavenging hydroxyl radical as a possible means to prevent this toxicity. However, it seems from the preliminary experiments (and from the nature of hydroxyl radical) that it is better to prevent its generation than to try to directly scavenge it.

# References

Aarts M, Iihara K, Wei WL, Xiong ZG, Arundine M, Cerwinski W, MacDonald JF, and Tymianski M. (2003). A key role for TRPM7 channels in anoxic neuronal death. Cell, 115, 863-77.

Abeijon C and Hirschberg CB. (1990). Topography of initiation of N-glycosylation reactions. J Biol Chem., 265,14691-5.

Abramov AY, Scorziello A, and Duchen MR. (2007). Three distinct mechanisms generate oxygen free radicals in neurons and contribute to cell death during anoxia and reoxygenation. J Neurosci., 27, 1129-38.

Allen RE, Claxson AW, Blake DR, and Morris CJ. (1990). Inhibition of xanthine oxidase by allopurinol: its lack of effect on models of inflammation. Ann Rheum Dis., 49, 422-3.

Angstwurm MW, Engelmann L, Zimmermann T, Lehmann C, Spes CH, Abel P, Strauss R, Meier-Hellmann A, Insel R, Radke J, Schüttler J, and Gärtner R. (2007). Selenium in Intensive Care (SIC): results of a prospective randomized, placebo-controlled, multiple-center study in patients with severe systemic inflammatory response syndrome, sepsis, and septic shock. Crit Care Med., 35, 118-26.

Araújo IM, Verdasca MJ, Ambrósio AF, and Carvalho CM. (2004). Nitric oxide inhibits complex I following AMPA receptor activation via peroxynitrite. Neuroreport., 15, 2007-11.

Arnelle DR and Stamler JS. (1995). NO+, NO, and NO- donation by S-nitrosothiols: implications for regulation of physiological functions by S-nitrosylation and acceleration of disulfide formation. Arch Biochem Biophys., 318, 279-85.

Aronica E, Dell'Albani P, Condorelli DF, Nicoletti F, Hack N, and Balázs R. (1993). Mechanisms underlying developmental changes in the expression of metabotropic glutamate receptors in cultured cerebellar granule cells: homologous desensitization and interactive effects involving N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. Mol Pharmacol., 44, 981-9.

Aruoma OI, Halliwell B, Gajewski E, and Dizdaroglu M. (1991). Copper-ion-dependent damage to the bases in DNA in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. Biochem J., 273, 601-4.

Atlante A, Calissano P, Bobba A, Azzariti A, Marra E, and Passarella S. (2000). Cytochrome c is released from mitochondria in a reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent fashion and can operate as a ROS scavenger and as a respiratory substrate in cerebellar neurons undergoing excitotoxic death. J Biol Chem., 275, 37159-66.

Atlante A, Gagliardi S, Minervini GM, Ciotti MT, Marra E, and Calissano P. (1997). Glutamate neurotoxicity in rat cerebellar granule cells: a major role for xanthine oxidase in oxygen radical formation. J Neurochem., 68, 2038-45.

Ayata C, Ayata G, Hara H, Matthews RT, Beal MF, Ferrante RJ, Endres M, Kim A, Christie RH, Waeber C, Huang PL, Hyman BT, and Moskowitz MA. (1997). Mechanisms of reduced striatal NMDA excitotoxicity in type I nitric oxide synthase knock-out mice. J Neurosci., 17, 6908-17.

Azuma T, Ikeda S, Kondo T, Imai H, and Yamada M. (2001). Ethylenediamine-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid induces parthenogenetic activation of porcine oocytes at the germinal vesicle stage, leading to formation of blastocysts. Biol Reprod., 64, 647-53.

Babbs CF and Griffin DW. (1989). Scatchard analysis of methane sulfinic acid production from dimethyl sulfoxide: a method to quantify hydroxyl radical formation in physiologic systems. Free Radic Biol Med., 6, 493-503.

Babcock DF, Herrington J, Goodwin PC, Park YB, and Hille B. (1997). Mitochondrial participation in the intracellular Ca2+ network. J Cell Biol., 136, 833-44.

Back SA, Khan R, Gan X, Rosenberg PA, and Volpe JJ. (1999). A new Alamar Blue viability assay to rapidly quantify oligodendrocyte death. J Neurosci Methods., 91, 47-54.

Bader A, Frühauf N, Tiedge M, Drinkgern M, De Bartolo L, Borlak JT, and Steinhoff G, Haverich A. (1999). Enhanced oxygen delivery reverses anaerobic metabolic states in prolonged sandwich rat hepatocyte culture. Exp Cell Res., 246, 221-32.

Baldus S, Köster R, Chumley P, Heitzer T, Rudolph V, Ostad MA, Warnholtz A, Staude HJ, Thuneke F, Koss K, Berger J, Meinertz T, Freeman BA, and Münzel T. (2005). Oxypurinol improves coronary and peripheral endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease. Free Radic Biol Med., 39, 1184-90.

Baldus S, Müllerleile K, Chumley P, Steven D, Rudolph V, Lund GK, Staude HJ, Stork A, Köster R, Kähler J, Weiss C, Münzel T, Meinertz T, Freeman BA, and Heitzer T. (2006). Inhibition of xanthine oxidase improves myocardial contractility in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Free Radic Biol Med., 41, 1282-8.

Bartesaghi S, Trujillo M, Denicola A, Folkes L, Wardman P, and Radi R. (2004). Reactions of desferrioxamine with peroxynitrite-derived carbonate and nitrogen dioxide radicals. Free Radic Biol Med., 36, 471-83.

Battelli MG, Buonamici L, Virgili M, Abbondanza A, and Contestabile A. (1998). Simulated ischaemia-reperfusion conditions increase xanthine dehydrogenase and oxidase activities in rat brain slices. Neurochem Int., 32, 17-21.

Beaman-Hall CM, Leahy JC, Benmansour S, and Vallano ML. (1998). Glia modulate NMDA-mediated signaling in primary cultures of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurochem., 71, 1993-2005.

Beetsch JW, Park TS, Dugan LL, Shah AR, and Gidday JM. (1998). Xanthine oxidasederived superoxide causes reoxygenation injury of ischemic cerebral endothelial cells. Brain Res., 786, 89-95.

Behl C, Davis JB, Lesley R, and Schubert D. (1994). Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. Cell., 77, 817-27.

Bellmann K, Wenz A, Radons J, Burkart V, Kleemann R, and Kolb H. (1995). Heat shock induces resistance in rat pancreatic islet cells against nitric oxide, oxygen radicals and streptozotocin toxicity in vitro. J Clin Invest., 95, 2840-5.

Benders MJ, Bos AF, Rademaker CM, Rijken M, Torrance HL, Groenendaal F, and van Bel F. (2006). Early postnatal allopurinol does not improve short term outcome after severe birth asphyxia. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed., 91, F163-5.

Benov L and Fridovich I. (1996). Functional significance of the Cu,ZnSOD in Escherichia coli. Arch Biochem Biophys., 327, 249-53.

Benov L and Fridovich I. (2002). Is reduction of the sulfonated tetrazolium 2,3-bis (2-methoxy-4-nitro-5-sulfophenyl)-2-tetrazolium 5-carboxanilide a reliable measure of intracellular superoxide production? Anal Biochem., 310, 186-90.

Berry CE and Hare JM. (2004). Xanthine oxidoreductase and cardiovascular disease: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological implications. J Physiol., 555, 589-606.

Betz AL. (1985). Identification of hypoxanthine transport and xanthine oxidase activity in brain capillaries. J Neurochem., 44, 574-9.

Betz AL, Randall J, and Martz D. (1991). Xanthine oxidase is not a major source of free radicals in focal cerebral ischemia. Am J Physiol., 260, H563-8.

Birkmayer JG, Vrecko C, Volc D, and Birkmayer W. (1993). Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH)--a new therapeutic approach to Parkinson's disease. Comparison of oral and parenteral application. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl., 146, 32-5.

Blum J and Fridovich I. (1983). Superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and oxygen toxicity in two free-living nematode species. Arch Biochem Biophys., 222, 35-43.

Boaz M, Smetana S, Weinstein T, Matas Z, Gafter U, Iaina A, Knecht A, Weissgarten Y, Brunner D, Fainaru M, and Green MS. (2000). Secondary prevention with antioxidants of cardiovascular disease in endstage renal disease (SPACE): randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet., 356, 1213-8.

Bras M, Queenan B, and Susin SA. (2005). Programmed cell death via mitochondria: different modes of dying. Biochemistry (Mosc)., 70, 231-9.

Brewer GJ. (1997). Isolation and culture of adult rat hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci Methods., 71, 143-55.

Britigan BE, Pou S, Rosen GM, Lilleg DM, and Buettner GR. (1990). Hydroxyl radical is not a product of the reaction of xanthine oxidase and xanthine. The confounding problem of adventitious iron bound to xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem., 265, 17533-8.

Britigan BE, Roeder TL, and Buettner GR. Spin traps inhibit formation of hydrogen peroxide via the dismutation of superoxide: implications for spin trapping the hydroxyl free radical. (1991). Biochim Biophys Acta., 1075, 213-22.

Brown JM, Terada LS, Grosso MA, Whitmann GJ, Velasco SE, Patt A, Harken AH, and Repine JE. (1988). Xanthine oxidase produces hydrogen peroxide which contributes to reperfusion injury of ischemic, isolated, perfused rat hearts. J Clin Invest., 81, 1297–1301.

Canelas AB, van Gulik WM, and Heijnen JJ. (2008). Determination of the cytosolic free NAD/NADH ratio in Saccharomyces cerevisiae under steady-state and highly dynamic conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng., 100, 734-43.

Canter PH, Wider B, and Ernst E. (2007). The antioxidant vitamins A, C, E and selenium in the treatment of arthritis: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Rheumatology (Oxford)., 46, 1223-33.

Cardillo C, Kilcoyne CM, Cannon RO 3rd, Quyyumi AA, and Panza JA. (1997). Xanthine oxidase inhibition with oxypurinol improves endothelial vasodilator function in hypercholesterolemic but not in hypertensive patients. Hypertension., 30, 57-63.

Carney JM and Floyd RA. (1991). Protection against oxidative damage to CNS by alpha-phenyl-tert-butyl nitrone (PBN) and other spin-trapping agents: a novel series of nonlipid free radical scavengers. J Mol Neurosci., 3, 47-57.

Carriedo SG, Yin HZ, Sensi SL, Weiss JH. (1998). Rapid Ca2+ entry through Ca2+permeable AMPA/Kainate channels triggers marked intracellular Ca2+ rises and consequent oxygen radical production. J Neurosci., 18, 7727-38.

Casalino-Matsuda SM, Monzón ME, and Forteza RM. (2006). Epidermal growth factor receptor activation by epidermal growth factor mediates oxidant-induced goblet cell metaplasia in human airway epithelium. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol., 34, 581-91.

Castro-Gago M, Blanco-Barca MO, Novo-Rodríguez MI, Gómez-Lado C, Camiña F, Eirís-Puñal J, and Rodríguez-Segade S. (2006). Treatment of mitochondrial encephalomyopathies with a xanthine oxidase inhibitor. Pediatr Neurol., 35, 318-22.

Cebere A and Liljequist S. (2003). Ethanol differentially inhibits homoquinolinic acidand NMDA-induced neurotoxicity in primary cultures of cerebellar granule cells. Neurochem Res., 28, 1193-9.

Cerwenka H, Khoschsorur G, Bacher H, Werkgartner G, El-Shabrawi A, Quehenberger F, Rabl H, and Mischinger HJ. (1999). Normothermic liver ischemia and antioxidant treatment during hepatic resections. Free Radic Res., 30, 463-9.

Chandra J, Samali A, and Orrenius S. (2000). Triggering and modulation of apoptosis by oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med., 29, 323-33.

Chan PC and Bielski BH. (1974). Enzyme-catalyzed free radical reactions with nicotinamide adenine nucleotides. II. Lactate dehydrogenase-catalyzed oxidation of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide by superoxide radicals generated by xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem., 249, 1317-9.

Cheng Y and Sun AY. (1994). Oxidative mechanisms involved in kainate-induced cytotoxicity in cortical neurons. Neurochem Res., 19, 1557-64.

Cherny RA, Atwood CS, Xilinas ME, Gray DN, Jones WD, McLean CA, Barnham KJ, Volitakis I, Fraser FW, Kim Y, Huang X, Goldstein LE, Moir RD, Lim JT, Beyreuther K, Zheng H, Tanzi RE, Masters CL, and Bush AI. (2001). Treatment with a copper-zinc chelator markedly and rapidly inhibits beta-amyloid accumulation in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. Neuron, 30, 665-76.

Cheung EC, Melanson-Drapeau L, Cregan SP, Vanderluit JL, Ferguson KL, McIntosh WC, Park DS, Bennett SA, and Slack RS. (2005). Apoptosis-inducing factor is a key factor in neuronal cell death propagated by BAX-dependent and BAX-independent mechanisms. J Neurosci., 25, 1324-34.

Chinopoulos C and Adam-Vizi V. (2006). Calcium, mitochondria and oxidative stress in neuronal pathology. Novel aspects of an enduring theme. FEBS J., 273, 433-50.

Cighetti G, Del Puppo M, Paroni R, and Galli Kienle M. (1990). Lack of conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase during warm renal ischemia. FEBS Lett., 274, 82-4.

Ciotti MT, Giannetti S, Mercanti D, and Calissano P. (1996). A glutamate-sensitizing activity in conditioned media derived from rat cerebellar granule cells. Eur J Neurosci., 8, 1591-600.

Coetzee A, Roussouw G, and Macgregor L. (1996). Failure of allopurinol to improve left ventricular stroke work after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth., 10, 627-33.

Contestabile A. (2002). Cerebellar granule cells as a model to study mechanisms of neuronal apoptosis or survival in vivo and in vitro. Cerebellum., 1, 41-55.

Cui XL, Qin C, and Zigler JS Jr. (1994). Residual EDTA bound by lens crystallins accounts for their reported resistance to copper-catalyzed oxidative damage. Arch Biochem Biophys., 308, 207-13.

Danysz W, Dyr W, Jankowska E, Glazewski S, and Kostowski W. (1992). The involvement of NMDA receptors in acute and chronic effects of ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res., 16, 499-504.

Darley-Usmar V and Halliwell B. (1996). Blood radicals: reactive nitrogen species, reactive oxygen species, transition metal ions, and the vascular system. Pharm Res., 13, 649-62.

Darr D and Fridovich I. (1984). Vanadate and molybdate stimulate the oxidation of NADH by superoxide radical. Arch Biochem Biophys., 232, 562-5.

Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Bartley DA, Uhl GR, and Snyder SH. (1993). Mechanisms of nitric oxide-mediated neurotoxicity in primary brain cultures. J Neurosci., 13, 2651-61.

Dawson VL and Dawson TM. (2004). Deadly conversations: nuclear-mitochondrial cross-talk. J Bioenerg Biomembr., 36, 287-94.

Dawson VL, Kizushi VM, Huang PL, Snyder SH, and Dawson TM. (1996). Resistance to neurotoxicity in cortical cultures from neuronal nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. J Neurosci., 16, 2479-87.

de Groot H and Littauer A. (1989). Hypoxia, reactive oxygen, and cell injury. Free Radic Biol Med., 6, 541-51.

Demedts M, Behr J, Buhl R, Costabel U, Dekhuijzen R, Jansen HM, MacNee W, Thomeer M, Wallaert B, Laurent F, Nicholson AG, Verbeken EK, Verschakelen J, Flower CD, Capron F, Petruzzelli S, De Vuyst P, van den Bosch JM, Rodriguez-Becerra E, Corvasce G, Lankhorst I, Sardina M, and Montanari M; IFIGENIA Study Group. (2005). High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N Engl J Med., 353, 2229-42.

Desco MC, Asensi M, Márquez R, Martínez-Valls J, Vento M, Pallardó FV, Sastre J, and Viña J. (2002). Xanthine oxidase is involved in free radical production in type 1 diabetes: protection by allopurinol. Diabetes., 51, 1118-24.

Dildy JE and Leslie SW. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-induced increases in free intracellular Ca2+ in dissociated brain cells. Brain Res., 499, 383-7.

Dimitroula HV, Hatzitolios AI, and Karvounis HI. (2008). The role of uric acid in stroke: the issue remains unresolved. Neurologist., 14, 238-42.

Dini L, Rossi L, Lentini A, De Martino A, and Rotilio G. (1995). Immunocytochemical study of binding and internalization of carrier-free Cu, Zn Superoxide dismutase by cultured rat hepatocytes. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)., 41, 1051-9.

Di Prospero NA, Baker A, Jeffries N, and Fischbeck KH. (2007). Neurological effects of high-dose idebenone in patients with Friedreich's ataxia: a randomised, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet Neurol., 6, 878-86.

Duell T, Lengfelder E, Fink R, Giesen R, and Bauchinger M. (1995). Effect of activated oxygen species in human lymphocytes. Mutat Res., 336, 29-38.

Dutrait N, Culcasi M, Cazevieille C, Pietri S, Tordo P, Bonne C, and Muller A. (1995). Calcium-dependent free radical generation in cultured retinal neurons injured by kainate. Neurosci Lett., 198, 13-6.

Dykens JA, Stern A, and Trenkner E. (1987). Mechanism of kainate toxicity to cerebellar neurons in vitro is analogous to reperfusion tissue injury. J Neurochem., 49, 1222-8.

Eimerl S and Schramm M. (1991). Acute glutamate toxicity in cultured cerebellar granule cells: agonist potency, effects of pH, Zn2+ and the potentiation by serum albumin. Brain Res., 560, 282-90.

Eliasson MJ, Huang Z, Ferrante RJ, Sasamata M, Molliver ME, Snyder SH, and Moskowitz MA. (1999). Neuronal nitric oxide synthase activation and peroxynitrite formation in ischemic stroke linked to neural damage. J Neurosci., 19, 5910-8.

Engelmann MD, Bobier RT, Hiatt T, and Cheng IF. Variability of the Fenton reaction characteristics of the EDTA, DTPA, and citrate complexes of iron. 2003. Biometals., 16, 519-27.

Fang JC, Kinlay S, Beltrame J, Hikiti H, Wainstein M, Behrendt D, Suh J, Frei B, Mudge GH, Selwyn AP, and Ganz P. (2002). Effect of vitamins C and E on progression of transplant-associated arteriosclerosis: a randomised trial. Lancet, 359, 1108-13.

Fatokun AA. (2006). Oxidative stress and the viability of osteoblasts and cerebellar granule neurons. PhD Thesis, University of Glasgow.

Fatokun AA, Stone TW, and Smith RA. (2007a). Hydrogen peroxide mediates damage by xanthine and xanthine oxidase in cerebellar granule neuronal cultures. Neurosci Lett., 416, 34-8.

Fatokun AA, Stone TW, and Smith RA. (2007b). Cell death in rat cerebellar granule neurons induced by hydrogen peroxide in vitro: mechanisms and protection by adenosine receptor ligands. Brain Res., 1132, 193-202.

Fatokun AA, Stone TW, and Smith RA. (2008a). Oxidative stress in neurodegeneration and available means of protection. Frontiers in Bioscience, 13, 3288-3311.

Fatokun AA, Smith RA, and Stone TW. (2008b). Resistance to kynurenic acid of the NMDA receptor-dependent toxicity of 3-nitropropionic acid and cyanide in cerebellar granule neurons. Brain Res., 1215, 200-7.

Fatokun AA, Stone TW, and Smith RA. (2008c). Adenosine receptor ligands protect against a combination of apoptotic and necrotic cell death in cerebellar granule neurons. Exp Brain Res., 186, 151-60.

Feig DI, Kang DH, and Johnson RJ. (2008). Uric acid and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med., 359, 1811-21.

Flaishon R, Szold O, and Weinbroum AA. (2006). Acute lung injury following pancreas ischaemia-reperfusion: role of xanthine oxidase. Eur J Clin Invest., 36, 831-7.

Fong KL, McCay PB, and Poyer JL. (1976). Evidence for superoxide-dependent reduction of Fe3+ and its role in enzyme-generated hydroxyl radical formation. Chem Biol Interact., 15, 77-89.

Forsyth LM, Preuss HG, MacDowell AL, Chiazze L Jr, Birkmayer GD, and Bellanti JA. (1999). Therapeutic effects of oral NADH on the symptoms of patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol., 82, 185-91.

Frandsen A and Schousboe A. (1990). Development of excitatory amino acid induced cytotoxicity in cultured neurons. Int J Dev Neurosci., 8, 209-16.

Frederickson CJ, Suh SW, Koh JY, Cha YK, Thompson RB, LaBuda CJ, Balaji RV, and Cuajungco MP. (2002). Depletion of intracellular zinc from neurons by use of an extracellular chelator in vivo and in vitro. J Histochem Cytochem., 50, 1659-62.

Frederiks WM and Bosch KS. (1996). The proportion of xanthine oxidase activity of total xanthine oxidoreductase activity in situ remains constant in rat liver under various (patho)physiological conditions. Hepatology, 24, 1179-84.

Freshny RI. (2000). Culture of animal cells, a manual of basic technique. 4<sup>th</sup> edition. USA. Wily-Liss.

Fried R. (1976). Enzymatic oxidation of diethyldithiocarbamate by xanthine oxidase and its colorimetric assay. Ann N Y Acad Sci., 273, 212-18.

Fridovich I. (1970). Quantitative aspects of the production of superoxide anion radical by milk xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem., 245, 4053-7.

Fridovich I. (1983). Superoxide radical: an endogenous toxicant. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol., 23, 239-57.

Fridovich I. (1989). Superoxide dismutases. An adaptation to a paramagnetic gas. J Biol Chem., 264, 7761-4.

Fridovich I. (1998). Oxygen toxicity: a radical explanation. J Exp Biol., 201, 1203-9.

Fridovich I. (2004). Mitochondria: are they the seat of senescence? Aging Cell, 3, 13-6.

Fridovich I and Handler P. (1962). Xanthine oxidase. V. Differential inhibition of the reduction of various electron acceptors. J Biol Chem., 237, 916-21.

Friedl HP, Smith DJ, Till GO, Thomson PD, Louis DS, and Ward PA. (1990). Ischemia-reperfusion in humans. Appearance of xanthine oxidase activity. Am J Pathol., 136, 491-5.

Gao HM, Hong JS, Zhang W, and Liu B. (2002). Distinct role for microglia in rotenone-induced degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. J Neurosci., 22, 782-90.

Garry DJ and Mammen PP. (2003). Neuroprotection and the role of neuroglobin. Lancet., 362, 342-3.

Gazaryan IG, Krasinskaya IP, Kristal BS, and Brown AM. (2007). Zinc irreversibly damages major enzymes of energy production and antioxidant defense prior to mitochondrial permeability transition. J Biol Chem., 282, 24373-80.

George J, Carr E, Davies J, Belch JJ, and Struthers A. (2006). High-dose allopurinol improves endothelial function by profoundly reducing vascular oxidative stress and not by lowering uric acid. Circulation, 114, 2508-16.

Gidday JM, Beetsch JW, and Park TS. (1999). Endogenous glutathione protects cerebral endothelial cells from traumatic injury. J Neurotrauma, 16, 27-36.

Gilbert DA. (1963). Oxidations and transhydrogenations involving pyridinedinucleotides catalysed by bovine milk xanthine oxidase. Nature, 197, 1066-8.

Ginsberg MD. (2008). Neuroprotection for ischemic stroke: past, present and future. Neuropharmacology, 55, 363-89.

Goldstone AB, Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (2006). Inactivation of copper, zinc superoxide dismutase by H2O2: mechanism of protection. Free Radic Biol Med., 41, 1860-3.

Gonzalez RJ and Tarloff JB. (2001). Evaluation of hepatic subcellular fractions for Alamar blue and MTT reductase activity. Toxicol In Vitro, 15, 257-9.

Götz ME, Ahlbom E, Zhivotovsky B, Blum-Degen D, Oettel M, Römer W, Riederer P, Orrenius S, and Ceccatelli S. (1999). Radical scavenging compound J 811 inhibits hydrogen peroxide-induced death of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurosci Res., 56, 420-6.

Grady JK, Chasteen ND, and Harris DC. (1988). Radicals from "Good's" buffers. Anal Biochem., 173, 111-5.

Graf E, Mahoney JR, Bryant RG, and Eaton JW. (1984). Iron-catalyzed hydroxyl radical formation. Stringent requirement for free iron coordination site. J Biol Chem., 259, 3620-4.

Greenstock CL and Miller RW. (1975). The oxidation of tiron by superoxide anion. Kinetics of the reaction in aqueous solution in chloroplasts. Biochim Biophys Acta., 396, 11-6.

Grootveld M and Halliwell B. (1986). An aromatic hydroxylation assay for hydroxyl radicals utilizing high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Use to investigate the effect of EDTA on the Fenton reaction. Free Radic Res Commun., 1, 243-50.

Gunasekar PG, Kanthasamy AG, Borowitz JL, and Isom GE. (1995). NMDA receptor activation produces concurrent generation of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species: implication for cell death. J Neurochem., 65, 2016-21.

Guthikonda S, Sinkey C, Barenz T, and Haynes WG. (2003). Xanthine oxidase inhibition reverses endothelial dysfunction in heavy smokers. Circulation, 107, 416-21.

Gutteridge JM. (1987). Ferrous-salt-promoted damage to deoxyribose and benzoate. The increased effectiveness of hydroxyl-radical scavengers in the presence of EDTA. Biochem J., 243, 709-14.

Guzik TJ, Korbut R, and Adamek-Guzik T. (2003). Nitric oxide and superoxide in inflammation and immune regulation. J Physiol Pharmacol., 54, 469-87.

Habib A and Tabata M. (2004). Oxidative DNA damage induced by HEPES (2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazinyl]ethanesulfonic acid) buffer in the presence of Au(III). J Inorg Biochem., 98, 1696-702.

Hager K, Kenklies M, McAfoose J, Engel J, Münch G. (2007). Alpha-lipoic acid as a new treatment option for Alzheimer's disease--a 48 months follow-up analysis. J Neural Transm Suppl., 72, 189-93.

Hallaway PE, Eaton JW, Panter SS, and Hedlund BE. (1989). Modulation of deferoxamine toxicity and clearance by covalent attachment to biocompatible polymers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 86, 10108-12.

Halliwell B. (1973). Superoxide dismutase: a contaminant of bovine catalase. Biochem J., 135, 379-81.

Halliwell B. (1978). Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of iron chelates: is it a mechanism for hydroxyl radical production in biochemical systems? FEBS Lett., 92, 321-6.

Halliwell B. (2003). Oxidative stress in cell culture: an under-appreciated problem? FEBS Lett., 540, 3-6.

Halliwell B. (2006). Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now? J Neurochem., 97, 1634-58.

Halliwell B and Gutteridge JM. (1981). Formation of thiobarbituric-acid-reactive substance from deoxyribose in the presence of iron salts: the role of superoxide and hydroxyl radicals. FEBS Lett., 128, 347-52.

Halliwell B and Gutteridge JM. (1992). Biologically relevant metal ion-dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update. FEBS Lett., 307, 108-12.

Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM, and Aruoma OI. (1987). The deoxyribose method: a simple "test-tube" assay for determination of rate constants for reactions of hydroxyl radicals. Anal Biochem., 165, 215-9.

Halliwell B and Whiteman M. (2004). Measuring reactive species and oxidative damage in vivo and in cell culture: how should you do it and what do the results mean? Br J Pharmacol., 142, 231-55.

Hamid R, Rotshteyn Y, Rabadi L, Parikh R, and Bullock P. (2004). Comparison of alamar blue and MTT assays for high through-put screening. Toxicol In Vitro, 18, 703-10.

Hampton MB and Orrenius S. (1997). Dual regulation of caspase activity by hydrogen peroxide: implications for apoptosis. FEBS Lett., 414, 552-6.

Hanson MA, Ge X, Kostov Y, Brorson KA, Moreira AR, and Rao G. (2007). Comparisons of optical pH and dissolved oxygen sensors with traditional electrochemical probes during mammalian cell culture. Biotechnol Bioeng., 97, 833-41.

Han ST, Bhopale VM, and Thom SR. (2007). Xanthine oxidoreductase and neurological sequelae of carbon monoxide poisoning. Toxicol Lett., 170, 111-5.

Hantraye P, Brouillet E, Ferrante R, Palfi S, Dolan R, Matthews RT, and Beal MF. (1996). Inhibition of neuronal nitric oxide synthase prevents MPTP-induced parkinsonism in baboons. Nat Med., 2, 1017-21.

Harris CM and Massey V. (1997). The reaction of reduced xanthine dehydrogenase with molecular oxygen. Reaction kinetics and measurement of superoxide radical. J Biol Chem., 272, 8370-9.

Harris CM, Sanders SA, and Massey V. (1999). Role of the flavin midpoint potential and NAD binding in determining NAD versus oxygen reactivity of xanthine oxidoreductase. J Biol Chem., 274, 4561-9.

Harrison R. (2002). Structure and function of xanthine oxidoreductase: where are we now? Free Radic Biol Med., 33, 774-97.

Hartley A, Davies M, and Rice-Evans C. (1990). Desferrioxamine as a lipid chainbreaking antioxidant in sickle erythrocyte membranes. FEBS Lett., 264, 145-8.

Hassan HM, Dougherty H, and Fridovich I. (1980). Inhibitors of superoxide dismutases: a cautionary tale. Arch Biochem Biophys., 199, 349-54.

Heikkila RE and Cohen G. (1973). 6-Hydroxydopamine: evidence for superoxide radical as an oxidative intermediate. Science, 181, 456-7.

Herrington J, Park YB, Babcock DF, and Hille B. (1996). Dominant role of mitochondria in clearance of large Ca2+ loads from rat adrenal chromaffin cells. Neuron, 16, 219-28.

Hicks M and Gebicki JM. (1986). Rate constants for reaction of hydroxyl radicals with tris, tricine and hepes buffers. FEBS Lett., 199, 92–94.

Hille R and Nishino T. (1995). Flavoprotein structure and mechanism. 4. Xanthine oxidase and xanthine dehydrogenase. FASEB J., 9, 995-1003.

Hilmas C, Pereira EF, Alkondon M, Rassoulpour A, Schwarcz R, and Albuquerque EX. (2001). The brain metabolite kynurenic acid inhibits alpha7 nicotinic receptor activity and increases non-alpha7 nicotinic receptor expression: physiopathological implications. J Neurosci., 21, 7463-73.

Hiraishi H, Terano A, Ota S, Ivey KJ, and Sugimoto T. (1987). Oxygen metaboliteinduced cytotoxicity to cultured rat gastric mucosal cells. Am J Physiol., 253, G40-8.

Hiraishi H, Terano A, Sugimoto T, Harada T, Razandi M, and Ivey KJ. (1994). Protective role of intracellular superoxide dismutase against extracellular oxidants in cultured rat gastric cells. J Clin Invest., 93, 331-8.

Hodges GR and Ingold KU. (2000). Superoxide, amine buffers and tetranitromethane: a novel free radical chain reaction. Free Radic Res., 33, 547-50.

Hoe S, Rowley DA, and Halliwell B. (1982). Reactions of ferrioxamine and desferrioxamine with the hydroxyl radical. Chem Biol Interact., 41, 75-81.

Holzer C and Maier P. (1987). Maintenance of periportal and pericentral oxygen tensions in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: influence on cellular DNA and protein content monitored by flow cytometry. J Cell Physiol., 133, 297-304.

Horie H, Ikuta S, and Takenaka T. (1990). Membrane elasticity of mouse dorsal root ganglion neurons decreases with aging. FEBS Lett., 269, 23-5.

Hou ST, Jiang SX, and Smith RA. (2008). Permissive and repulsive cues and signalling pathways of axonal outgrowth and regeneration. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol., 267, 125-81.

Hutcheson R, Engelmann MD, and Cheng IF. (2004). A hypothesis for the basis of the pro-oxidant nature of calcium ions. Biometals., 17, 605-13.

Ii M, Sunamoto M, Ohnishi K, Ichimori Y. (1996). beta-Amyloid protein-dependent nitric oxide production from microglial cells and neurotoxicity. Brain Res., 720, 93-100.

Ioannidis I, Bätz M, Paul T, Korth HG, Sustmann R, and De Groot H. (1996). Enhanced release of nitric oxide causes increased cytotoxicity of S-nitroso-N-acetyl-DL-penicillamine and sodium nitroprusside under hypoxic conditions. Biochem J., 318, 789-95.

Imlay JA and Linn S. (1988). DNA damage and oxygen radical toxicity. Science, 240, 1302-9.

Inkster ME, Cotter MA, and Cameron NE. (2007). Treatment with the xanthine oxidase inhibitor, allopurinol, improves nerve and vascular function in diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol., 561, 63-71.

Inserte J, Garcia-Dorado D, Hernando V, and Soler-Soler J. (2005). Calpain-mediated impairment of Na+/K+-ATPase activity during early reperfusion contributes to cell death after myocardial ischemia. Circ Res., 97, 465-73.

Ischiropoulos H, Beers MF, Ohnishi ST, Fisher D, Garner SE, and Thom SR. (1996). Nitric oxide production and perivascular nitration in brain after carbon monoxide poisoning in the rat. J Clin Invest., 97, 2260-7.

Ito Y, Hiraishi H, Razandi M, Terano A, Harada T, and Ivey KJ. (1992). Role of cellular superoxide dismutase against reactive oxygen metabolite-induced cell damage in cultured rat hepatocytes. Hepatology, 16, 247-54.

Jankov RP, Kantores C, Pan J, and Belik J. (2008). Contribution of xanthine oxidasederived superoxide to chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension in neonatal rats. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol., 294, L233-45.

Jensen MD. (1976). Culturing on a gas-permeable membrane. Methods in Cell Science, 2, 265-268.

John CK. (1939). Place of the Methylene Blue and Resazurin Reduction Tests in a Milk Control Program. Am J Public Health Nations Health., 29, 239-47.

Keating DJ. (2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, regulation of exocytosis and their relevance to neurodegenerative diseases. J Neurochem., 104, 298-305.

Keberle H. (1964). The biochemistry of desferrioxamine and its relation to iron metabolism. Ann N Y Acad Sci., 119, 758-68.

Kirsch M, Lomonosova EE, Korth HG, Sustmann R, and de Groot H. (1998). Hydrogen peroxide formation by reaction of peroxynitrite with HEPES and related tertiary amines. Implications for a general mechanism. J Biol Chem., 273, 12716-24.

Klein JA and Ackerman SL. (2003). Oxidative stress, cell cycle, and neurodegeneration. J Clin Invest., 111, 785-93.

Komai H, Massey V, and Palmer G. (1969). The preparation and properties of deflavo xanthine oxidase. J Biol Chem., 244, 1692-700.

Kono Y and Fridovich I. (1982). Superoxide radical inhibits catalase. J Biol Chem., 257, 5751-4.

Knight J. (2003). Negative results: Null and void. Nature, 422, 554-5.

Knorpp T, Robinson SR, Crack PJ, and Dringen R. (2006). Glutathione peroxidase-1 contributes to the protection of glutamine synthetase in astrocytes during oxidative stress. J Neural Transm., 113, 1145-55.

Kober T, König I, Weber M, and Kojda G. (2003). Diethyldithiocarbamate inhibits the catalytic activity of xanthine oxidase. FEBS Lett., 551, 99-103.

Kooij A, Schiller HJ, Schijns M, Van Noorden CJ, and Frederiks WM. (1994). Conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase into xanthine oxidase in rat liver and plasma at the onset of reperfusion after ischemia. Hepatology, 19, 1488-95.

Kowaluk EA and Fung HL. (1990). Spontaneous liberation of nitric oxide cannot account for in vitro vascular relaxation by S-nitrosothiols. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 255, 1256-64.

Krantic S, Mechawar N, Reix S, and Quirion R. (2005). Molecular basis of programmed cell death involved in neurodegeneration. Trends Neurosci., 28, 670-6.

Kumagai A, Kodama H, Kumagai J, Fukuda J, Kawamura K, Tanikawa H, Sato N, and Tanaka T. (2002). Xanthine oxidase inhibitors suppress testicular germ cell apoptosis induced by experimental cryptorchidism. Mol Hum Reprod., 8, 118-23.

Kyle ME, Nakae D, Sakaida I, Miccadei S, and Farber JL. (1988). Endocytosis of superoxide dismutase is required in order for the enzyme to protect hepatocytes from the cytotoxicity of hydrogen peroxide. J Biol Chem., 263, 3784-9.

Lafon-Cazal M, Culcasi M, Gaven F, Pietri S, and Bockaert J. (1993a). Nitric oxide, superoxide and peroxynitrite: putative mediators of NMDA-induced cell death in cerebellar granule cells. Neuropharmacology, 32, 1259-66.

Lafon-Cazal M, Pietri S, Culcasi M, and Bockaert J. (1993b). NMDA-dependent superoxide production and neurotoxicity. Nature, 364, 535-7.

Lamarque D and Whittle BJ. (1995). Involvement of superoxide and xanthine oxidase in neutrophil-independent rat gastric damage induced by NO donors. Br J Pharmacol., 116, 1843-8.

Landon EJ and Myles M. (1967). NADH oxidation by hypoxanthine dehydrogenase of avian kidney. Biochim Biophys Acta., 143, 429-31.

Lapenna D, de Gioia S, Ciofani G, and Cuccurullo F. (1997). Antioxidant activity of allopurinol on copper-catalysed human lipoprotein oxidation. FEBS Lett., 409, 265-8.

Leahy JC, Chen Q, and Vallano ML. (1994). Chronic mild acidosis specifically reduces functional expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors and increases long-term survival in primary cultures of cerebellar granule cells. Neuroscience, 63, 457-70.

Lee MC, Chung YT, Lee JH, Jung JJ, Kim HS, and Kim SU. (2001). Antioxidant effect of melatonin in human retinal neuron cultures. Exp Neurol., 172, 407-15.

Leist M, Fava E, Montecucco C, and Nicotera P. (1997). Peroxynitrite and nitric oxide donors induce neuronal apoptosis by eliciting autocrine excitotoxicity. Eur J Neurosci., 9, 1488-98.

Leist M, Single B, Naumann H, Fava E, Simon B, Kühnle S, and Nicotera P. (1999). Inhibition of mitochondrial ATP generation by nitric oxide switches apoptosis to necrosis. Exp Cell Res., 249, 396-403.

Lesnefsky EJ, Moghaddas S, Tandler B, Kerner J, and Hoppel CL. (2001). Mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac disease: ischemia--reperfusion, aging, and heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol., 33, 1065-89.

Li H, Samouilov A, Liu X, and Zweier JL. (2004). Characterization of the effects of oxygen on xanthine oxidase-mediated nitric oxide formation. J Biol Chem., 279, 16939-46.

Lin HH, Hsieh WK, Shiu JY, Chiu TH, and Lai CC. (2003). Inhibition by ethanol of NMDA-induced responses and acute tolerance to the inhibition in rat sympathetic preganglionic neurons in vitro and in vivo. Br J Pharmacol., 140, 955-63.

Link EM and Riley PA. (1988). Role of hydrogen peroxide in the cytotoxicity of the xanthine/xanthine oxidase system. Biochem J., 249, 391-9.

Lin SH and Maiese K. (2001). The metabotropic glutamate receptor system protects against ischemic free radical programmed cell death in rat brain endothelial cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab., 21, 262-75.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (1989). Hydroxyl radicals is not a significant intermediate in the vanadate-stimulated oxidation of NAD(P)H by O2. Arch Biochem Biophys., 275, 40-3.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (1990). Vanadate-stimulated oxidation of NAD(P)H in the presence of biological membranes and other sources of O2-. Arch Biochem Biophys., 279, 1-7.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (1991). The roles of O2-, HO(.), and secondarily derived radicals in oxidation reactions catalyzed by vanadium salts. Arch Biochem Biophys., 291, 379-82.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (2000). Copper- and zinc-containing superoxide dismutase can act as a superoxide reductase and a superoxide oxidase. J Biol Chem., 275, 38482-5.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (2004). CO2, not HCO3-, facilitates oxidations by Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase plus H2O2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 101, 743-4.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (2005). Cross-compartment protection by SOD1. Free Radic Biol Med., 38, 146-7.

Liochev SI and Fridovich I. (2007). The effects of superoxide dismutase on H2O2 formation. Free Radic Biol Med., 42, 1465-9.

Liochev S, Ivancheva E, and Fridovich I. (1989). Effects of vanadate on the oxidation of NADH by xanthine oxidase. Arch Biochem Biophys., 269, 188-93.

Liochev SL. (1996). The role of iron-sulfur clusters in in vivo hydroxyl radical production. Free Radic Res., 25, 369-84.

Liu S, Shi H, Liu W, Furuichi T, Timmins GS, and Liu KJ. (2004). Interstitial pO2 in ischemic penumbra and core are differentially affected following transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab., 24, 343-9.

Lloyd DR and Phillips DH. (1999). Oxidative DNA damage mediated by copper(II), iron(II) and nickel(II) fenton reactions: evidence for site-specific mechanisms in the formation of double-strand breaks, 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine and putative intrastrand cross-links. Mutat Res., 424, 23-36.

Lovinger DM, White G, and Weight FF. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. Science, 243, 1721-4.

Lu C and Mattson MP. (2001). Dimethyl sulfoxide suppresses NMDA- and AMPAinduced ion currents and calcium influx and protects against excitotoxic death in hippocampal neurons. Exp Neurol., 170, 180-5.

Luo GM, Qi DH, Zheng YG, Mu Y, Yan GL, Yang TS, and Shen JC. (2001). ESR studies on reaction of saccharide with the free radicals generated from the xanthine oxidase/hypoxanthine system containing iron. FEBS Lett., 492, 29-32.

MacGregor DG, Higgins MJ, Jones PA, Maxwell WL, Watson MW, Graham DI, and Stone TW. (1996). Ascorbate attenuates the systemic kainate-induced neurotoxicity in the rat hippocampus. Brain Res., 727, 133-44.

Maia L, Vala A, and Mira L. (2005). NADH oxidase activity of rat liver xanthine dehydrogenase and xanthine oxidase-contribution for damage mechanisms. Free Radic Res., 39, 979-86.

Maia L, Duarte RO, Ponces-Freire A, Moura JJ, and Mira L. (2007). NADH oxidase activity of rat and human liver xanthine oxidoreductase: potential role in superoxide production. J Biol Inorg Chem., 12, 777-87.

Makrigiorgos GM, Bump E, Huang C, Baranowska-Kortylewicz J, and Kassis AI. (1995). A fluorimetric method for the detection of copper-mediated hydroxyl free radicals in the immediate proximity of DNA. Free Radic Biol Med., 18, 669-78.

Malkiel S, Har-el R, Schwalb H, Uretzky G, Borman JB, Chevion M. (1993). Interaction between allopurinol and copper: possible role in myocardial protection. Free Radic Res Commun., 18, 7-15.

Mander PK, Jekabsone A, and Brown GC. (2006). Microglia proliferation is regulated by hydrogen peroxide from NADPH oxidase. J Immunol., 176, 1046-52.

Marini AM and Paul SM. (1992). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neuroprotection in cerebellar granule cells requires new RNA and protein synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 89, 6555-9.

Marklund S and Marklund G. (1974). Involvement of the superoxide anion radical in the autoxidation of pyrogallol and a convenient assay for superoxide dismutase. Eur J Biochem., 47, 469-74.

Martin LJ, Chen K, and Liu Z. (2005). Adult motor neuron apoptosis is mediated by nitric oxide and Fas death receptor linked by DNA damage and p53 activation. J Neurosci., 25, 6449-59.

Marubayashi S, Dohi K, Yamada K, and Kawasaki T. (1991). Role of conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to oxidase in ischemic rat liver cell injury. Surgery, 110, 537-43.

Matesanz N, Lafuente N, Azcutia V, Martín D, Cuadrado A, Nevado J, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Sánchez-Ferrer CF, and Peiró C. (2007). Xanthine oxidase-derived extracellular superoxide anions stimulate activator protein 1 activity and hypertrophy in human vascular smooth muscle via c-Jun N-terminal kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Hypertens., 25, 609-18.

Matsumoto SG, Gruener RP, and Kreulen DL. (1993). Neurotransmitter properties of guinea-pig sympathetic neurons grown in dissociated cell culture--II. Fetal and embryonic neurons: regulation of neuropeptide Y expression. Neuroscience, 57, 1147-57.

Matsumura F, Yamaguchi Y, Goto M, Ichiguchi O, Akizuki E, Matsuda T, Okabe K, Liang J, Ohshiro H, Iwamoto T, Yamada S, Mori K, and Ogawa M. (1998). Xanthine oxidase inhibition attenuates kupffer cell production of neutrophil chemoattractant following ischemia-reperfusion in rat liver. Hepatology, 28, 1578-87.

Matsura T, Kai M, Fujii Y, Ito H, and Yamada K. (1999). Hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in HL-60 cells requires caspase-3 activation. Free Radic Res., 30, 73-83.

Matthews CC, Zielke HR, Wollack JB, and Fishman PS. (2000). Enzymatic degradation protects neurons from glutamate excitotoxicity. J Neurochem., 75, 1045-52.

Mathews WR and Kerr SW. (1993). Biological activity of S-nitrosothiols: the role of nitric oxide. J Pharmacol Exp Ther., 267, 1529-37.

McHale A, Grimes H, and Coughlan MP. (1979). Human serum xanthine oxidase: fluorometric assay applicable to the investigation of liver disorders. Int J Biochem., 10, 317-9.

McHugh P and Turina M. (2006). Apoptosis and necrosis: a review for surgeons. Surg Infect (Larchmt)., 7, 53-68.

McCord JM and Day ED Jr. (1978). Superoxide-dependent production of hydroxyl radical catalyzed by iron-EDTA complex. FEBS Lett., 86,139-42.

McCord JM and Fridovich I. (1969). Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J Biol Chem., 244, 6049-55.

Megson IL, Greig IR, Gray GA, Webb DJ, and Butler AR. (1997). Prolonged effect of a novel S-nitrosated glyco-amino acid in endothelium-denuded rat femoral arteries: potential as a slow release nitric oxide donor drug. Br J Pharmacol., 122, 1617-24.

Melino G, Bernassola F, Knight RA, Corasaniti MT, Nistico G, and Finazzi-Agro A. 1997. S-nitrosylation regulates apoptosis. Nature, 388, 432-3.

Metzen E, Wolff M, Fandrey J, and Jelkmann W. (1995). Pericellular PO2 and O2 consumption in monolayer cell cultures. Respir Physiol., 100, 101-6.

Michikawa M, Lim KT, McLarnon JG, and Kim SU. (1994). Oxygen radical-induced neurotoxicity in spinal cord neuron cultures. J Neurosci Res., 37, 62-70.

Millar TM, Stevens CR, Benjamin N, Eisenthal R, Harrison R, and Blake DR. (1998). Xanthine oxidoreductase catalyses the reduction of nitrates and nitrite to nitric oxide under hypoxic conditions. FEBS Lett., 427, 225-8.

Milman U, Blum S, Shapira C, Aronson D, Miller-Lotan R, Anbinder Y, Alshiek J, Bennett L, Kostenko M, Landau M, Keidar S, Levy Y, Khemlin A, Radan A, Levy AP. (2008). Vitamin E supplementation reduces cardiovascular events in a subgroup of middle-aged individuals with both type 2 diabetes mellitus and the haptoglobin 2-2 genotype: a prospective double-blinded clinical trial. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol., 28, 341-7.

Minhas KM, Saraiva RM, Schuleri KH, Lehrke S, Zheng M, Saliaris AP, Berry CE, Barouch LA, Vandegaer KM, Li D, and Hare JM. (2006). Xanthine oxidoreductase inhibition causes reverse remodeling in rats with dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Res., 98, 271-9.

Mink RB, Dutka AJ, Kumaroo KK, and Hallenbeck JM. (1990). No conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to oxidase in canine cerebral ischemia. Am J Physiol., 259, H1655-9.

Misra HP and Fridovich I. (1972). The role of superoxide anion in the autoxidation of epinephrine and a simple assay for superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem., 247, 3170-5.

Mitobe Y, Hiraishi H, Sasai T, Shimada T, and Terano A. (2000). The effects of aspirin on antioxidant defences of cultured rat gastric mucosal cells. Aliment Pharmacol Ther., 14. Suppl 1, 10-7.

Mohsen M, Pinson A, Zhang R, and Samuni A. (1995). Do nitroxides protect cardiomyocytes from hydrogen peroxide or superoxide? Mol Cell Biochem., 145, 103-10.

Moorhouse PC, Grootveld M, Halliwell B, Quinlan JG, and Gutteridge JM. (1987). Allopurinol and oxypurinol are hydroxyl radical scavengers. FEBS Lett., 213, 23-8.

Moro MA, Almeida A, Bolaños JP, and Lizasoain I. (2005). Mitochondrial respiratory chain and free radical generation in stroke. Free Radic Biol Med., 39, 1291-304.

Mosler P, Sherman S, Marks J, Watkins JL, Geenen JE, Jamidar P, Fogel EL, Lazzell-Pannell L, Temkit M, Tarnasky P, Block KP, Frakes JT, Aziz AA, Malik P, Nickl N, Slivka A, Goff J, and Lehman GA. (2005). Oral allopurinol does not prevent the frequency or the severity of post-ERCP pancreatitis. Gastrointest Endosc., 62, 245-50.

Mottley C, Connor HD, and Mason RP. (19860. [170]oxygen hyperfine structure for the hydroxyl and superoxide radical adducts of the spin traps DMPO, PBN and 4-POBN. Biochem Biophys Res Commun., 141, 622-8.

Moussaoui S, Obinu MC, Daniel N, Reibaud M, Blanchard V, and Imperato A. (2000). The antioxidant ebselen prevents neurotoxicity and clinical symptoms in a primate model of Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol., 166, 235-45.

Murphy TH, Miyamoto M, Sastre A, Schnaar RL, and Coyle JT. (1989). Glutamate toxicity in a neuronal cell line involves inhibition of cystine transport leading to oxidative stress. Neuron, 2, 1547-58.

Murphy TH, Schnaar RL, and Coyle JT. (1990). Immature cortical neurons are uniquely sensitive to glutamate toxicity by inhibition of cystine uptake. FASEB J., 4, 1624-33.

Murray JC, Burch JA, Streilein RD, Iannacchione MA, Hall RP, Pinnell SR. (2008). A topical antioxidant solution containing vitamins C and E stabilized by ferulic acid provides protection for human skin against damage caused by ultraviolet irradiation. J Am Acad Dermatol., 59, 418-25.

Nakai K, Kadiiska MB, Jiang JJ, Stadler K, and Mason RP. (2006). Free radical production requires both inducible nitric oxide synthase and xanthine oxidase in LPS-treated skin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 103, 4616-21.

Nakamura M. (1991). Allopurinol-insensitive oxygen radical formation by milk xanthine oxidase systems. J Biochem., 110, 450-6.

Nakamura M, Kurebayashi H, and Yamazaki I. (1978). One-electron and two-electron reductions of acceptors by xanthine oxidase and xanthine dehydrogenase. J Biochem., 83, 9-17.

Nakayama GR, Caton MC, Nova MP, and Parandoosh Z. (1997). Assessment of the Alamar Blue assay for cellular growth and viability in vitro. J Immunol Methods, 204, 205-8.

Nakazono K, Watanabe N, Matsuno K, Sasaki J, Sato T, and Inoue M. (1991). Does superoxide underlie the pathogenesis of hypertension? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 88, 10045-8.

Nash T. (1953). The colorimetric estimation of formaldehyde by means of the Hantzsch reaction. Biochem J., 55, 416-21.

Newby D, Marks L, and Lyall F. (2005). Dissolved oxygen concentration in culture medium: assumptions and pitfalls. Placenta., 26, 353-7.

Nielsen VG, Tan S, Weinbroum A, McCammon AT, Samuelson PN, Gelman S, and Parks DA. (1996). Lung injury after hepatoenteric ischemia-reperfusion: role of xanthine oxidase. Am J Respir Crit Care Med., 154, 1364-9.

Nixon MC and Lamb AB. (1945). Resazurin Test for Grading Raw Milk. Can J Comp Med Vet Sci., 9, 18-23.

O'Brien J, Wilson I, Orton T, and Pognan F. (2000). Investigation of the Alamar Blue (resazurin) fluorescent dye for the assessment of mammalian cell cytotoxicity. Eur J Biochem., 267, 5421-6.

Ohta Y, Matsura T, Kitagawa A, Tokunaga K, and Yamada K. (2007). Xanthine oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species contribute to the development of D-galactosamine-induced liver injury in rats. Free Radic Res., 41, 135-44.

Okuda S, Nishiyama N, Saito H, and Katsuki H. (1996). Hydrogen peroxide-mediated neuronal cell death induced by an endogenous neurotoxin, 3-hydroxykynurenine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 93, 12553-8.

Olson JS, Ballow DP, Palmer G, and Massey V. (1974). The reaction of xanthine oxidase with molecular oxygen. J Biol Chem., 249, 4350-62.

Ong WY and Halliwell B. (2004). Iron, atherosclerosis, and neurodegeneration: a key role for cholesterol in promoting iron-dependent oxidative damage? Ann N Y Acad Sci., 1012, 51-64.

Osarogiagbon UR, Choong S, Belcher JD, Vercellotti GM, Paller MS, and Hebbel RP. (2000). Reperfusion injury pathophysiology in sickle transgenic mice. Blood, 96, 314-20.

Pacher P, Nivorozhkin A, and Szabó C. (2006). Therapeutic effects of xanthine oxidase inhibitors: renaissance half a century after the discovery of allopurinol. Pharmacol Rev., 58, 87-114.
Palmer C, Towfighi J, Roberts RL, and Heitjan DF. (1993). Allopurinol administered after inducing hypoxia-ischemia reduces brain injury in 7-day-old rats. Pediatr Res., 33, 405-11.

Park JW, Chun YS, Kim MS, Park YC, Kwak SJ, and Park SC. (1998). Metabolic modulation of cellular redox potential can improve cardiac recovery from ischemia-reperfusion injury. Int J Cardiol., 65, 139-47.

Parks TN, Artman LD, Alasti N, and Nemeth EF. (1991). Modulation of N-methyl-Daspartate receptor-mediated increases in cytosolic calcium in cultured rat cerebellar granule cells. Brain Res., 552, 13-22.

Patel M, Day BJ, Crapo JD, Fridovich I, and McNamara JO. (1996). Requirement for superoxide in excitotoxic cell death. Neuron, 16, 345-55.

Peeters-Scholte C, Braun K, Koster J, Kops N, Blomgren K, Buonocore G, van Buul-Offers S, Hagberg H, Nicolay K, van Bel F, and Groenendaal F. (2003). Effects of allopurinol and deferoxamine on reperfusion injury of the brain in newborn piglets after neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Pediatr Res., 54, 516-22.

Peng LA, Juurlink BH, and Hertz L. (1991). Differences in transmitter release, morphology, and ischemia-induced cell injury between cerebellar granule cell cultures developing in the presence and in the absence of a depolarizing potassium concentration. Brain Res Dev Brain Res., 63, 1-12.

Pérez MJ and Cederbaum AI. (2001). Spin trapping agents (Tempol and POBN) protect HepG2 cells overexpressing CYP2E1 against arachidonic acid toxicity. Free Radic Biol Med., 30, 734-46.

Perkins MN and Stone TW. (1982). An iontophoretic investigation of the actions of convulsant kynurenines and their interaction with the endogenous excitant quinolinic acid. Brain Res., 247, 184-7.

Phan SH, Gannon DE, Varani J, Ryan US, and Ward PA. (1989). Xanthine oxidase activity in rat pulmonary artery endothelial cells and its alteration by activated neutrophils. Am J Pathol., 134, 1201-11.

Phillis JW. (1989). Oxypurinol attenuates ischemia-induced hippocampal damage in the gerbil. Brain Res Bull., 23, 467-70.

Phillis JW, Perkins LM, Smith-Barbour M, and O'Regan MH. (1995). Oxypurinolenhanced postischemic recovery of the rat brain involves preservation of adenine nucleotides. J Neurochem., 64, 2177-84.

Plantinga Y, Ghiadoni L, Magagna A, Giannarelli C, Franzoni F, Taddei S, Salvetti A. (2007). Supplementation with vitamins C and E improves arterial stiffness and endothelial function in essential hypertensive patients. Am J Hypertens., 20, 392-7.

Pong K, Doctrow SR, and Baudry M. (2000). Prevention of 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium- and 6-hydroxydopamine-induced nitration of tyrosine hydroxylase and neurotoxicity by EUK-134, a superoxide dismutase and catalase mimetic, in cultured dopaminergic neurons. Brain Res., 881, 182-9.

Porter JB, Gyparaki M, Burke LC, Huehns ER, Sarpong P, Saez V, and Hider RC. (1988). Iron mobilization from hepatocyte monolayer cultures by chelators: the importance of membrane permeability and the iron-binding constant. Blood, 72, 1497-503.

Przedborski S, Kostic V, Jackson-Lewis V, Naini AB, Simonetti S, Fahn S, Carlson E, Epstein CJ, and Cadet JL. (1992). Transgenic mice with increased Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase activity are resistant to N-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced neurotoxicity. J Neurosci., 12, 1658-67.

Qin L, Liu Y, Cooper C, Liu B, Wilson B, and Hong JS. (2002). Microglia enhance beta-amyloid peptide-induced toxicity in cortical and mesencephalic neurons by producing reactive oxygen species. J Neurochem., 83, 973-83.

Que BG, Downey KM, and So AG. (1980). Degradation of deoxyribonucleic acid by a 1,10-phenanthroline-copper complex: the role of hydroxyl radicals. Biochemistry, 19, 5987-91.

Rajagopalan KV and Handler P. (1967). Purification and properties of chicken liver xanthine dehydrogenase. J Biol Chem., 242, 4097-107.

Rapoport R, Hanukoglu I, and Sklan D. (1994). A fluorimetric assay for hydrogen peroxide, suitable for NAD(P)H-dependent superoxide generating redox systems. Anal Biochem., 218, 309-13.

Reinke LA, Moore DR, Hague CM, and McCay PB. (1994). Metabolism of ethanol to 1-hydroxyethyl radicals in rat liver microsomes: comparative studies with three spin trapping agents. Free Radic Res., 21, 213-22.

Resink A, Hack N, Boer GJ, and Balázs R. (1994). Growth conditions differentially modulate the vulnerability of developing cerebellar granule cells to excitatory amino acids. Brain Res., 655, 222-32.

Rex A, Spychalla M, and Fink H. (2004). Treatment with reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) improves water maze performance in old Wistar rats. Behav Brain Res., 154, 149-53.

Reynolds IJ and Hastings TG. (1995). Glutamate induces the production of reactive oxygen species in cultured forebrain neurons following NMDA receptor activation. J Neurosci., 15, 3318-27.

Rieger JM, Shah AR, and Gidday JM. (2002). Ischemia-reperfusion injury of retinal endothelium by cyclooxygenase- and xanthine oxidase-derived superoxide. Exp Eye Res., 74, 493-501.

Roche M, Rondeau P, Singh NR, Tarnus E, and Bourdon E. (2008). The antioxidant properties of serum albumin. FEBS Lett., 582, 1783-7.

Rockwell S, Kimler BF, and Moulder JE. (2006). Publishing negative results: the problem of publication bias. Radiat Res., 165, 623-5.

Rowley DA and Halliwell B. (1982). Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals from NADH and NADPH in the presence of iron salts. FEBS Lett., 142, 39-41.

Saavedra WF, Paolocci N, St John ME, Skaf MW, Stewart GC, Xie JS, Harrison RW, Zeichner J, Mudrick D, Marbán E, Kass DA, and Hare JM. (2002). Imbalance between xanthine oxidase and nitric oxide synthase signaling pathways underlies mechanoenergetic uncoupling in the failing heart. Circ Res., 90, 297-304.

Sagone AL Jr, Greenwald J, Kraut EH, Bianchine J, and Singh D. (1983). Glucose: a role as a free radical scavenger in biological systems. J Lab Clin Med., 101, 97-104.

Samali A, Nordgren H, Zhivotovsky B, Peterson E, Orrenius S. (1999). A comparative study of apoptosis and necrosis in HepG2 cells: oxidant-induced caspase inactivation leads to necrosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun., 255, 6-11.

Samuni A, Aronovitch J, Godinger D, Chevion M, and Czapski G. (1983). On the cytotoxicity of vitamin C and metal ions. A site-specific Fenton mechanism. Eur J Biochem., 137, 119-24.

Sanders KM, Kotowicz MA, Nicholson GC. (2007). Potential role of the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine in slowing bone resorption in early post-menopausal women: a pilot study. Transl Res., 150, 215.

Sanders SA, Eisenthal R, and Harrison R. (1997). NADH oxidase activity of human xanthine oxidoreductase--generation of superoxide anion. Eur J Biochem., 245, 541-8. Sango K, Oohira A, Ajiki K, Tokashiki A, Horie M, and Kawano H. (2003). Phosphacan and neurocan are repulsive substrata for adhesion and neurite extension of adult rat dorsal root ganglion neurons in vitro. Exp Neurol., 182, 1-11.

Sankarapandi S and Zweier JL. (1999). Bicarbonate is required for the peroxidase function of Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase at physiological pH. J Biol Chem., 274, 1226-32.

Sayre LM, Perry G, and Smith MA. (1999). Redox metals and neurodegenerative disease. Curr Opin Chem Biol., 3, 220-5.

Satoh T, Numakawa T, Abiru Y, Yamagata T, Ishikawa Y, Enokido Y, and Hatanaka H. (1998). Production of reactive oxygen species and release of L-glutamate during superoxide anion-induced cell death of cerebellar granule neurons. J Neurochem., 70, 316-24.

Sayre LM, Perry G, and Smith MA. (1999). Redox metals and neurodegenerative disease. Curr Opin Chem Biol., 3, 220-5.

Schramm M, Eimerl S, and Costa E. (1990). Serum and depolarizing agents cause acute neurotoxicity in cultured cerebellar granule cells: role of the glutamate receptor responsive to N-methyl-D-aspartate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 87, 1193-7.

Schröder K, Vecchione C, Jung O, Schreiber JG, Shiri-Sverdlov R, van Gorp PJ, Busse R, and Brandes RP. (2006). Xanthine oxidase inhibitor tungsten prevents the development of atherosclerosis in ApoE knockout mice fed a Western-type diet. Free Radic Biol Med., 41, 1353-60.

Shinar E, Navok T, and Chevion M. (1983). The analogous mechanisms of enzymatic inactivation induced by ascorbate and superoxide in the presence of copper. J Biol Chem., 258, 14778-83.

Shiraishi H, Kataoka M, Morita Y, and Umemoto J. (1993). Interactions of hydroxyl radicals with tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane and Good's buffers containing hydroxymethyl or hydroxyethyl residues produce formaldehyde. Free Radic Res Commun., 19, 315-21.

Simon RH, Scoggin CH, and Patterson D. (1981). Hydrogen peroxide causes the fatal injury to human fibroblasts exposed to oxygen radicals. J Biol Chem., 256, 7181-6.

Singh RJ, Hogg N, Joseph J, and Kalyanaraman B. (1996). Mechanism of nitric oxide release from S-nitrosothiols. J Biol Chem., 271, 18596-603.

Smith AJ. (2008). Excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and neuroprotection in cerebellar granuyle neurones. PhD Thesis, University of Glasgow.

Smith AJ, Stone TW, and Smith RA. (2008). Preconditioning with NMDA protects against toxicity of 3-nitropropionic acid or glutamate in cultured cerebellar granule neurons. Neurosci Lett., 440, 294-8.

Smith RA and Jiang ZG. (1994). Neuronal modulation and plasticity in vitro. Int Rev Cytol., 153, 233-96.

Starke PE and Farber JL. (1985). Ferric iron and superoxide ions are required for the killing of cultured hepatocytes by hydrogen peroxide. Evidence for the participation of hydroxyl radicals formed by an iron-catalyzed Haber-Weiss reaction. J Biol Chem., 260, 10099-104.

Starkov AA, Fiskum G, Chinopoulos C, Lorenzo BJ, Browne SE, Patel MS, and Beal MF. (2004). Mitochondrial alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex generates reactive oxygen species. J Neurosci., 24, 7779-88.

Stephens NG, Parsons A, Schofield PM, Kelly F, Cheeseman K, and Mitchinson MJ. (19960. Randomised controlled trial of vitamin E in patients with coronary disease: Cambridge Heart Antioxidant Study (CHAOS). Lancet, 347, 781-6.

Straka RP and STokes JL. (1957). A rapid method for the estimation of the bacterial content of precooked frozen foods. Food Res., 22, 412-419.

Stridh H, Kimland M, Jones DP, Orrenius S, and Hampton MB. (1998). Cytochrome c release and caspase activation in hydrogen peroxide- and tributyltin-induced apoptosis. FEBS Lett., 429, 351-5.

Stone TW and Darlington LG. (2002). Endogenous kynurenines as targets for drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov., 1, 609-20.

Sun JS, Tsuang YH, Huang WC, Chen LT, Hang YS, and Lu FJ. (1997). Menadioneinduced cytotoxicity to rat osteoblasts. Cell Mol Life Sci., 53, 967-76.

Suzuki H, DeLano FA, Parks DA, Jamshidi N, Granger DN, Ishii H, Suematsu M, Zweifach BW, and Schmid-Schönbein GW. (1998). Xanthine oxidase activity associated with arterial blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 95, 4754-9.

Tagami M, Yamagata K, Ikeda K, Nara Y, Fujino H, Kubota A, Numano F, and Yamori Y. (1998). Vitamin E prevents apoptosis in cortical neurons during hypoxia and oxygen reperfusion. Lab Invest., 78, 1415-29.

Takahashi MA and Asada K. (1983). Superoxide anion permeability of phospholipid membranes and chloroplast thylakoids. Arch Biochem Biophys., 226, 558-66.

Takuma K, Lee E, Kidawara M, Mori K, Kimura Y, Baba A, and Matsuda T. (1999). Apoptosis in Ca2 + reperfusion injury of cultured astrocytes: roles of reactive oxygen species and NF-kappaB activation. Eur J Neurosci., 11, 4204-12.

Tan S, Gelman S, Wheat JK, and Parks DA. (1995). Circulating xanthine oxidase in human ischemia reperfusion. South Med J., 88, 479-82.

Tan S, Radi R, Gaudier F, Evans RA, Rivera A, Kirk KA, and Parks DA. (1993). Physiologic levels of uric acid inhibit xanthine oxidase in human plasma. Pediatr Res., 34, 303-7.

Tarpey MM and Fridovich I. (2001). Methods of detection of vascular reactive species: nitric oxide, superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and peroxynitrite. Circ Res., 89, 224-36.

Taylor WG and Camalier RF. (1982). Modulation of epithelial cell proliferation in culture by dissolved oxygen. J Cell Physiol., 111, 21-7.

Terada LS, Willingham IR, Rosandich ME, Leff JA, Kindt GW, and Repine JE. (1991a). Generation of superoxide anion by brain endothelial cell xanthine oxidase. J Cell Physiol., 148, 191-6.

Terada LS, Leff JA, Guidot DM, Willingham IR, and Repine JE. (1991b). Inactivation of xanthine oxidase by hydrogen peroxide involves site-directed hydroxyl radical formation. Free Radic Biol Med., 10, 61-8.

Terada LS, Dormish JJ, Shanley PF, Leff JA, Anderson BO, and Repine JE. (1992a). Circulating xanthine oxidase mediates lung neutrophil sequestration after intestinal ischemia-reperfusion. Am J Physiol., 263, L394-401.

Terada LS, Guidot DM, Leff JA, Willingham IR, Hanley ME, Piermattei D, and Repine JE. (1992b). Hypoxia injures endothelial cells by increasing endogenous xanthine oxidase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 89, 3362-6.

Thies JC, Teklote J, Clauer U, Töx U, Klar E, Hofmann WJ, Herfarth C, Otto G. (1998). The efficacy of N-acetylcysteine as a hepatoprotective agent in liver transplantation. Transpl Int., 11 Suppl 1, S390-2.

Thompson KJ, Shoham S, and Connor JR. (2001). Iron and neurodegenerative disorders. Brain Res Bull., 55, 155-64.

Thom SR. (1992). Dehydrogenase conversion to oxidase and lipid peroxidation in brain after carbon monoxide poisoning. J Appl Physiol., 73, 1584-9.

Tomioka H, Kuwata Y, Imanaka K, Hashimoto K, Ohnishi H, Tada K, Sakamoto H, and Iwasaki H. (2005). A pilot study of aerosolized N-acetylcysteine for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Respirology, 10, 449-55.

Traynelis SF and Cull-Candy SG. (1990). Proton inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in cerebellar neurons. Nature, 345, 347-50.

Turrens JF. (2003). Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J Physiol., 552, 335-44.

Ukeda H, Maeda S, Ishii T, and Sawamura M. (1997). Spectrophotometric assay for superoxide dismutase based on tetrazolium salt 3'--1--(phenylamino)-carbonyl--3, 4-tetrazolium]-bis(4-methoxy-6-nitro)benzenesulfonic acid hydrate reduction by xanthine-xanthine oxidase. Anal Biochem., 251, 206-9.

Valencia A and Morán J. (2004). Reactive oxygen species induce different cell death mechanisms in cultured neurons. Free Radic Biol Med., 36, 1112-25.

Van Bel F, Shadid M, Moison RM, Dorrepaal CA, Fontijn J, Monteiro L, Van De Bor M, and Berger HM. (1998). Effect of allopurinol on postasphyxial free radical formation, cerebral hemodynamics, and electrical brain activity. Pediatrics, 101, 185-93.

van der Worp HB, Thomas CE, Kappelle LJ, Hoffman WP, de Wildt DJ, and Bär PR. (1999). Inhibition of iron-dependent and ischemia-induced brain damage by the alpha-tocopherol analogue MDL 74,722. Exp Neurol., 155, 103-8.

Van Grevenstein WM, Aalbers AG, Ten Raa S, Sluiter W, Hofland LJ, Jeekel H, and van Eijck CH. (2007). Surgery-derived reactive oxygen species produced by polymorphonuclear leukocytes promote tumor recurrence: studies in an in vitro model. J Surg Res., 140, 115-20.

Vile GF and Winterbourn CC. (1986). High-affinity iron binding by xanthine oxidase. J Free Radic Biol Med., 2, 393-6.

Vishwasrao HD, Heikal AA, Kasischke KA, and Webb WW. (2005). Conformational dependence of intracellular NADH on metabolic state revealed by associated fluorescence anisotropy. J Biol Chem., 280, 25119-26.

Votyakova TV and Reynolds IJ. (2004). Detection of hydrogen peroxide with Amplex Red: interference by NADH and reduced glutathione auto-oxidation. Arch Biochem Biophys., 431, 138-44.

Wang H, Shimoji M, Yu SW, Dawson TM, and Dawson VL. (2003). Apoptosis inducing factor and PARP-mediated injury in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci., 991, 132-9.

Wang X, Liu J, Zhu H, Tejima E, Tsuji K, Murata Y, Atochin DN, Huang PL, Zhang C, and Lo EH. (2008). Effects of neuroglobin overexpression on acute brain injury and long-term outcomes after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke, 39, 1869-74.

Wegelius K and Korpi ER. (1995). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-induced toxicity and trophism in cultured cerebellar granule cells. Acta Physiol Scand., 154, 25-34.

Weigand MA, Plachky J, Thies JC, Spies-Martin D, Otto G, Martin E, Bardenheuer HJ. (2001). N-acetylcysteine attenuates the increase in alpha-glutathione S-transferase and circulating ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 after reperfusion in humans undergoing liver transplantation. Transplantation, 72, 694-8.

Weinbroum A, Nielsen VG, Tan S, Gelman S, Matalon S, Skinner KA, Bradley E Jr, and Parks DA. (1995). Liver ischemia-reperfusion increases pulmonary permeability in rat: role of circulating xanthine oxidase. Am J Physiol., 268, G988-96.

West CM and Brownstein SA. (1988). EDTA treatment alters protein glycosylation in the cellular slime mold Dictyostelium discoideum. Exp Cell Res., 175, 26-36.

White CR, Darley-Usmar V, Berrington WR, McAdams M, Gore JZ, Thompson JA, Parks DA, Tarpey MM, and Freeman BA. (1996). Circulating plasma xanthine oxidase contributes to vascular dysfunction in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 93, 8745-9.

White MJ, DiCaprio MJ, and Greenberg DA. (1996). Assessment of neuronal viability with Alamar blue in cortical and granule cell cultures. J Neurosci Methods, 70, 195-200.

Widmer R, Engels M, Voss P, and Grune T. (2007). Postanoxic damage of microglial cells is mediated by xanthine oxidase and cyclooxygenase. Free Radic Res., 41, 145-52.

Wiezorek JS, Brown DH, Kupperman DE, and Brass CA. (1994). Rapid conversion to high xanthine oxidase activity in viable Kupffer cells during hypoxia. J Clin Invest., 94, 2224-30.

Willcox BJ, Curb JD, and Rodriguez BL. (2008). Antioxidants in cardiovascular health and disease: key lessons from epidemiologic studies. Am J Cardiol., 101, 75D-86D.

Wolff M, Fandrey J, and Jelkmann W. (1993). Microelectrode measurements of pericellular PO2 in erythropoietin-producing human hepatoma cell cultures. Am J Physiol., 265, C1266-70.

Wu F, Tyml K, and Wilson JX. (2002). Ascorbate inhibits iNOS expression in endotoxin- and IFN gamma-stimulated rat skeletal muscle endothelial cells. FEBS Lett., 520, 122-6.

Wu S, Nagashima T, Ikeda K, Kondoh T, Yamaguchi M, and Tamaki N. (1997). The mechanism of free radical generation in brain capillary endothelial cells after anoxia and reoxygenation. Acta Neurochir Suppl., 70, 37-9.

Xia Y and Zweier JL. (1995). Substrate control of free radical generation from xanthine oxidase in the postischemic heart. J Biol Chem., 270, 18797-803.

Xu XH, Zhang SM, Yan WM, Li XR, Zhang HY, and Zheng XX. (2006). Development of cerebral infarction, apoptotic cell death and expression of X-chromosome-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein following focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Life Sci., 78, 704-12.

Yamaguchi T, Sano K, Takakura K, Saito I, Shinohara Y, Asano T, and Yasuhara H. (1998). Ebselen in acute ischemic stroke: a placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Ebselen Study Group. Stroke, 29, 12-7.

Yu Q and Heikal AA. (2009). Two-photon autofluorescence dynamics imaging reveals sensitivity of intracellular NADH concentration and conformation to cell physiology at the single-cell level. J Photochem Photobiol B., 95, 46-57.

Zaidan E and Sims NR. (1994). The calcium content of mitochondria from brain subregions following short-term forebrain ischemia and recirculation in the rat. J Neurochem., 63, 1812-9.

Zeki S, Miura S, Suzuki H, Watanabe N, Adachi M, Yokoyama H, Horie Y, Saito H, Kato S, and Ishii H. (2002). Xanthine oxidase-derived oxygen radicals play significant roles in the development of chronic pancreatitis in WBN/Kob rats. J Gastroenterol Hepatol., 17, 606-16.

Zhang Z, Blake DR, Stevens CR, Kanczler JM, Winyard PG, Symons MC, Benboubetra M, and Harrison R. (1998). A reappraisal of xanthine dehydrogenase and oxidase in hypoxic reperfusion injury: the role of NADH as an electron donor. Free Radic Res., 28, 151-64.

Zhang Z, Naughton D, Winyard PG, Benjamin N, Blake DR, and Symons MC. (1998). Generation of nitric oxide by a nitrite reductase activity of xanthine oxidase: a potential pathway for nitric oxide formation in the absence of nitric oxide synthase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun., 249, 767-72.

Zhao H, Joseph J, Fales HM, Sokoloski EA, Levine RL, Vasquez-Vivar J, and Kalyanaraman B. (2005). Detection and characterization of the product of hydroethidine and intracellular superoxide by HPLC and limitations of fluorescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 102, 5727-32.

Zigler JS Jr, Jernigan HM Jr, Garland D, and Reddy VN. (1985). The effects of "oxygen radicals" generated in the medium on lenses in organ culture: inhibition of damage by chelated iron. Arch Biochem Biophys., 241, 163-72.

Zweier JL, Broderick R, Kuppusamy P, Thompson-Gorman SL, and Lutty GA. (1994). Determination of the mechanism of free radical generation in human aortic endothelial cells exposed to anoxia and reoxygenation. J Biol Chem., 269, 24156–24162.